
- 1 - 

 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
 

WEDNESDAY 8TH JULY 2020 
AT 6.00 P.M. 

 
VIRTUAL MEETING - SKYPE - VIRTUAL 

 
 

MEMBERS: Councillors K.J. May (Leader), G. N. Denaro (Deputy Leader), 
A. D. Kent, M. A. Sherrey, P.L. Thomas and S. A. Webb 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. To receive apologies for absence  
 

2. Declarations of Interest  
 
To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other 
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm 
the nature of those interests. 
 

3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 
3rd June 2020 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

4. Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 2nd June 
2020 (Pages 7 - 14) 
 
(a) To receive and note the minutes 
(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
 

5. Wyre Forest Local Plan Statement of Common Ground (Pages 15 - 120) 
 

6. Financial Impact - Covid-19 Pandemic (Pages 121 - 126) 
 

7. To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the 
Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by reason of special 



- 2 - 

circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until 
the next meeting  
 
 
 
 
 

 K. DICKS 
Chief Executive  

Parkside 
Market Street 
BROMSGROVE 
Worcestershire 
B61 8DA 
 
30th June 2020 
 



- 3 - 

 
If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  

Amanda Scarce 
 

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA 
Tel: 01527 881443  

e.mail: a.scarce@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
  
 

GUIDANCE ON VIRTUAL MEETINGS 
 

 

Due to the current Covid-19 pandemic Bromsgrove District Council will be 

holding this meeting in accordance with the relevant legislative 

arrangements for remote meetings of a local authority.  For more 

information please refer to the Local Authorities and Police and Crime 

Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police Crime 

Panels meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 

Please note that this is a public meeting conducted remotely by Skype 

conferencing between invited participants and live streamed for general 

access via the Council’s YouTube channel. 

You are able to access the livestream of the meeting from the Committee 

Pages of the website, alongside the agenda for the meeting. 

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers please 

do not hesitate to contact the officer named above. 

Notes:  

As referred to above, the virtual Skype meeting will be streamed live and 

accessible to view.  Although this is a public meeting, there are 

circumstances when Council might have to move into closed session to 

consider exempt or confidential information.  For agenda items that are 

exempt, the public are excluded and for any such items the live stream 

will be suspended and that part of the meeting will not be recorded. 

 

mailto:a.scarce@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk




- 5 - 

 
 
 
 

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC 
 

Access to Information  
 
The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of 
press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain 
documents.  Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further 
broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act. 
 

 You can attend all Council, Cabinet and Committee/Board 
meetings, except for any part of the meeting when the business 
would disclose confidential or “exempt” information. 

 You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before 
the date of the meeting. 

 You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its 
Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting. 

 You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on 
which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date 
of the meeting.  These are listed at the end of each report. 

 An electronic register stating the names and addresses and 
electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of 
all Committees etc. is available on our website. 

 A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to 
items to be considered in public will be made available to the public 
attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its 
Committees/Boards. 

 You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council 
has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers 
concerned, as detailed in the Council’s Constitution, Scheme of 
Delegation. 

 
You can access the following documents: 
 

 Meeting Agendas 
 Meeting Minutes 
 The Council’s Constitution 

 
at  www.bromsgrove.gov.uk 
 

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/


- 6 - 

 



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

1 
 

B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 
 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
 

3RD JUNE 2020, AT 6.00 P.M. 
 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors K.J. May (Leader), G. N. Denaro (Deputy Leader), A. D. Kent, 
M. A. Sherrey, P.L. Thomas and S. A. Webb 
 

 Observers: Councillor M. Thompson 
 

 Officers: Mr. K. Dicks, Mrs. S. Hanley, Ms. J. Pickering, Ms J. Willis, 
Ms. C. Flanagan, Mr D Riley and Ms. A. Scarce 
 
 
 

1/2020   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2/2020   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion. 
 

3/2020   MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 26th February 2020 were 
submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 26th 
February 2020 were approved as a correct record. 
 

4/2020   MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
BOARD HELD ON 10TH FEBRUARY 2020 
 
It was noted that the recommendations detailed in the minutes of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 10th February 2020 would be 
considered separately, as part of the next item on the agenda (Minute 
No 5/2020 refers). 
 
It was noted that there was a recommendation from the Overview and 
scrutiny Board meeting held on 2nd June, to be tabled under Minute No. 
86/2020 in respect of the Discretionary Business Rates Grant Scheme. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held 
on 10th February 2020 be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

2 
 

5/2020   BROMSGROVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD - SPORTING 
TASK GROUP 
 
Officers apologised for the error in the heading on the cover report for 
this item and confirmed that it was the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
Task Group for Bromsgrove Sporting which was being considered. 
 
The Leader invited Councillor M Thompson, who had chaired the Task 
Group to present the report and recommendations. 
 
Councillor Thompson thanked the Leader for the opportunity to present 
this report.  He provided background information and reminded 
Members that the Task Group had originated from a topic proposal put 
forward by former Councillor Chris Bloore.  The aim was to assist 
Bromsgrove Sporting to develop the Club further, bearing in mind that 
the ground had been gifted to this Council and the Council would 
therefore benefit from any improvements made.  Councillor Thompson 
also highlighted the potential economic benefits to the town centre from 
the growth of Bromsgrove Sporting.  The Group had interviewed a 
number of witnesses, including representatives from Bromsgrove 
Sporting and had considered data from a number of clubs.  It was 
acknowledged that a reduction in the rent paid by Bromsgrove Sporting 
was not possible, however recommendation 1 would allow for this to be 
addressed through Bromsgrove Sporting putting forward a business 
case for funding.  Recommendation 2 was in respect of the lease and it 
was explained to Members that under the current terms of the lease this 
restricted the availability of match funding from such organisations as 
the Football Association.  By changing the terms of the lease this would 
be addressed and would allow for even further investment in the ground. 
 
The Executive Director, Finance and Resources, who had supported the 
Task Group explained that any funding would be subject to a robust 
business case being submitted by Bromsgrove Sporting and this would 
be considered in the same way as any other project bid and be 
submitted to both Cabinet and Council for approval.  The onus would 
initially be with Bromsgrove Sporting to provide that business case and 
supporting evidence for consideration. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) that the recommendations contained in the report be agreed; 

and 
 
(b) that an Executive Response to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board report and recommendations will be provided. 
 

6/2020   ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR POLICY 
 
The Head of Community and Housing Services presented the report and 
explained that Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council has 
a statutory duty to work with the police and other partner agencies to 

Page 2

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

3 
 

reduce crime, anti-social behaviour (ASB) and re-offending in its area.  
Section 17 of the Act also places a duty on the Council to do all that it 
reasonably can to prevent crime, disorder and ASB. 
 
The draft ASB policy outlined how the Council would tackle anti-social 
behaviour, through a framework of prevention, early intervention, 
support and enforcement.  A number of changes were reflected in the 
policy revision; including an updated definition of ASB in line with 
legislative changes, clarification on what is considered ASB, enhanced 
case management procedures and risk assessment processes and 
updated details about the tools and remedies available to address ASB. 

 
It was noted that the draft ASB policy replaced all previous ASB policies 
and guidance.  It was also noted that failure to manage ASB within 
communities presented a high reputational risk to the Council.  This was 
significantly mitigated by having a robust policy and agreed procedures 
in place. 
 
Members discussed concerns in there ward around what appeared to be 
an increase in ASB and questioned whether additional funding would be 
made available for what appeared to be an escalating problem.  The 
Head of Community and Housing Services explained that the policy did 
not allow for additional staff but advised that the problems covered a 
number of teams across the Council, and the focus of the Community 
Safety Team was in respect of early interventions, often through working 
within the schools. 
 

RESOLVED: 

 

a) that the draft ASB policy (as set out at Appendix A) be 
adopted; and 

 

b) that the Head of Housing and Community Services be given 
delegated authority to update and amend the policy in line 
with any new legislation and guidance, as and when 
required.   

 
7/2020   DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATES GRANT 

The Executive Director, Finance and Resources introduced the item and 
provided background information in respect of the grants which had 
previously been available at the onset of the Covid-19 lockdown.  The 
Council had previously been awarded approximately £21m which had 
been distributed to nearly 2k business.  It had become apparent that not 
all those businesses which had suffered as a consequence of Covid-19 
had been eligible for the original grants.  Central Government therefore 
announced an additional fund of approximately 5% (of the original 
grant), the Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund, on 1 May 2020 
and published guidance for local authorities on 13 May 2020, together 
with appropriate guidance.  This further scheme provided financial 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

4 
 

support to businesses impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic and was in 
addition to the two existing schemes administered by local authorities: 
the Small Business Grants Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 
Grants Fund. 

The Government has announced three mandatory criteria for support 
under the scheme; 

 The business must have been trading on 11th March 2020. 

 The business must not be eligible or have received support 
under the other Covid-19 support schemes. 

 The business must not be in administration, insolvent or have 
had an order to strike off made. 
 

The Government had advised that payments under the scheme should 
be targeted at small and micro businesses.  Section 3.11 of the report 
showed the proposed targeted areas of allocation, which was broken 
down into three priority areas, with an estimate of the number of eligible 
businesses under each priority group and the grant amount per 
business.  The Executive Director Finance and Resources provided 
detail around each of these priorities and the businesses they were 
aimed at reaching.  The total was around 93 businesses.  It was 
confirmed that the Council needed to take a consistent approach when 
paying out the grants when following the Government guidance. 
 
The Revenue Services Manager ran through the scheme and explained 
that there were three mandatory criteria set by the Government for the 
scheme, details of which were provided and included not already having 
received funding from the existing schemes.  People that were self 
employed but had fixed property costs could make an application under 
the discretionary grants scheme.  Within the guidance the Government 
had asked the Councils to prioritise support to four types of business, 
market traders with regular market pitches, small Bed and Breakfast 
establishments that appeared in Council Tax (and not non domestic 
rates) usually accommodating few than seven people and the owner 
lives at the premises; charities which occupy one small property in 
England and businesses in shared offices.  The Government had made 
it clear that the intention of the scheme was to support small and micro 
businesses for the purpose of meeting their fixed property costs.  In 
Bromsgrove the scheme has therefore been targeted towards those 
smaller businesses and aimed at people with a fixed property cost.  The 
scheme therefore was intended to create a hierarchy of businesses in 
order for the relief to be awarded as per the priority groups detailed in 
the report. 
 
It was intended that the scheme would be published on the Council’s 
website and social media channels and Members would also be able to 
promote the scheme to businesses within their Wards.  The applications 
would be opened for a fixed period of time, anticipated to be 14 days, 
when the scheme would be closed, and all applicants assessed.  This 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

5 
 

would enable all businesses to make an application and enable a 
speedy assessment of entitlement at the end of the application period 
and avoid awards being made on a first come first served basis.  If at the 
end of that period, all assessments have been made and there remains 
funding available the scheme would be re-opened to ensure the 
remaining funds were paid out to businesses. 
 
The Leader then invited Councillor M Thompson to present the 
recommendation which had been made following consideration of the 
report at the overview and Scrutiny Board’s meeting on 2nd June 2020 
and which was tabled at this meeting.  Councillor Thompson explained 
that the recommendation was in respect of market traders and that they 
should be paid the grant on the basis on number of days trading and be 
irrespective of the number of pitches occupied.  He further explained that 
these were very different and a proportion of the grant should be paid on 
the number of days that someone traded, for example the market was 
open for four days and if someone only traded for one regular day a 
week the they should receive a quarter of the amount someone who 
traded for all four days received. 
 
Members discussed the proposal put forward by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board and also questioned the content of the application form 
which was referred to and why this had not been included within the 
report.  It was explained that this was still being developed at the time of 
publishing the report, but Officers provided details around the areas that 
would be included in it, together with the required supporting evidence.  
Members were assured that there would be a thorough application 
process and the form would be available online. Members were further 
advised that once the grants had been awarded Officers would be doing 
post grant assurance work to ensure the awards were genuine and 
working with the Cabinet Office using spotlights to ensure that the 
businesses were trading and bona fide  and where grants are paid in 
error the appropriate actions would be taken to recover them.  This had 
already been done with the existing schemes when it had transpired that 
payments had been made that were not correct. 
 
It was also noted that within the report the application period referred to 
had not been detailed and Officers confirmed that it was anticipated that 
applications would open from 8th June for 14 days.   
 
In respect of the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board, concerns were also raised around how it could be determined 
which days market traders trade and it was confirmed that as the 
Council operated the market then the Market Manager had that 
information available. 
 
The Deputy Leader advised that the timelines given by Government had 
been exceedingly tight and he thanked Officers for producing the report 
and scheme within such a short period of time.  He also confirmed that 
he was confident that due diligence would be applied in all stages of the 
award process. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet 
3rd June 2020 

6 
 

 
It was confirmed that there was no restriction on businesses that had 
furloughed employees, but as this was aimed at small and micro 
businesses those that had used the furlough scheme was likely to be 
limited in number.   
 
The Leader thanked Officers for the report and Councillor Thompson 
and the Overview and Scrutiny Board for carrying out a detailed piece of 
scrutiny. 
 
RESOLVED that in respect of the market traders the grant be paid 
based on days of trading and be irrespective of number of pitches 
occupied. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 

a) that the guidance for awards of discretionary grants detailed in 
Appendix A to the report, subject to the amendments contained in 
the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny Board, be 
adopted; and 

 
b) that the Executive Director for Finance and Resources be 

authorised to finalise the guidance and to make other decisions in 
relation to the payment of grants, in consultation with the Chief 
Executive and the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling.  

 
The meeting closed at 6.48 p.m. 

 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 
 

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

2ND JUNE 2020, AT 6.00 P.M. 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors M. Thompson (Chairman), J. Till (Vice-Chairman), 

A. J. B. Beaumont, C.A. Hotham, R. J. Hunter, A. D. Kriss, 

P. M. McDonald and C. J. Spencer 

 

 Observers: Councillor K. May and Councillor G. Denaro 

 

 Officers: Ms. J. Pickering, Mr D Riley, Ms. A. Scarce, Mr P. Bailey and 

J Gresham 

 

1/20   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES 

 

Apologies were received from Cllr. R. Deeming, Cllr. M. Glass and Cllr. S. 

Colella with Cllr. S. Baxter attending as his substitute. 

 

1/20   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES 

 

Apologies were received from Cllr. R. Deeming, Cllr. M. Glass and Cllr. S. 

Colella with Cllr. S. Baxter attending as his substitute. 

 

2/20   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

Councillor S. Baxter declared a pecuniary interest in respect to Item 12 

due to her position with a charitable organisation. Councillor J. Till 

declared a pecuniary interest in respect to Item 12 due to her position with 

at a Citizens Advice Bureau. It was decided that Councillor S. Baxter and 

Councillor J. Till would not need to be exempt from the discussion (see 

item 4). 

 

There were no other declarations of interest nor of any whipping 

arrangements. 

 

3/20   TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF 

THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD HELD ON 10TH FEBRUARY 

2020 

 

The minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 

10th February 2020 were submitted for Members’ consideration. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board held on 10th February 2020 be approved as a true record.  

 

4/20   DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATES GRANT 

 

The Chairman welcomed the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling, 

the Executive Director, Finance and Resources and the Financial Support 

Manager to the meeting. 

 

The Executive Director, Finance and Resources summarised the report 

and in particularly noted the following: 

 

 Government initiated this scheme as they recognised that some 

business were not able to access initial funding. 

 The policy to be presented to Overview and Scrutiny, and Cabinet 

was a Full Council decision which would be made by Urgent 

Decision due to the tight timescale put in place by Central 

Government. 

 The funding was based on three eligibility criteria and priority of 

businesses outlined in Government guidelines. 

 The funding was limited to £1,013,500. 

 

At this point in the meeting Councillors S. Baxter and J. Till declared an 

interest in regards to this item. Councillor S. Baxter declared a pecuniary 

interest due to being a Trustee at a charitable organisation. Councillor J. 

Till declared a pecuniary interest due to her Council Outside Bodies 

appointment at the Citizens Advice Bureau. It was decided that Councillor 

S. Baxter and Councillor J. Till would not need to be exempt from the 

discussion. 

 

The Financial Support Manager presented the policy to the Board and 

noted that the Government had prescribed some criteria for the allocation 

of the grant which was included in the policy. Other than that, the Council 

had broad discretion to develop the scheme itself. Applications would be 

assessed in priority order as outlined by Government guidelines. The 

Council scheme would be advertised on social media channels, websites 

and through Members. 

 

The following was also noted: 

 

 The anticipated opening of the scheme would be early June 2020 

for 14 days. 

 If there were any funds that had not been allocated at the end of 

that period, then the scheme would be reopened. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

 

Members queried with officers whether any businesses that had been 

awarded any previous small business grants were also entitled to apply 

for the Discretionary Business Rates Grant. It was confirmed by the 

Financial Support Manager that if a business had received funding from 

the Supporting Small Business Fund or the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 

funding they were not entitled to apply. It was clarified further that this was 

a directive from Government and not a Council decision. This would 

enable the businesses that missed out on the first round of funding to 

perhaps receive some sort of award through this fund. 

 

Members discussed the market traders element of the policy and were 

keen to clarify the proportionality of the funding and that would be 

awarded to a ‘one day a week regular’ trader at Bromsgrove Market 

compared to one who was a ‘three day a week regular’ trader. 

 

There was a detailed discussion regarding the criteria used in the policy 

around market traders including the fixed market costs, market rental 

agreements and licenses and the regularity of trading and the number of 

pitches occupied. Officers confirmed that as the market was operated by 

the Council, the Market Manager had been consulted about this part of 

the policy. 

 

Members queried the timeline of applications and how the funding round 

would operate. Officers explained that there would only be one funding 

round and applications would be assessed in priority order. If after that 

funding round there were still funds available the funding round would be 

re-opened. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling thanked the Executive 

Director Finance and Resources and the team for their hard work on a 

complex scheme. 

 

It was agreed that there would be a recommendation made by the Board 

that reflected funding be awarded based on the proportion of days of 

trading at the market. 

 

RECOMMENDED that in respect of the market traders the grant be paid 

based on days of trading and be irrespective of number of pitches 

occupied. 

 

5/20   REMOTE MEETING PROTOCOL & VIRTUAL MEETINGS 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

The Senior Democratic Services Officer introduced the Remote Meeting 

Protocol to the Board and highlighted the following areas: 

 

 It was vital that attendance at the meeting was made in good time 

in order to check IT. 

 External attendees and presenters were still able to attend and 

participate in the meeting. 

 Etiquette during the meeting including surroundings, other 

electronic devices and dress code. 

 Voting protocols including roll calls, seconders and proposers. 

 What to do if technical issues arose. 

 

The Senior Democratic Officer clarified to Members the process that was 

undertaken in order to get the virtual meetings up and running. It was 

explained that the Democratic Services team had watched other Councils 

and understood the possible pitfalls and adopted a protocol that hopefully 

addressed these prior to commencing virtual meetings. 

 

Members queried some of the processes and officers explained that the 

reason ‘mock’ meetings had been carried out was to understand the 

functionality of Skype prior to the live virtual meetings. It was also 

explained to Members that there would always be at least two members 

of the Democratic Services team in attendance – one to facilitate the 

meeting and one to ensure smooth running of the technical issues and 

participants. 

 

Councillor S. Baxter expressed that the Planning meeting she had 

attended on the previous evening had gone very well. This had also been 

expressed by one of the public speakers who had also been in 

attendance. She stated that the Remote Meeting Protocol that had been 

produced was really good and queried if there was a planned review in 

the future in order to reflect the inevitable changes to future meetings. The 

Senior Democratic Officer confirmed that the protocol would be regularly 

reviewed and that it would be put on the Board Work Programme for 

discussion in three months’ time. Councillor Baxter also stated that it was 

very apparent the amount of work that Democratic Services had done in 

the background for the Planning meeting, in particular the testing of Skype 

with Members and the managing of technical issues which had arisen on 

the night. 

 

The Chairman commented on the possibilities that conducting meetings in 

a virtual setting could open up and that it would allow greater accessibility 

for residents to Council meetings. He also expressed that this would be a 

good opportunity to publicise meetings. The Senior Democratic Officer 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

said that she would be very happy to contact the Communications Team 

in order to initiate a piece of work promoting the work of Democratic 

Services and public Council meetings. 

 

Councillor. R. Hunter commented that it would be a really positive 

outcome of the pandemic that the Council meetings would become more 

accessible going forward. A representative from IT Services stated that 

pre-Lockdown devices were installed in some Committee Rooms in order 

to start the streaming of meetings via YouTube in the future.  The current 

situation had therefore brought this matter to the forefront and it was 

hoped that this would continue when Members returned to holding 

meetings at Parkside. 

 

RESOLVED that the Remote Meeting Protocol be noted. 

 

6/20   ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 

 

The Chairman thanked Democratic Services Officers for their work 

alongside him on the Annual Report 2019-2020. It was agreed that this 

report would be presented at the next Full Council meeting. 

 

RESOLVED that the Annual Report 2019-2020 be noted. 

 

7/20   WORK PROGRAMME AND FUTURE PLANNING 

 

The Senior Democratic Officer presented the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board Work Programme and asked whether Members wished to make 

any amendments, additions or look at any areas in more detail. 

 

Councillor C. Spencer enquired about whether the Staff Survey and 

Stress Risk Assessment had been completed as planned. The Executive 

Director, Finance and Resources stated that she would need to check 

with the Human Resources Manager for an update. 

 

It was also confirmed that the Remote Meeting Protocol would be added 

to the Work Programme for the meeting due to take place in three 

months’ time. 

 

Councillor R Hunter queried whether it was appropriate to scrutinise the 

Council’s response to the pandemic, including financial implications and 

decisions made during the Lockdown. He also asked whether there were 

any lessons learnt for the future. The Chairman expressed that it might 

not be an appropriate time at present but thought that it would be useful if 

officers compiled a summary of changes to Council practice from 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

Lockdown onwards. Councillor P. McDonald requested that there be a 

delay to this kind of work in order not to pre-empt a larger piece of 

scrutiny work that may need to be completed in the future around the 

impact of decisions that the Council made during the pandemic on 

businesses in the District and their employees. 

 

There was a detailed discussion regarding the lifting of restrictions and 

conducting social distancing for businesses up and running on the High 

Street. 

 

It was agreed that an item regarding Covid-19 be placed on the Work 

Programme for the October 2020 meeting with the caveat that the item 

may change or develop prior to that meeting. 

 

RESOLVED that subject to the pre-amble above the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board’s Work Programme be noted. 

 

a. Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Programme  

 

This was discussed in the previous item. 

 

b. Cabinet Work Programme  

 

This was discussed in the previous item. 

 

8/20   TASK GROUP - UPDATE AND FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

Councillor R. Hunter confirmed that he thought it would be a good idea to 

continue with the Review of Flooding Task Group and that it was a perfect 

opportunity to carry out the meetings online and agreed with Councillor C. 

Spencer that it really needed to get underway in order to be completed 

prior to peak flooding time later in the year. 

 

The Terms of Reference for the Flooding Task Group were agreed by 

Members, however Councillor R. Hunter requested that Members be 

contacted again to see if there was any further interest in joining the Task 

Group. 

 

Officers confirmed that meetings for both the Review of the Libraries 

Service and Review of Flooding Task Groups would take place as soon 

as possible. 

 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

9/20   FINANCE AND BUDGET WORKING GROUP - UPDATE AND FUTURE 

MEETINGS 

 

Councillor M. Thompson confirmed that there had not been a meeting of 

the Finance and Budget Working Group since the last meeting. It was 

confirmed that the Executive Director Finance and Resources and officers 

would schedule the next meeting as soon as possible. 

 

10/20   WORCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 

UPDATE 

 

Councillor J. Till, the Council’s representative on the Worcestershire 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) confirmed that an all-

day meeting took place on 2nd March 2020 which she attended. Councillor 

J. Till reported that there were presentations made by the following 

organisations: - 

 

 West Midlands Ambulance 

 Discharge Pathways 

 Worcestershire Acute Hospital Trust 

 Public Health England 

 Worcester Health Watch 

 

Officers reported that Councillor S. Colella had asked, by email in his 

absence, that Councillor J. Till ask HOSC the following questions: -   . 

 

1. What are the full and detailed reasons why Bromsgrove Covid-19 

death rates are highest in Worcestershire and c15th in the UK? 

 

2. Could it be confirmed that at the start of the epidemic 

Worcestershire hospitals were given additional funds depending on 

the numbers of deaths with a mention of Covid-19 on the death 

certificates and towards the end funding was based on the reverse 

i.e. deaths without Covid-19 being recorded and what was this 

reversal in funding? 

 

Councillor J. Till agreed that she would ask the questions and report back 

to the Board. 

 

11/20   CORPORATE PERFORMANCE WORKING GROUP - UPDATE 

 

The Chairman confirmed that there had not been a meeting of Corporate 

Performance Working Group since the last meeting.   

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board 
2nd June 2020 

 

Officers confirmed that this group would resume with the same 

membership and a virtual meeting would take place as soon as possible. 

 

12/20   TO CONSIDER ANY OTHER BUSINESS, DETAILS OF WHICH HAVE 

BEEN NOTIFIED TO THE HEAD OF LEGAL, EQUALITIES AND 

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE 

MEETING AND WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 

CIRCUMSTANCES, CONSIDERS TO BE OF SO URGENT A NATURE 

THAT IT CANNOT WAIT UNTIL THE NEXT MEETING. 

 

Cllr. A. Kriss enquired as to whether the Enterprise Resources Planning 

system (ERP) had been delayed and whether it was possible to visit the 

Monitoring Centre in order to see the new Closed Circuit TV system that 

had been installed. 

 

The Executive Director, Finance and Resources confirmed that the ERP 

system was on track and training had taken place online. However, it was 

added that there may be an impact given the current situation. She also 

advised that visiting the Monitoring Centre would not be ideal at present 

and requested a delay to any planned visits in order to protect the Lifeline 

and CCTV employees. The Executive Director Finance and Resources 

undertook to contact the Head of Service for Community Safety and 

Monitoring Centre Manager for clarification.  

 

The meeting closed at 7.28 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

Chairman 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet  8th July 2020 

 
 

Wyre Forest Local Plan Statement of Common Ground 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Adam Kent  

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Ruth Bamford 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Ward Councillor Consulted Yes 

Non-Key Decision                                    Yes 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC) submitted the Wyre Forest Local 

Plan Review (WFLP) to the Planning Inspectorate on 30th April 2020. 
The Council has submitted a number of representations to this plan 
which focussed on the lack of a robust transport evidence base to 
support the proposals in the plan. 

 
1.2 Since these representations were submitted officers have sought to 

resolve this issue with WFDC, but unfortunately this has not been 
possible. A requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework is 
for the authority responsible for preparing a Local Plan to prepare a 
Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) with other plan making 
authorities. The purpose of the SoCG identifies the matters which 
councils have in common or in dispute and helps the inspector to form 
a judgement on the matters for the examination to focus on, and 
whether or not the duty to cooperate has been met. The SoCG at 
appendix A has been prepared by officers at WFDC, BDC and 
Worcestershire County Council. Whilst a lot of the plan’s policies are 
not in dispute and are common ground, in the main the SoCG focuses 
on the areas in which BDC disagrees with the position of WFDC and 
WCC. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council, that the Statement of 
Common Ground at Appendix A, is signed by the Leader of the 
Council and submitted to WFDC for consideration by the Local 
Plan Inspector. 

 
2. That Delegated Authority is given to the Head of Planning, Leisure 

and Regeneration to ensure that BDC is represented at the 
Examination in Public element of the Wyre Forest Local Plan 
review. 

 
 

3. KEY ISSUES 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet  8th July 2020 

 
 

 Financial Implications    
 

3.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. 
 

  
Legal Implications 

 
3.2 WFDC has submitted its plan in accordance with Regulation 22 of the 

Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012.  

 
3.3 It is important that the Bromsgrove District Council continue to engage 

in this process, the SoCG will help the inspector clearly identify the 
matters for detailed discussion at the Examination in Public of the 
WFLP. 

 
  
Service / Operational Implications  
 
 
3.4 The submission version of the WFLP is in effect the final version of the 

plan and that which will be considered by the planning Inspectorate at 
the Examination in Public (EiP). The EiP is likely to happen towards of 
the end of 2020 when the Covid19 pandemic has subsided enough to 
allow for it to take place in a traditional manner, or suitable 
technological solutions have been put in place to replace traditional EiP 
hearings.  

 
3.5  BDC has responded to previous versions of the WFLP, at preferred 

option stage in August 2017 and at the first pre submission 
representations period in December 2018, and the second pre 
submission stage in October 2019. At all stages the Council has 
expressed concerns that the transport implications of the proposed 
development sites in Wyre Forest were not able to be quantified; and 
therefore possible mitigation strategies not properly identified. As a 
result it is not entirely clear how the schemes in the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP) have been developed to mitigate the impacts, when 
the impacts have not been clearly shown in the evidence available. In 
addition to this, no modeling has been done with the mitigation in place 
to demonstrate if the schemes do indeed mitigate the impacts. This is 
still the view of BDC officers. 

 
3.6 The SoCG appended to this report is not the version that currently 

appears on the examination website. WFDC submitted a version which 
they and WCC were in agreement with, but not BDC officers. The 
attached version is now agreed by officers of all parties, and it is our 
understanding that the inspector will be invited to consider the version 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet  8th July 2020 

 
attached to this report and not the currently submitted version. Whilst 
the differences are minimal the changes requested by BDC officers 
were felt important enough to allow for the more positive 
recommendations at the beginning of this report, rather than a 
recommendation to not agree anything with WFDC. 

 
3.7 The format of the SoCG follows the structure of the representations 

submitted by BDC to the WFLP, the third column in the table 1 and 
table 2 of the SoCG is the joint response of WFDC and WCC in 2020 to 
the comments submitted, by BDC in 2018 and 2019. Therefore some of 
the rebuttals and comments against the representations have been 
written significantly after the original comments were submitted. The 
intervening time period has rendered some of the original BDC 
comments less significant as issues have been resolved along the way. 
There are a significant number of points raised in the BDC 
representations which when taken together focus on the main theme, 
i.e. the lack of a credible transport evidence base. Without this 
evidence base it is not possible to conclude on some issues, or 
suggest policy changes as these would need to be informed by the 
evidence. This point is important because  when these points are 
responded to in isolation as they are in the table, it could appear that 
BDCs comments are not robust. Whilst difficult to avoid this approach it 
obscures the main issue, i.e. that it’s the evidence which informs the 
plan which in our view, is deficient.  

 
3.8   In BDC’s October 2019 representation, concerns were raised that 

additional work which had been agreed was not provided to support the 
pre submission representation period. This work focuses on the Hagley 
area, and is titled ‘Transport Demand in the Hagley Area’.   It is this 
work which has caused more recent debate between officers about the 
plan making process being undertaken. It is the clear view of BDC 
officers that this work, whilst being undertaken by WCC, was agreed by 
WFDC, and as such forms part of the evidence base to support the 
plan. Further to that, as part of the evidence base it should have 
formed part of the documents available at the representations stage 
which closed in October 2019. The Transport Demand in the Hagley 
Area document is dated January 2020. It appears to be the view of 
WFDC that this was a piece of work requested by BDC of WCC, and as 
such doesn’t form part of the evidence base to support the plan 
although, it does appear attached to the statement of common ground. 
The exact status of this document is something that it is hoped will be 
clarified as part of the examination process, because WFDC seem to 
be trying on one hand to distance themselves from this work but also 
use it to attempt to defend the plan in this SoCG. With no formal 
opportunity to comment on this work BDC asked Mott Macdonald to 
provide observations and these can be seen at appendix B.  It was 
hoped by BDC officers that this document would be appended to the 
SoCG but WFDC refused.  BDC will now submit this report separately 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet  8th July 2020 

 
to the Examination process at the appropriate time. Neither WFDC or 
WCC will be providing comment on the MM report. 

 
3.9  On balance whilst issues remain between the parties, it is felt that the 

SoCG is an appropriately drafted to allow the inspector to focus on the 
issues at hand, in the level of detail that  BDC officers consider 
necessary.  Therefore is recommended that the leader of the Council 
formally signs this document. 

 
 
Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
3.10 There are no Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications 

associated with this report. 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT    

 
4.1 The risks associated with not signing the SoCG are not significant but 

in signing it will help the planning inspector clearly focus on the issues 
in hand at the examination in public. 
 

5. APPENDICES 
 

 Appendix A – WFLP SOCG 
 Appendix B – MM note on WFLP 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 WFLP Pre submission Document 

 WFLP Infrastructure Delivery Plan  

 WFLP evidence base  

 BDC response to WFLP December 2018 

 BDC response to WFLP October 2019 
 

 
 

AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Mike Dunphy 
Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager 
 
E Mail: m.dunphy@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
Tel:01527 881325  

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



BDC - Appendix A Contents  

Main document - Statement of Common Ground between Wyre Forest District 

Council, Worcestershire County Council and Bromsgrove District Council 

Appendix 1 - minutes of the Duty to cooperate meetings  

Appendix 2 - BDC preferred option response to WFDC August 2017 

Appendix 3 - BDC Submission representation to WFDC  December 2018 

Appendix 4 - BDC Submission representation to WFDC  October 2019 

Appendix 5 - Further Correspondence between BDC and WFDC September 

2019 

Appendix6 – Traffic Demand in the Hagley area Report  

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Statement of Common Ground between Wyre Forest District Council, 

Worcestershire County Council and Bromsgrove District Council 

1) Introduction 

Under the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019), strategic policy making authorities, 

such as local planning authorities, should produce, maintain and keep up to date a Statement of 

Common Ground (SofCG) to highlight agreement on cross boundary strategic issues with 

neighbouring local authorities and other relevant bodies. 

This SofCG has been produced to support the submission of the Wyre Forest District Local Plan. It 

sets out how Wyre Forest District Council has engaged with Bromsgrove District Council in order to 

fulfil its Duty to Cooperate requirements. As the highways authority, Worcestershire County Council 

has also been jointly included in the Duty to Cooperate discussions and the preparation of this 

SofCG. 

2) Parties Involved 

This SofCG has been prepared jointly by Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC), Worcestershire County 

Council (WCC) and Bromsgrove District Council (BDC). WCC is the highways authority for both Wyre 

Forest District and Bromsgrove District. 

The SofCG covers those matters agreed and disagreed by the parties with regards to the proposed 

Wyre Forest District Local Plan (2016-2036), in order to fulfil the Duty to Cooperate requirements as 

outlined in paragraph 27 of the NPPF. 

3) Strategic Geography 

 

This SofCG covers all of the Wyre Forest District and has been produced for the purposes of the 

Wyre Forest District Local Plan (2016-2036), which is due to be submitted to the Planning 

Inspectorate in Spring 2020. Figure 1 below shows the district boundary of Wyre Forest District. 

 

Figure 1: Map of Wyre Forest District 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

ElaineW
Text Box
Document Reference: SD10b



2 
 

4) Background / Duty to Cooperate 

There has been ongoing engagement between WFDC, BDC and WCC throughout the preparation of 

the WFDC Local Plan Review. WFDC has consulted with BDC and WCC at every stage of plan making. 

The Local Plan Review consultation periods were as follows:- 

 Issues and Options Consultation – September / October 2015 

 Preferred Options Consultation – June / August 2017 

 Pre-Submission Consultation – November / December 2018 

 Pre-Submission Consultation (re-opening) – September / October 2019 

Joint Duty to Cooperate meetings between WFDC, WCC and BDC have taken place on the following 

dates:- 

 19th October 2017 

 26th June 2018 

 20th November 2018 

 6th February 2019 

 13th March 2019 

 30th July 2019 

 1st October 2019 (telephone conference call) 

 14th November 2019 

 7th January 2020 

 19th March 2020 (telephone conference call) 

 2nd April 2020 (telephone conference call) 

Minutes of the meetings can be viewed in Appendix 1. 

In addition to the above meetings, there have also been a number of Worcestershire Planning 

Officer meetings throughout the plan making period, at which lead Planning Policy Officers from 

each of the Worcestershire Local Authorities attended to discuss Local Plan Reviews and duty to 

cooperate issues. 

WFDC also held a Wyre Forest Local Plan Transport meeting on 7th February 2017 with officers from 

BDC and WCC to discuss the infrastructure requirements for the plan prior to the Preferred Options 

consultation. 

WFDC attended a BDC Highway Meeting at Bromsgrove District Council on 30th May 2018. Officers 

from WCC were also present at this meeting. The minutes of the meeting can be found in Appendix 

1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



3 
 

5) Strategic Matters Identified 

 

Bromsgrove District Council did not respond to the WFDC Issues and Options consultation 

undertaken in 2015.  

 

WFDC had held a meeting on 7th February 2017 prior to the preferred options consultation (which 

commenced in June 2017), to discuss the Wyre Forest local plan transport infrastructure 

requirements with BDC and WCC (the highways authority). BDC responded to the WFDC Local Plan 

preferred options consultation that was undertaken in June / August 2017. Appendix 2 shows the 

response received from BDC. The main concerns set out in BDC’s response related to the evidence 

base which supported the allocations and in particular the transport evidence. BDC acknowledged 

that some consideration had been given to transport issues in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), 

but they were concerned that a preference for a preferred option was being sought without all the 

transport modelling evidence being available. Subsequent to the 2017 Preferred Options 

consultation detailed transport modelling was undertaken by WCC with regard to site allocations 

and the results of which were consulted on during the 2018 Pre-Submission consultation.  

 

BDC responded to the WFDC Local Plan Pre-Submission consultation that was undertaken in 

November / December 2018. Appendix 3 shows the response received from BDC.  

BDC also responded to the WFDC re-opening of the Local Plan Pre-Submission consultation that was 

undertaken in September / October 2019. Appendix 4 shows the response received from BDC. 

For both the 2018 and 2019 consultations, the strategic matters raised by BDC relate to transport 

issues. The matters of disagreement are set out in section 6 of this Statement of Common Ground.  

 

6) Matters of disagreement 

Table 1 and 2 below shows the matters of disagreement raised by BDC to the 2018 and 2019 

consultations (regulation 19) to the Wyre Forest Local Plan (2016-2036). For the purposes of this 

SofCG, the tables also include a written response from WFDC and WCC, in 2020, to these 

disagreements raised by BDC. The numerous DtC meetings were also used as an opportunity for BDC 

to discuss their disagreements in detail with WFDC and WCC. 

Table 1: Matters of disagreement from the 2018 consultation (regulation 19) 

 Issues raised by BDC to the 2018 
consultation (Reg 19) 

WFDC / WCC Response (SofCG 2020) 

BDC 
(2018 
response) 

6.1 - It is the view of Bromsgrove District 
Council (BDC) that unfortunately the 
Wyre Forest Local Plan (WFLP) is 
unsound, BDC do not consider that the 
plan is justified, effective or consistent 
with National Policy. 

WFDC is disappointed that BDC considers 
the WF Local Plan to be unsound.  

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.2 - The objection focuses on Policy 12 – 
Strategic Infrastructure and Policy 13 – 
Transport and Accessibility in Wyre 
Forest and the evidence base which 

Comments noted. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



4 
 

purports to support them, most notable 
the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and 
the Transport Modelling Report (TMR). 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.3 - Para 16 of the NPPF requires that 
plans should: 
 
b) be prepared positively, in a way that is 
aspirational but deliverable; 
d) contain policies that are clearly 
written and unambiguous, so it is evident 
how a decision maker should react to 
development proposals; 
 
Policy 12 is a generic policy for the 
requirement of infrastructure to support 
the plan, and Policy 13 begins to provide 
more detail on what infrastructure is 
required. It is the view of BDC that 
policies 12 and 13 fail to satisfy b) and d) 
of the framework. For the reasons 
expanded on in the paragraphs 6.6 to 
6.20 below concerning the evidence 
base, BDC fail to see how the 
infrastructure requirements are 
deliverable. BDC also fails to see and 
how the policy is clear and unambiguous 
on what infrastructure is required, and 
when and how it is to be delivered. Of 
particular concern in relation to the 
clarity of the policy are the 
inconsistencies between the IDP 
requirements and the requirements in 
the policy. 

Reference to NPPF is noted. WFDC does not 
think that the consultation response from 
BDC explains clearly what their concerns 
are with Policy 12 and 13 in relation to 
NPPF Para 16 b & d. The consultation 
response merely quotes the NPPF 
paragraphs and does not articulate in any 
detail why BDC consider the policies to be 
unclear, ambiguous and not deliverable.  
 
WFDC do not consider any change is 
necessary to Policy 13 in response to the 
BDC comments. However, Policy 12 could 
be used to secure mitigation if the Inspector 
considers this to be necessary. WFDC 
suggest the following potential modification 
to Policy 12, to be considered by the 
Inspector: 
 
D.) Where appropriate, planning 
obligations will be required to fund 
infrastructure projects that are directly 
related to specific development, including 
but not limited to affordable housing, 
transport, green infrastructure, education, 
health and other social infrastructure. 
 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.4 - Para 20 of the NPPF states: 
 
Strategic policies should set out an 
overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
quality of development, and make 
sufficient provision for: 
 
b) infrastructure for transport, 
telecommunications, security, waste 
management, water supply, wastewater, 
flood risk and coastal change 
management, and the provision of 
minerals and energy (including heat); 
 
It is BDCs view that the concerns 
expressed about the evidence at para’s 
6.6 to 6.20 identifies that the WFLP and 
its evidence base does not at this stage 

Reference to NPPF is noted. Merely quoting 
paragraphs from the NPPF is not enough to 
explain why the WF Local Plan is 
inconsistent with national policy. 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



5 
 

clearly identify in a robust manner the 
infrastructure required or the impacts of 
the infrastructure, and therefore the 
plan is inconsistent with the 
requirements of para 20 of the NPPF. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.5 - Para 104 of the NPPF states 
Planning policies should: 
 
b) be prepared with the active 
involvement of local highways 
authorities, other transport 
infrastructure providers and operators 
and neighbouring councils, so that 
strategies and investments for 
supporting sustainable transport and 
development patterns are aligned; 
 
c) identify and protect, where there is 
robust evidence, sites and routes which 
could be critical in developing 
infrastructure to widen transport choice 
and realise opportunities for large scale 
development; 
 
It is BDCs view that in relation to b) and 
c) above that issues identified with the 
evidence base at paras 6.6 to 6.20 below 
shows, that there is not robust evidence 
which has allowed for any routes to be 
identified and protected for the bypasses 
in relation to Hagley and Mustow Green. 
And that lack of robust evidence, which 
also include un-costed schemes in the 
IDP, does not allow for a sufficient 
strategy for investment in infrastructure 
to be developed and aligned, therefore 
the WFLP is not consistent with the 
requirements of para 104 of the NPPF. 
 

Comments noted.  
 
WCC have worked with WFDC throughout 
the development of the WFDC Local Plan 
including in the development of the IDP and 
the transport evidence.  
 
Worcestershire County Council is the 
highway authority and is content with the 
WF Local Plan, the IDP and the transport 
evidence (which they prepared). WFDC and 
WCC consider the evidence to be robust. 
Therefore, WFDC has met the requirements 
of NPPF paragraph 104 b & c. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.6 - Paras 6.3 to 6.5 above show how 
the policies in the WFLP are inconsistent 
with the requirements of the NPPF, BDCs 
soundness concerns are also related to 
the ability of the WFLP to be judged as 
being justified and effective, this primary 
concern relates to the evidence base 
supporting Policies 12 and 13. 

Disagree. Paragraphs 6.3 to 6.5 merely 
quote paragraphs from the NPPF and do 
not explain clearly and in detail why BDC 
consider the policies in the WFLP are 
inconsistent with the NPPF. In their 
response para 6.3 states “For these reasons 
expanded on in paragraph 6.6 to 6.20 below 
concerning the evidence base, BDC fail to 
see how the infrastructure requirements are 
deliverable.”  Yet, when the reader reaches 
para 6.6 it states “Para 6.3 to 6.5 above 
show how the policies in the WFLP are 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



6 
 

inconsistent with the requirements of the 
NPPF...”. BDC has failed to articulate clearly 
in their consultation response to WFDC 
exactly why Policy 12 and 13 are considered 
by them to be inconsistent with the NPPF. 
Merely quoting paragraph numbers from 
the NPPF is not a satisfactory method of 
expressing NPPF inconsistencies. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.7 - It appears from the published 
evidence base the main supporting 
evidence for the transport and 
infrastructure policies in the WFLP are 
the IDP and the TMR. Reference is made 
in both May 2017 and October 2018 
versions of the IDP to a transport 
evidence paper. It has been confirmed by 
Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC) that 
there is no transport evidence paper. The 
May 2017 IDP also states: 
 
It should also be noted that local impacts 
of individual potential development sites 
can be more easily identified; however, 
the cumulative impact of development 
on both the local and wider strategic 
network is difficult to quantify without 
undertaking modelling. As detailed 
above, the WFTM will be used to fully 
assess all development sites, both 
individually and cumulatively, to ensure a 
robust assessment of the likely transport 
related infrastructure is identified and all 
appropriate multimodal infrastructure 
identified to support the preferred 
option. 
 
For the reasons expanded on below BDC, 
do not consider that this stated intention 
of the previous version of the IDP has 
been undertaken. 

Comments noted. WCC have worked with 
WFDC following the 2018 Pre-Submission 
consultation to undertake further transport 
modelling to inform the evidence base and 
IDP.  
 
The updated transport evidence and 
revised IDP were consulted on during the 
re-opened Pre-submission consultation 
which took place in 2019. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.8 - The WFLP contains development 
allocations across the District, there are 
some significant allocations to the 
eastern and north eastern side of 
Kidderminster. These sites have been in 
the public domain for a considerable 
period of time, and were part of the 
preferred options presented by WFDC. 
BDC responded to the preferred option 
plan, expressing concern about the 
possible implications of development in 

Disagree. A considerable amount of 
evidence has been produced to support the 
WFDC Local Plan Review. This evidence 
base includes the Green Belt review, the 
Housing & Economic Land Availability 
Assessment, the Site Selection Paper, the 
Settlement Hierarchy Technical Paper, the 
Sustainability Appraisal etc. As part of the 
evidence base, WFDC has worked closely 
with WCC to produce some transport 
technical documents that have modelled 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



7 
 

these locations on transport 
infrastructure in Bromsgrove. At the time 
BDCs concern was the lack of evidence to 
allow BDC to make an informed decision 
on the implications for the district. Sadly 
little work appears to have been done to 
strengthen the evidence base and 
therefore BDCs concern remains. 

and tested the site allocations robustly in 
terms of the impact on the transport 
network during the plan period up to 2036. 
The evidence base studies produced as part 
of the review process has informed the sites 
allocated in the draft Local Plan (2016-
2036). WFDC has set out in the draft Local 
Plan (2016-2036) what it considers to be ‘an 
appropriate strategy’ for Wyre Forest 
District (NPPF para 35b). This appropriate 
strategy for the district has been approved 
by WFDC Members. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.9 - Turning specifically to the Transport 

Modelling Report (TMW) BDC has 

concerns that: 

 

a) The Wyre Forest Transport 

model is a multi-modal model 

but only the highway assignment 

model has been used. 

b) There is a mis-match between 

the development assumptions in 

the Wyre Forest Local Plan 

Review (2016-2036) – Transport 

Modelling Report and the Wyre 

Forest District Council IDP. 

c) A simplistic approach to trip 

generation has been adopted. A 

single rate assumed for all 

residential development and a 

single rate assumed for all job 

employment types. 

d) It is not clear whether there has 

been any optimisation of the 

highway network in the future 

year network. 

e) There is no definition provided of 

“capacity” or “congestion”. 

f) In the Appendix, information on 

housing is not provided for 

mixed use development. Housing 

capacity is provided for 

residential areas, but the 

number of jobs assumed for 

employment is not provided. 

Comments noted. Some anomalies and 
inconsistencies were identified within the 
modelling work undertaken for the 2018 
Pre-Submission consultation. These have 
been addressed and corrected in the 2019 
modelling work undertaken.  
 
The updated transport evidence and 
revised IDP were consulted on during the 
re-opened Pre-submission consultation 
which took place in 2019. 
 
All of the concerns raised here by BDC have 
been addressed in the 2019 transport 
modelling and were made available in the 
re-opened consultation. 

BDC  6.10 - In relation to the Wyre Forest The Chapter 3 of the IDP Physical 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



8 
 

(2018 
response) 

District Council IDP, the following 
observations are made: 
 

a) There is a mis-match between 
the development assumptions in 
the Wyre Forest Local Plan 
Review (2016-2036) – Transport 
Modelling Report and the Wyre 
Forest District Council IDP. 

b) No reference to modelling 5 
years ahead, albeit the IDP refers 
to national guidance that states 
that the IDP should be clear for 
at least 5 years ahead. 

c) There is reference to options 
consultation but no reference to 
modelling of options. 

d) The document states that where 
the deliverability of critical 
infrastructure is uncertain 
alternative strategies should be 
assessed. It is not clear if the 
testing of alternative strategies 
has been undertaken in the 
(highway) modelling. 

e) There is no definition provided of 
“capacity” or “congestion”, so it 
is not clear how infrastructure 
needs have been identified. 

f) Not clear how network capacity 
has been maximised albeit the 
document states that there is a 
need to demonstrate that 
capacity has been maximised. 

g) Not clear on how infrastructure 
needs have been identified as 
there is no reference provided to 
an appraisal or sifting process or 
definition of need. 

Infrastructure clearly sets out any 
assumptions which have been made in the 
assessment of required infrastructure. It is a 
living document and subject to regular 
updating as new evidence becomes 
available and as the plan is implemented.  
 
The IDP sets out a series of infrastructure 
requirements based on both the transport 
modelling which has been undertaken, and 
WCC assessment of the sites as the 
highways authority taking into account their 
knowledge of the network in both Wyre 
Forest district and wider, experience of 
development and mitigation and the traffic 
management data available to WCC.  
 
The IDP is not the document for a detailed 
discussion on transport modelling.  

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.11 - The reason why these elements 
are a concern and lead to a conclusion of 
unsoundness relates to the identification 
of additional congestion on the A456 
through Hagley in Bromsgrove. Also the 
identification of additional congestion on 
the A448 at Mustow Green which the 
main route between Bromsgrove and 
Kidderminster is a similar concern. Both 
these locations have now been identified 
as requiring bypasses. It must be stated 
that in principle BDC does not necessarily 

Comments noted.  
Subsequent to the 2018 Pre-Submission 
consultation further detailed work was 
undertaken by WCC with regard to these 
allocations and the results of this have been 
used to inform subsequent revisions to the 
IDP. 
 
The updated transport evidence and 
revised IDP were consulted on during the 
re-opened Pre-submission consultation 
which took place in 2019. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



9 
 

object to these bypass proposals, 
providing they are underpinned by 
robust evidence of need, and more 
importantly delivery. But for BDC to get 
to this position it needs to be clear that 
these proposals are the correct form of 
mitigation when considered against 
other options in these locations, and it 
needs to be clear what the wider 
cumulative impacts of these proposals 
are on transport infrastructure. This is 
important because once the need for 
them is robustly established; it needs to 
be clear how these and other proposals 
will be funded and delivered in a 
coordinated way. The WFLP requires 
infrastructure to align with allocated 
development as they progress to provide 
the correct mitigation, although it does 
appear no actual phasing appears in the 
plan. BDC is unable to establish that a 
robust process has been undertaken in 
identifying these schemes as the correct 
schemes. BDC is also unable to form any 
view based on the evidence of the 
likelihood of these schemes being 
enabled or delivered by the WFLP. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.12 - In more detail BDC cannot 
understand the assessment process that 
has been undertaken to determine the 
bypass is needed. The adopted Local 
Transport Plan 4 LTP4 highlights that a 
review of the junctions in Hagley should 
take place, to be funded by developers 
and the LTP. Notwithstanding the 
technical concerns highlighted at para 
6.8 above, the results of the TMR 
appears to show further congestion in 
Hagley. The LTP4 junction review 
requirement appears to have now been 
superseded by a bypass, there appears 
to be no evidence to support the need 
other than the model report. The IDP 
states “Using this information WCC have 
been able to undertake an assessment of 
the probable impact on the local and 
wider network and produce a list of the 
infrastructure required to support the 
level of growth. This assessment has 
been undertaken using the Wyre Forest 
Transport Model (WFTM).” The TMR 

Comments noted.  
Subsequent to the 2018 Pre-Submission 
consultation further detailed work was 
undertaken by WCC with regard to these 
allocations and the results of this have been 
used to inform subsequent revisions to the 
IDP. Two further papers have been 
produced; The A450 Corridor Enhancement 
Report and the Transport Demand in Hagley 
both of which provide the detailed 
assessments and justification for the 
proposed mitigation. 
 
The revised IDP and the A450 Corridor 
Enhancement Report were consulted on 
during the re-opened Pre-Submission 
consultation held in 2019. 
 
The Transport Demand in Hagley Area has 
been produced by WCC as a background 
paper to this Statement of Common 
Ground. (See Appendix 6). 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



10 
 

does not mention the mitigation 
required, it simply shows where the 
network is affected by development, 
there are no other published reports 
referencing the WFTM. Therefore trying 
to work out how all the schemes have 
been assessed based on the published 
evidence. The same applies to the 
Mustow Green scenario where a junction 
enhancement scheme has been replaced 
with a bypass. Policy 13 of the WFLP still 
refers to a junction enhancement 
scheme, this is the inconsistency referred 
to at para 6.3 above. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.13 - It is a fact that the IDP schemes 
haven’t been modelled for their impact, 
as they are not referenced in the TMR. 
So it is unclear not only what impact a 
Hagley bypass will have in reducing 
congestion in Hagley but it is not clear 
what impact a Hagley bypass might have 
on other locations, these impacts maybe 
both positive and negative. The same can 
be said for the bypass around Mustow 
Green. For example the Mustow Green 
Scheme might have an impact on 
Bromsgrove Town if it increases the 
volumes which are able to use the A448. 
Similarly the enhancement scheme on 
the A450 corridor might have an impact 
on Hagley if it improves the 
attractiveness of this route, how would / 
has that then be factored into the bypass 
proposals at Hagley. It is accepted that 
transport planning / modelling is not an 
exact science, and there will always be 
impacts of schemes which will not be 
able to be quantified. In this instance 
again appears to be is no work which 
attempts to identify how all these 
transport schemes work together to 
mitigate the cumulative impacts of all 
the developments in Wyre Forest. For 
these reasons alone BDC does not feel 
that the WFLP is sound, as key proposals 
required both within the district but also 
outside are not robustly justified. 

Comments noted.  
Subsequent to the 2018 Pre-Submission 
consultation further detailed work was 
undertaken by WCC with regard to these 
allocations and the results of this have been 
used to inform subsequent revisions to the 
IDP. Two further papers have been 
produced; The A450 Corridor Enhancement 
Report and the Transport Demand in Hagley 
both of which provide the detailed 
assessments and justification for the 
proposed mitigation. 
 
The revised IDP and the A450 Corridor 
Enhancement Report were consulted on 
during the re-opened Pre-Submission 
consultation held in 2019. 
 
The Transport Demand in Hagley Area has 
been produced by WCC as a background 
paper to this Statement of Common 
Ground. (See Appendix 6). 
 
 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.14 - It could be seen as strange that 
BDC are objecting to a plan which on the 
face of it is providing a solution to a 
known issue; congestion in Hagley. The 

Comments noted. 
 
For clarity, a Hagley Bypass is not being 
proposed by the WFDC Local Plan.  

Page 30

Agenda Item 5



11 
 

robust justification for a scheme is 
directly related to the ability to 
implement the required scheme. 
Therefore BDC cannot support the plan 
if, the need for the scheme is not 
justified to the extent that its ability to 
be implemented becomes clear and 
deliverable. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.15 - The Hagley bypass scheme as 
identified in the IDP does not have a cost 
associated with it, the Mustow Green 
bypass scheme has a £12 million cost 
associated with it. Neither scheme as far 
as BDC can ascertain has got a plan 
which shows the alignment of the road 
or any technical considerations. Purely 
by looking at a map, a bypass around 
Mustow Green would appear to be a 
shorter piece of road than a bypass 
around Hagley. Therefore we can only 
assume that the Hagley scheme will be in 
excess of £12 million, this is a significant 
amount of funding which does not have 
any certainty at this stage. BDC 
acknowledge that this is a very crude 
assumption to make on cost, and there 
are many issues such as underground 
services etc which can significantly affect 
the final amount. It is also accepted that 
as the detail of schemes are worked up 
more detailed cost estimates can be 
made. It appears the costs that have 
been used to inform the viability work, 
which is part of the evidence base to the 
plan, are not reflective of or have been 
informed by these schemes. The 
approach in the viability work is to use a 
typical infrastructure cost. However in 
this instance this typical cost cannot 
account for all the typical or abnormal 
costs, as so many of them are yet to be 
identified. 

Comments noted.  
Subsequent to the 2018 Pre-Submission 
consultation further detailed work was 
undertaken by WCC with regard to these 
allocations and the results of this have been 
used to inform subsequent revisions to the 
IDP. Wherever estimated costs are used this 
is clearly acknowledged in the IDP, which is 
not an unusual approach. To provide 
detailed costs for schemes in itself requires 
considerable financial investment in 
feasibility, options appraisal and site 
assessments which would incur 
considerable cost. These will be undertaken 
as appropriate when mitigation is required 
as development comes forward. Use of a 
typical infrastructure cost is not unusual 
and provides a guide as to likely costs, 
accepting that there may be abnormal costs 
within a scheme. It is also of note that any 
proposal for a Hagley bypass would be in 
Bromsgrove, so could not include an 
allocation or indicative route in the WFDC 
plan.  Subsequently, two further papers 
have been produced; The A450 Corridor 
Enhancement Report and the Transport 
Demand in Hagley both of which provide 
the detailed assessments and justification 
for the proposed mitigation. 
 
The revised IDP and the A450 Corridor 
Enhancement Report were consulted on 
during the re-opened Pre-Submission 
consultation held in 2019. 
 
The Transport Demand in Hagley Area has 
been produced by WCC as a background 
paper to this Statement of Common 
Ground. (See Appendix 6). 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.16 - It is noted at para 12.3 of the 
WFLP that: 
 
The Council will consider wider 

Comments noted. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



12 
 

infrastructure funding streams as part of 
the Local Plan Review process and in due 
course will consider the introduction of a 
Community Infrastructure Levy in 
conjunction with the latest Planning 
Obligations SPD, as adopted by the 
Council in September 2016. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.17 - BDC do not understand why the 
consideration of infrastructure funding 
streams would be left for a plan review 
to decide. This wording appears verbatim 
in the preferred option version of the 
plan and therefore maybe a drafting 
error. If this is the case then it would 
suggest that this plan should have 
considered the funding streams. BDC 
cannot see where this has been done 
with any rigour. If a CIL is the mechanism 
to fund the plans infrastructure, then it 
would need to be clearly timetabled, and 
then progressed in line with that 
timetable to ensure the benefits of 
having a CIL are realised from all the 
development in the plan. This would 
appear to be key for WFDC so many 
infrastructure schemes have been 
identified. The Local Development 
Scheme states that the position on a CIL 
will be considered alongside the 
preparation of the pre-submission plan. 
There is no timetable for the production 
of a CIL and WFLP does not clarify the 
position on CIL. The inconsistent costing 
information and complete lack of costing 
in relation to the Hagley bypass, and an 
uncertain policy regime about 
infrastructure delivery casts doubt on 
the funding of a bypass for Hagley. 

Agree that there is a slight drafting error in 
paragraph 12.3 of the Plan. This error is to 
be corrected in the Table of Additional 
(Minor) Modifications to the Local Plan. 
 
For clarity, a Hagley Bypass is not being 
proposed by the WFDC Local Plan.  
 
 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.18 - The IDP has a lot of high cost 
schemes in it, and a lot of possibly 
expensive schemes which have yet to be 
costed, including the Hagley bypass. If 
the evidence isn’t robust to support the 
specific requirement for these schemes 
as a result of development, the 
likelihood of them being funded by 
developers or other mechanisms such as 
Central Government or LEP money is 
uncertain. Where there are lots of 
competing schemes it is expected that 
funding normally will be directed at 

Comments noted, subsequently a further 
paper has been produced “Transport 
Demand in Hagley”.  
 
The IDP provides clarity of the gap between 
estimated developer contributions and the 
cost of infrastructure in support of the plan. 
WCC has expressed concern in their 
response with regard to viability. Not 
withstanding these comments WCC have a 
good track record of working with the 
funders such as Central Government and 
the LEPs to secure funding for large 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



13 
 

those which provide the greatest direct 
benefit, such as enabling housing 
development or providing for economic 
activity. From the information provided 
BDC has no way of understanding how 
much development from specific 
allocations impacts on Hagley to justify 
the bypass. This lack of information then 
makes it impossible to understand the 
likely level of developer contribution, 
and therefore if not fully developer 
funded the likely amount of other 
funding required. Without being able to 
understand how much housing and 
economic development proposals such 
as the bypass enable, it is impossible to 
form a view on the likely applicability to 
the funding streams that are available to 
infrastructure providers. 

infrastructure schemes including both 
highways, active travel and rail bases. We 
will continue to work with WFDC to secure 
external funding where ever possible for 
the schemes identified in the IDP, alongside 
developer contributions.  

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.19 - It is accepted that funding regimes 
are not fixed, and the change as 
government policy is amended, meaning 
different levels of finance become 
available. With that in mind BDC accepts 
that it is not possible to have complete 
certainty on these issues at this stage in 
the planning process. But without being 
able to quantify the impact of individual 
developments on the scheme being 
tabled as mitigation, and then being able 
to quantify the impact of the mitigation 
even at a basic level BDC fails to see how 
the plan can be seen as justified, and 
therefore also effective if the required 
funding for the mitigation remains such 
an unresolved issue. 

WCC have a good track record of working 
with the funders such as Central 
Government and the LEPs to secure funding 
for large infrastructure schemes including 
both highways, active travel and rail bases. 
We will continue to work with WFDC to 
secure external funding where ever possible 
for the schemes identified in the IDP, 
alongside developer contributions. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

6.20 - In conclusion it is regrettable that 
BDC has to object to the plan, but unless 
the mitigation required supporting the 
plan cannot be robustly evidenced, 
which in turn secures the ability for it to 
be delivered, it is the view of BDC that 
the plan is unsound as it is not justified, 
effective, and consistent with national 
policy. 

Disagree. Both WFDC and WCC consider 
that the evidence that has been produced is 
robust and the Local Plan is sound. 

BDC  
(2018 
response) 

7.1 - BDC consider that the wording of 
policies 12 and 13 could be amended to 
strengthen them and provide more 
clarity in relation to the mitigation 
required. But as the fundamental issue is 
with the evidence which underpins these 

Disagree. BDC does not state why or how 
Policy 12 and 13 should be strengthened or 
why or how they lack clarity. WFDC have 
undertaken numerous Duty to Co-operate 
meetings with BDC, during which BDC have 
failed to elaborate on this issue and 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



14 
 

policies, without a more robust evidence 
base BDC do not consider this plan can 
be made sound with simple policy 
wording changes. 

articulate clearly their concerns with these 
two policies. BDC did not make any 
suggested modifications. 
 
Both WFDC and WCC consider that the 
evidence that has been produced is robust 
and the Local Plan is sound. 

 

 

Table 2: Matters of disagreement from the 2019 consultation (regulation 19) 

 Issues raised by BDC to the 2019 
consultation (Reg 19) 

WFDC / WCC Response (SofCG 2020) 

BDC 
(2019  
response) 

BDC considers that the wording of 
policies 12 and 13 could be amended to 
strengthen them and provide more 
clarity in relation to the mitigation 
required. However, as the fundamental 
issue is with the evidence which 
underpins these policies, without more 
robust evidence base BDC still does not 
consider this plan can be made sound 
with simple policy wording changes. 
 
If it can be demonstrated clearly that the 
impacts of development are on 
infrastructure in Bromsgrove, then a 
clear policy requirement for the delivery 
of cross boundary infrastructure will 
need to be included in the plan. 

Disagree. BDC does not state why or how 
Policy 12 and 13 should be strengthened or 
why or how they lack clarity. WFDC have 
undertaken numerous Duty to Co-operate 
meetings with BDC, during which BDC have 
failed to elaborate on this issue and 
articulate clearly their concerns with these 
two policies. BDC did not make any 
suggested modifications. 
 
Both WFDC and WCC consider that the 
evidence that has been produced is robust 
and the Local Plan is sound. 

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

1. The previous comments submitted by 
Bromsgrove District Council BDC in 
relation to this plan still stand, the 
comments below expand on those 
submitted previously.  

See comments on 2018 response.   

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

2. It remains the view of BDC that 
unfortunately the Wyre Forest Local Plan 
(WFLP) is unsound, BDC do not consider 
that the plan is justified, effective, or 
consistent with National Policy. It is also 
unfortunate that BDC also now raises 
concerns about whether the 
requirements of the Duty to Co-operate 
to have been met. 

Disagree. WFDC has held numerous Duty 
to Co-operate meetings with both BDC and 
WCC (the highways authority) to discuss 
the BDC issues and identify solutions. 

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

Evidence concerns 
 
3. Without repeating the previous 
concerns verbatim the issue that BDC 
has is that it is still unclear as to what the 
transport impacts are, of the WFLP on 
Bromsgrove District. Concerns were 
expressed previously on the clarity of the 

Comments noted. 
 
WCC disagree with this position and 
believe the IDP along with the Hagley 
Demand Report and A450 Corridor Report 
identify the likely impacts the growth will 
have on the Transport Network within 
Bromsgrove. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



15 
 

work provided to support the 2018 
publication version of the plan. Although 
efforts have been made to address these 
concerns, the fact remains that from the 
published information it is, in the view of 
BDC, not possible to clearly see what the 
impacts of the development sites are, 
and then clearly understand the 
mitigation strategy. 

 
  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

4. The need for a more robust transport 
evidence base has been something that 
BDC has been raising throughout the 
development of the WFLP. In response 
to BDCs November 2018 objection, 
further discussions took place in 
February and March 2019 where BDC 
continued to express its position, with 
WCC officers in attendance. It is BDCs 
understanding that these discussion in 
part led to the additional document that 
has been published, Wyre Forest Local 
Plan Review, Transport Evidence June 
2019. It had been hoped that the 
content of this document would have 
addressed the previous concerns BDC 
raised but unfortunately it does not do 
this. This position of BDC is, and has 
always been, that the Council would like 
to be able to understand the impacts of 
the plan on the infrastructure within 
Bromsgrove District, and then to clearly 
understand how the proposed mitigation 
and its delivery has been arrived at. 

Comments noted.  
 
WCC have worked with WFDC to provide 
further clarity on the transport impacts of 
the WFDC local plan. A further modelling 
exercise has been undertaken on the 
discrepancy of allocated sites, and the 
Transport Evidence Base sets out the 
impacts of development in Wyre Forest 
District and the key corridors.  
Further specific reports have been 
produced as required for Hagley, A450 
corridor and Blakedown to enhance 
understanding and support the 
interventions.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

5. Unfortunately the Wyre Forest Local 
Plan Review, Transport Evidence June 
2019 does not satisfy this information 
gap. It is the view of BDC that the 
document has flaws. The document at 
section 4 attempts to suggest that an 
assessment has been done to confirm 
that the model is fit for purpose. BDC 
does not see how any actual assessment 
has been done, and consider that it is 
not possible to make the conclusion at 
para 4.6 based on the information in the 
preceding section. 

Comments noted.  
 
Jacobs, WCC’s Transport consultants have 
provided an assessment of the WFDC 
transport model, which confirms that it is 
suitable and appropriate to assess the 
WFDC local plan using this model and its 
evidence base.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

6. A more significant concern is that 
although there is new information in this 
report, it is still not possible to ascertain 
from the information provided what the 
actual impact of development would be. 

Comments noted.  
 
The Transport Evidence Base sets out the 
impacts of development in Wyre Forest 
District and the key corridors, including trip 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



16 
 

The document shows that flows and 
journey times will increase in many 
locations, but without a base year, or 
updated base year to compare against, 
all that can be concluded is that there 
will be more trips on the network. 
Without being able to compare a 
scenario where WFLP developments are 
not present, and where WFLP 
developments are present, 
understanding what the actual impacts 
of development are, is impossible. 

generation.  
 
Further specific reports have been 
produced as required for Hagley, A450 
corridor and Blakedown to enhance 
understanding and support the 
interventions proposed.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

7. Another concern with this piece of 
evidence is that there is no modelling 
with any mitigation included. Therefore 
from the evidence available it is not 
possible to understand if the suggested 
mitigation in the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP) actually mitigates both 
individual development sites and also 
the cumulative impacts of the WFLP. 

The Hagley Demand Report identifies the 
growth will have little impact on the 
network with the Bromsgrove District and 
therefore no schemes for the area are 
included within the IDP. 
  
The A450 Corridor report identifies the 
impact growth will have on corridor. It also 
identifies the appropriate mitigation 
scheme and the results of the introduction 
of that scheme.  
 

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
 
8. Turning to the IDP the BDC position 
remains the same as previously 
expressed. The Council’s previous 
concerns cantered on the untested and 
in some cases un-costed schemes and 
proposals in the IDP. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that changes have been 
made to the IDP it is still unclear what 
the links are between the impact of 
development and the mitigation that is 
specified. This particular concern for the 
A456 through Hagley, where previous 
proposals for a bypass have been 
softened and the need or a wider review 
working with other councils seems to 
have replaced this proposal. BDC has no 
objection in principle to a wider review 
of transport infrastructure; indeed it 
would expect this consideration to come 
to the fore as the review of the 
Bromsgrove District Plan gathers 
momentum. However it is not 
considered appropriate at this stage to 
leave it to a wider infrastructure review 
to mitigate the specific impacts of the 

Comments noted.  
Considerable further work has been 
undertaken to consider the A456 through 
Hagley which is set out in the additional 
paper “Transport Demand in Hagley”. 
Further to this, WCC have also undertaken 
localised modelling in Hagley to assess 
options to address the current congestion 
which is separate to the WFDC local plan.  
 
Hagley is a significant highway junction on 
the major road network (MRN), which 
attracts traffic from a wider hinterland, 
which travels to both the strategic road 
network i.e. M5 and also north to 
Birmingham and Black Country 
conurbation.  WCC have undertaken formal 
duty to co-operate discussions with the 
Black Country authorities regarding this 
junction and any possible impacts of both 
their local plan review and any transport 
proposals. The focus of their approach is to 
promote and extend public transport 
options within the conurbation. WCC also 
propose interventions to enhance the rail 
offer in Wyre Forest district to reduce the 
need to travel by car into the conurbation 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



17 
 

WFLP, should they ever be clearly 
identified, it maybe that the impacts are 
not significant to warrant such a review 
or if the impacts are proved to be 
significant, it is something which may be 
too late to address via plan making. 

and beyond.  
 
In addition much of the demand at Hagley 

is not related to Wyre Forest, but is 

generated from a wider hinterland 

extending beyond Wyre Forest into the 

rural areas of Herefordshire, Shropshire 

etc.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

9. It is also considered that the Duty to 
Cooperate and Statements of Common 
ground that BDC will prepare to support 
its plan are not the place to decide what 
infrastructure is required to support the 
developments in Wyre Forest, as para 
3.1.21 of the IDP seems to be suggesting. 
It is the view of BDC that the 
infrastructure needs of the WFLP need 
to be clearly identified in the evidence 
that supports that plan, and mechanisms 
put in place to allow for any cross border 
infrastructure to be delivered. BDC has a 
strong track record of such an approach 
both working with Birmingham City 
Council on the Longbridge Area Action 
plan, and more recently in working with 
Redditch Borough Council in providing 
cross boundary allocations in 
Bromsgrove District to meet the needs 
of Redditch Borough. 

Comments noted.  
 
Paragraph 3.1.21 of the IDP acknowledges 
the wider issues associated with the Hagley 
junction and that these are not matters 
which are solely within the control or remit 
of the WFDC local plan. WCC has 
undertaken discussions with the Black 
Country authorities, South Staffordshire 
and Bromsgrove to inform the approach to 
Hagley. The impact of proposals within the 
Shropshire Local Plan has also been 
reviewed.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

10. Para 3.1.24 of the IDP discusses the 
rail enhancement taking place in 
Blakedown station. BDC does not have 
an objection in principle to this 
enhancement. However there are 
concerns with the following statement: 
 
‘Enhancements to parking facilities at 
Blakedown Station will also help to 
mitigate the impact of growth on Hagley 
within Bromsgrove District. Hagley 
currently suffers from congestion at peak 
times and this is considered to be a first 
step in reducing congestion before wider 
strategic improvements can be 
considered and implemented.’ 
 
It is not clear how the addition or 
parking at this station combined with 
other strategies such as improving of the 
A450 corridor work together to reduce 

Comments noted.  
 
WCC has commissioned their rail 
consultant SLC Rail to undertake a study of 
options for the enhancement of Blakedown 
Station. This background paper has been 
published.  
 
LTP4 and the accompanying Rail 
Investment Strategy set out the 
justification for investment in the rail 
station at Blakedown.  
 
As outlined in the paper “Transport 
Demand in Hagley” traffic is currently 
passing through Hagley to access jobs in 
Black Country and Birmingham, attracted 
by the car parking and train options at 
Stourbridge Junction in particular. 
Investment in Blakedown station provides 
the facility to capture some of this demand 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



18 
 

congestion in Hagley. It could be argued 
that improving the A450 corridor 
without complementary improvements 
on the Hagley area just allows the 
congestion to get to Hagley quicker. It is 
of interest to BDC to understand the 
amount of congestion that 
improvements at Blakedown will relieve 
in Hagley, and also the process which has 
been undertaken to identify this 
reduction. 

prior to Hagley, thereby reducing 
congestion.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

Duty to Co-operate 
 
11. The above paragraphs largely 
reiterate the concerns that BDC has over 
the robustness of evidence base to 
support the plan. BDC considers it has 
engaged fully in the attempts to ensure 
that the DTC has been met. As 
highlighted above these evidence related 
issues are longstanding concerns that 
BDC has expressed many times. It had 
been hoped that early engagement 
initiated by BDC in May 2018, where 
concerns were expressed about the 
evidence base that was being worked on 
to support the previous publication 
version on the WFLP, would have 
ensured that no objection needed to be 
submitted at that time; unfortunately 
that was not the case, and the Councils 
previous objection was submitted. 

It is disappointing that BDC continues to 
object to the WFDC Local Plan. WFDC and 
WCC have held numerous DtC meetings 
with BDC to try to resolve the issues with 
them and further technical transport work 
has been produced as a result.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

12. As referred to above in an attempt to 
ensure constructive engagement, 
meetings took place in February and 
March 2019, where a set of actions were 
agreed by all parties which it hoped 
would result in a robust evidence base 
which addresses the concerns of BDC. 
The work which was prepared as a result 
of these discussions was only seen by 
BDC in June 2019. 

Numerous joint DtC meetings have been 
held with BDC to discuss the WF Local Plan 
and the transport implications (part 4 of 
this SofCG lists the dates of the DtC 
meetings held). The minutes of the DtC 
meeting held on 13th March 2019 state 
clearly in the second action that WCC 
would prepare the transport evidence by 
June 2019. The final minutes of the 
meeting were agreed by all. Duty to co-
operate is not one sided – there is a duty 
to co-operate by all parties. 
 

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

13. In June 2019 WFDC published the 
local plan documents as part of its 
Overview and Scrutiny agenda for the 
meeting of 4th July 2019. On initial 
review of these documents BDC again 
expressed concerns that this evidence 

During the DtC meeting held on 30th July, a 
next meeting date was suggested 
(pencilled in) for 29th August 2019, 
however when the WFDC officer checked 
their calendar following the meeting, it was 
realised that the suggested meeting date 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



19 
 

still does not address the longstanding 
issue of clarity of the developments 
impacts. It was agreed that a DTC 
meeting needed to take place. This 
meeting took place on the 30th July 2019, 
at this meeting a set of actions were 
agreed which would provide BDC the 
information it sought, in particular the 
impacts of development on the Hagley 
area. It was agreed that this information 
should be provided for the 29th August 
2019, prior to the representation period 
on the publication version of the plan 
opening. A meeting was pencilled in to 
discuss this additional work on the 29th 
August 2019. Subsequent to this meeting 
it is understood that WFDC contacted 
WCC separately to request that the work 
is not provided for the 29th August as 
agreed, minutes of that meeting confirm 
this; 
 
Following on from this meeting WFDC 
reviewed the proposed meeting date for 
discussion of Hagley paper and next 
steps (29th August). They concluded that 
as there was not time for them to review 
all the information in advance of the 
regulation 19 consultation, they would 
rather the meeting was postponed until 
late September to allow more time for 
the paper to be prepared and reviewed 
and the consultation to commence. 

would not be possible. Also, as the lead 
officer from WFDC was going to be away 
on annual leave for over two weeks before 
this suggested meeting date, it was felt 
that there was not sufficient time available 
for any further technical documents to be 
checked thoroughly before being published 
for the pre-submission consultation start 
date of 2nd September 2019. WFDC 
therefore does not think it was in anyway 
unreasonable to delay the meeting date 
and to allow more time for WCC to 
produce the additional technical work that 
was being requested by BDC. Also, as BDC 
had not put in writing what their latest 
concerns were with the WFDC transport 
evidence, it was considered prudent to 
request BDC to put their concerns formally 
in writing by responding to the 
consultation (see Appendix 5). As this 
additional technical work, which became 
known as ‘the Hagley Paper’, was being 
prepared as a background Paper to this 
SofCG, it was not considered necessary for 
it to be consulted on during the regulation 
19 consultation. The documents for 
consultation had already been agreed by 
WFDC Members at a Cabinet meeting held 
on 16th July 2019 and therefore the Hagley 
Paper would have been a new document 
not agreed by WFDC Members. It is for 
WFDC to decide what it publishes and what 
it does not publish for its regulation 19 
consultation; it is not a decision to be 
made by BDC. The Hagley Paper was not a 
document commissioned by WFDC but 
rather a document that was produced by 
WCC in response to the BDC objections to 
the WFDC Local Plan. The Hagley Paper 
therefore is a background paper to this 
SofCG and can be viewed in Appendix 6. 
 
The quote in para 13 of the BDC response 
has been taken from a ‘draft’ of the 
meeting minutes which had not been 
written or agreed by WFDC. It was 
therefore unhelpful of BDC to include this 
‘draft’ paragraph in their response to the 
WF Local Plan and subsequently publish it 
into the public domain. In WFDC’s view, 
this approach taken by BDC is not in the 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



20 
 

spirit of ‘duty to co-operate’. 
 

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

14. On receiving notification on the 
minute above BDC requested a further 
amendment was made to the minutes as 
below: 
 
BDC must point out on the record that 
the reason for the timescale was to allow 
for all the documents to be available for 
the start of the representations period. 
We have reservations about this revised 
timescale for the publication of the work 
and the possible implication that BDC 
and other stakeholders will not have full 
access to the evidence for the full 
duration of the regulation 19 
representation period. 

The ‘Transport Demand in the Hagley Area’ 
is a background paper to this Statement of 
Common Ground. It was produced and 
published by WCC in response to the BDC 
objection to the WF Local Plan and 
following the numerous joint DtC meetings 
WFDC and WCC have held with BDC.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

15. At the time of writing this 
representation the information which 
was agreed on the meeting of the 29th 
July has still not been provided, and 
therefore this objection has been 
drafted. 

Objection noted. This in itself shows that 
the Hagley Paper could not have been 
produced in the timescales demanded by 
BDC. As further transport modelling work 
needed to be undertaken by WCC, the first 
draft of the paper was only made available 
to WFDC in late December 2019 with the 
final version being published by WCC on 
13th February 2020. A draft of the paper 
was made available to BDC on 6th January 
2020, before the DtC meeting being held 
on 7th January at which WCC presented the 
main findings of the paper to BDC. BDC 
were given the opportunity to comment on 
the draft paper before WCC published the 
final version on their website on 13th 
February 2020. BDC commented both at 
the DtC meeting and in a subsequent email 
and phone call with WCC on 8th January 
2020. WFDC were not sent this email and 
were not party to the phone call 
conversation on 8th January 2020.  

BDC  
(2019 
response) 

Concluding comments: 
 
16. BDC continues to raise concerns 
about the lack of a robust evidence base 
and, also unfortunately raises potential 
concerns about the ability of WFDC to 
meet the DTC. It is hoped that working 
within the relevant regulations which 
dictate the plan making process from 
this point forward, and by continuing to 
engage with Wyre Forest District Council 

It is important to note that WFDC and WCC 
are in agreement and have cooperated 
effectively with each other during these 
joint DtC meetings. WCC is the highway 
authority and is content with the WF Local 
Plan and the transport evidence base 
(which they prepared). WCC and WFDC do 
not consider that the Local Plan will 
compromise highway safety in Bromsgrove 
District or have severe impacts on the 
transport network. No specific mitigation is 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



21 
 

and Worcestershire County Council, that 
a solution to the issues above can be 
found in advance of the submission of 
the Wyre Forest Local Plan. The 
outcomes of this ongoing engagement 
can then be reported in the Statement of 
Common ground which we understand 
will accompany the submission. 

therefore required in Bromsgrove District 
as a result of the WF Local Plan. Efforts 
have been made by both WFDC and WCC 
to reach agreement with BDC through the 
DtC process.  
 
At a Full Council meeting on 20th February 
2020 WFDC Members agreed to submit the 
Local Plan (2016-2036) to the Secretary of 
State for the purposes of examination, 
including all the supporting evidence base 
documents. This shows that WFDC 
Members have agreed an appropriate 
strategy for Wyre Forest District for the 
Local Plan review and consider the plan to 
be ‘sound’ for the purposes of 
examination. 
 
It is unfortunate that BDC are still objecting 
to the Local Plan; however the matter of 
determining an ‘appropriate strategy’ is for 
WFDC to decide.  
 
With regard to Hagley, WCC acknowledge 
that works undertaken to mitigate recent 
development in the village have not had 
the desired impact of easing traffic flows 
and are part of the ongoing works which 
are being developed and implemented to 
address this issue.  
 
The evidence provided by WCC (the 
highways authority for both districts) 
shows that the impact from the WF Local 
Plan on Hagley will be minimal. 
 
WFDC therefore conclude that there is 
neither a soundness issue nor a duty to co-
operate failing on their part.  

 

 

7) Other Strategic Matters discussed at Duty to Cooperate meetings 

As WFDC is a green belt local authority, the question of whether neighbouring local authorities can 

help to meet the housing need for Wyre Forest in the emerging and future local plans needs to be 

considered. Bromsgrove District Council is currently reviewing its District Plan which includes a 

Green Belt review. BDC forms part of the Greater Birmingham and Black Country Housing Market 

Area (GBBCHMA). Policy BDP4 in the adopted Bromsgrove Local Plan states that a Local Plan review, 

including a full Green Belt review, will be undertaken before 2023 and will “identify land to help 

deliver the objectively assessed housing requirements of the West Midlands conurbation”.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



22 
 

The emerging WFDC Local Plan is intending to accommodate all of its housing need within its own 

district area; however this will involve some green belt release which will need to be considered at 

examination stage by the Planning Inspector.  

 

8) Governance Arrangements 

The governance arrangements are key to the effectiveness and implementation of the Statement of 

Common Ground. The table below sets out the requirements for the authorities involved. 

Local Authority Method of Approval 

Wyre Forest District Council SofCG to be signed off by Corporate Director for 
Economic Prosperity and Place 

Worcestershire County Council SofCG to be signed off Strategic Director for 
Economy and Infrastructure  

 

Bromsgrove District Council SofCG to be agreed by BDC Council Leader 
following consideration by the full Council  

 

9) Timetable for agreement 

The table below sets out the timetable arrangement for the Statement of Common Ground to be 

agreed. 

Local Authority Timetable for approval 

Wyre Forest District Council SofCG to be signed off by Corporate Director for 
Economic Prosperity and Place 

Worcestershire County Council SofCG to be signed off by Strategic Director for 
Economy and Infrastructure 

Bromsgrove District Council 17th June 2020 Council Meeting  

 

10) Areas of Agreement  

The parties agree that: 

i) WFDC has fulfilled its Duty to Cooperate with BDC. 

ii) WFDC has fulfilled its Duty to Cooperate with WCC. 

iii) WFDC is satisfied that all matters raised in the BDC representation to the WFDC Local 

Plan Review (2016-2036) have been considered and addressed. 

iv) WCC is satisfied that all matters raised in the BDC representation to the WFDC Local Plan 

Review (2016-2036) have been considered and addressed. 

v) BDC is satisfied that all matters raised in its representations to the WFDC Local Plan 

Review (2016-2036) have been considered.  

vi) The parties will continue to work positively together, including with other authorities 

where relevant on strategic cross boundary issues.  

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



23 
 

11) Conclusions  

 

In an effort to produce a tripartite agreement, officers from WFDC, WCC and BDC have met on a 

number of occasions, under the Duty to Cooperate, in an effort to ensure that all areas of 

disagreement have been addressed. WFDC has had to reluctantly accept that full agreement with 

BDC is not going to be reached, despite there being agreement between WFDC and WCC. 

12) Signatories 

 

This Statement of Common Ground has been agreed and signed by the following:- 

Worcestershire County Council 
 
 
Name: ____Nigel Hudson_________________ 
 
Position: __Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy________ 
 

Date agreed: _____30 April 2020___________ 
Signature: ___________________________ 
 
 

Wyre Forest District Council 
 
 
Name: ___Mike Parker_______ ________ 
 
Position: _Corporate Director:  Economic 
Prosperity & Place___________ 
 
Date agreed: ___30th April_2020 
 
Signature: ___________________________ 
 
 

Bromsgrove District Council 
 
 
Name: _____________________________ 
 
Position: ___________________________ 
 
Date agreed: ________________________ 
 
Signature: ___________________________ 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



24 
 

Appendices 

 

 Appendix 1 – Joint Duty to Cooperate Meeting Minutes between WFDC, WCC and BDC 

 

 Appendix 2 – BDC response to the WFDC Preferred Options consultation (June – Aug 2017) 

 

 Appendix 3 – BDC response to the WFDC Pre-Submission Consultation (Nov / Dec 2018) 

 

 Appendix 4 – BDC response to the WFDC re-opening of the Pre-Submission Consultation (Sept / 

Oct 2019) 

 

 Appendix 5 – Letters 

 

 Appendix 6 – Background Paper: Transport Demand in the Hagley Area (January 2020) 

www.worcestershire.gov.uk/LTP  

Page 44

Agenda Item 5

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/LTP


MONTHLY HIGHWAYS MEETING 
 
30 MAY 2018 
 
BDC/RBC Ruth Bamford, Mike Dunphy, Kevin Dicks 
WCC Andy Baker, Steve Hawley, Emily Barker, Martin Rowe 
NWEDR   Jon Elmer 
WFDC   Daniel Atiyah 
Highways England  Chris Cox (JMP), Patricia Dray 
Mott MacDonald  Oliver Hague, Paresh Shingadia 
    
 
In Attendance  Barbara Newman (mins) 
 
Apologies:   Nigel Hudson, Matt Stanczyszyn, Karen Hanchett 
 
Introduction and Apologies 
 
Introductions given and apologies noted as above. 
 
1 Actions from Previous Meeting 
 

1. Provide WCC recommendation on Whitford Road Scheme – Steve Hawley (SH) 
 advised that decision issued 29 May 2018.  
 
2. Provide draft agenda for Transport workshop – on agenda later to discuss. 
 
3. Co-ordinate workshop – on agenda later to discuss. 
 
4. Provide note on Local Infrastructure Rate – AB advised still outstanding and follow-up 

after meeting.  It is possibly still being looked at from a financial prospective.  It was 
agreed a note would be issued by Wednesday of next week (6th June).   

 
5. Provide Overview and Scrutiny Response – Some outstanding matters – on agenda 

later to discuss 
 
6. Response to Hagley PC – MD to send to AB by next week. MR has provided Hagley 

PC the data. 
 
7. Invite Wyre Forest to next meeting – Daniel Thailand invited.     
 
 

2. Emerging Wyre Forest Plan evidence base 
 

Mike Dunphy (MD) stated Bromsgrove have raised concerns regarding development in 
plans on Western side of district which will affect Bromsgrove.  MD asked what the 
implications were and asked for an understanding of what was being developed between 
Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC) and Worcestershire County Council (WCC).  There 
was possibly information that could be shared.  Kevin Dicks (KD) asked how much 
impact there would be.  MD asked when any details of the implications of the sites would 
be available.  KD asked would there be a different site if it was infrastructure led.  Martin 
Rowe (MR) stated after an economy collapse i.e. carpet industry it can take some time 
for regeneration.  Some of the growth would be transferred to rail because of plans for 
the station.  MD asked where the evidence was that Bromsgrove would not be affected if 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5

GillP
Typewritten text
Appendix 1



the proposed rail plans are facts.  It was stated that such options for people working from 
home would also help.  MD again asked for a list of strategies and evidence that these 
plans will work.  KD asked why on the east rather than west.  MR stated the railway 
station was on that side of the town.  Paresh Shingadia (PS) requested sight of a 
strategic document from a transport prospective.  MR stated there was capacity on rail to 
accommodate.  Emily Barker (EB) said there was an IDP which had been out to 
consultation and was now being refined.  Steve Hawley (SH) said although information is 
not all there it was at the stage of being refined.  PS stated the issue was that were these 
the correct locations and shouldn’t the transport be looked at first.  Local impacts need to 
be understood.  MR stated that economy issues need to be included.  MD stated this is 
why we need to look at transport and then location.  Jon Elmer (JE) stated that there was 
a lot of work to be done but evidence needed to come out into the public domain.  
Inspector would be asking questions.  Members need to be satisfied that there would be 
no impact.  EB said once we had the modelling it would be beneficial to discuss this with 
Bromsgrove.  SH stated options would be going to WFDC.  Dan Atiyah (DT) advised that 
he understood that a report would be going to WFDC members on12th June.  It was 
agreed to keep this as a standing agenda item and in the meantime any information 
would be appreciated.  Invite to future meetings was extended to whoever wanted to 
attend WFDC.  EB also agreed to speak to WFDC and ask if the IDP could be shared 
with Bromsgrove.    
 ACTION 1: EB 

3. Transport Assessments – Perryfields and Whitford Road 
 
Whitford Road – SH  Whitford Road is now in                by Steve Hawley.   
 
Perryfields Road – This is the next one on the list and likely to be a lot of repetition from 
Whitford Road.  It was stated that Whitford Road would probably submit quite a lot of 
information.  Ruth Bamford (RB) asked Mott McDonald (MMcD) the timescale and Oliver 
Hague (OH) stated awaiting new work which had been done.  Want to see that what 
comes back from Perryfields does not affect accumulative assessment.  Some of 
junctions may need to be revisited.  Again only have WCC comments on Perryfields.  
Developers still carrying out work requested.  MMcD to follow up on revised work taking 
place and this may highlight impacts on network.  RB agreed date of 21 June for WCC 
comments .  RB will manage developers’ expectations.   
 ACTION 2: SH 
 

4. BDC Plan Review Evidence Base / Transport Strategy 
 
MD asked how we collect evidence for Bromsgrove.  AB stated could firstly investigate 
because of what this exercise might cost.  MD said yes that would be useful but what do 
we already know.  Evidence beyond the options stage was required.  MR stated rail 
capacity now being reviewed and this could be briefed.  MD suggested MR put all 
transport information we need and then we can carry forward with a workshop.  MMcD 
was looking for a spreadsheet and then to model level, perhaps using the BARHAM 
model as a base.  SH stated if including things such as extra lane on M5 the BARHAM 
would not be useful.  RB stated it would be useful to have a timetable for the next 12 
months.  MR and AB stated they could provide outline of the work required. Patsy Dray 
(PD) suggested looking at Regional Traffic models.  PD and Chris Cox (CC) also asked 
to provide any information they had.  CC said a spreadsheet is a quick approach.   
 
PD commented on the roadworks and how route was set for safety reasons and once 
been analysed may change but at the moment staying as it is.  DP to get 
update/statistics.  RB asked for timetable for work to be done and it was agreed before 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5



the next meeting.  There would be a monthly update relevant to that timetable.  
Discussions took place regarding costs and who could support these.   
 ACTION 3:  AB/MR 
                                                                                                          ACTION 4:  PD/CC 
 

5. BDC plan review Issues and options 
 

 MD stated by the end of the day there would be a final version for members.  MD to send 
Plan to AB for review and feedback by the end of next week.  

  ACTION 5: MD 
 ACTION 6: AB 

 
6. Overview and Scrutiny WCC response and Western Distributor 
 
 RB asked if WCC have any comments or feedback from Karen or Ken.  RB stated draft 

minutes were not out yet.  Discussions on the MMcD and JMP report.  It was stated that 
there were some matters that County may want to answer.  Need to know what happens 
next.  A response to the Motts report but there was no timescale.  AB said feedback 
would be by the end of next week (8th June).  MD also asked for the O & S response.  RB 
asked if AB will let RB know how to tackle. AB was advised that the next O&S meeting 
was 18 June.   

  ACTION 7: AB 
 
7. Future Infrastructure Plan  
 
 EB stated the only activity since last session with WPOG (??) and LEP.  Completed 

session with the LEP Board Members and anything significant that came out of 
discussion.  Worcester City had submitted some additional information for 5 years hence.  
Currently pulling this together with more structure and would be ready for leaders in July.   

 
8. HM Treasury – Local Infrastructure Rate 
 
 Nothing to report in Nigel Hudson’s absence, but note to be issued on 6th June 
            ACTION 8: AB/HN 
 
9. A38 Major Scheme Bid Update 
 
 AB stated not much of an update.  Looking further at designing with certain costs 

incurred at network and continuing current work.  Awaiting information from HIF (Housing 
Infrastructure Fund).  J Elmer waiting update.  MD asked with regards to the technical 
work what date do we get something to look at ie. business case.  AB to share all 
information held   

            ACTION 9: AB 
 
10. Highways England Update 
 
 PD – V2 Strategic road network consultation and waiting response from DCT but will not 

be received until June/July.  Unlikely to have locations for schemes.   
 
9. AOB 

 KD stated strategic workshop outstanding but MD raised that waiting on 
information.  To be included in timetable.  Also should be a WFDC event.  MD 
offered to discuss with WFDC. 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



 
Next meeting: 2 July 2018 
 
Actions from this meeting 

Action  Who  Deadline 

1. Contact WFDC to ask if IDP work can be 
shared 

EB ASAP 

2. Provide formal comments on Perryfields 
Application 

SH 21st June 

3. Provide outline of data held and data 
required for the Transport evidence base and 
draft scope of work required for the next 12 
months.  

AB/MR 22nd June 

4. Highways England to provide any data 
they hold 

PD/CC 22nd June 

5. Circulate draft issues and options to WCC MD Done on the 31st May 

6. Respond with any final comments AB/EB 8th June 

7. feedback on the Western Distrbutor report 
and the O&S issues 

AB 8th June 

8. Provide update note on Local 
Infrastructure rate 

AB/NH 6th June 

9. Info of A38 business case to be shared to 
with all 

AB ASAP 

   

 
 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5



Duty to Cooperate Meeting – WFDC/WCC/BDC 

6th February, 2019 
 

Attendees: 

 

Mike Dunphy – Bromsgrove DC 

Helen Smith – Wyre Forest DC 

Emily Barker – Worcestershire CC 

Martin Rowe – Worcestershire CC 

 

Apologies: 

 

Karen Hanchett – Worcestershire CC 

 

ISSUES, DISCUSSION AND ACTIONS 

 

ISSUE DISCUSSION ACTIONS 

Duty to Cooperate with 

Other LPAs (Black 

Country, South Worcs 

etc.) 

HS asked whether BDC are 

engaging with Black Country on 

duty to cooperate, and in 

particular on transport issues 

relating to Hagley and Lydiate Ash 

(M5, Junction 4) this reassurance 

will be required by WFDC elected 

members. 

 

MD stated that Black Country are 

further back in the process, but 

that BDC has commenced 

engagement through the Black 

Country DtC meetings. BDC has 

raised similar infrastructure issues 

as part of this early engagement 

WCC are also involved in this 

process and will1̀z continue to 

engage.  

 

EB provided clarity on approach 

in SWDP area, strongly rail-led 

growth, pending call for sites (end 

of March for site confirmation 

which will be in public domain 

over the summer). 

 

X 

Policy 12 and 13 - 

Schemes that are in the 

Bromsgrove DC does not 

understand the evidence and 

 

ACTION - WCC to prepare 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



IDP and evidence that 

supports them. (Hagley 

Area, Mustow Green and 

Torton) 

believes there is a lack of 

evidence.  

 

Need to see a robust evidence 

base to justify investment in 

infrastructure to mitigate the 

impacts of proposed growth to 

remove objection. 

 

The emerging STEB will provide a 

more robust evidence base, and 

may flag up issues that haven't 

been dealt with, which must be 

addressed, but this will not 

complete until June 2019. 

 

Traffic modelling is underway to 

test the impacts of proposed 

development growth (WFLP).  

 

Lack of sustainable transport 

infrastructure and services is a 

key threat to delivering 

sustainable growth in the Wyre 

Forest (and other areas of 

Worcestershire). 

 

  

a WFLP-specific transport 

evidence base. 

 

ACTION - WCC to explore 

whether it can fund model 

runs for both a 'with' and 

'without 'Blakedown Station, 

aligned with impacts on 

WFLP growth. 

 

ACTION - WCC/WFDC to 

meet to discuss 

development of Blakedown 

Station initially and 

potential follow up with 

developer (tbc following 

discussion)   

 

ACTION – WCC to provide 

BDC/WFDC with WFLP 

traffic modelling scoping 

paper  

 

ACTION – WCC to provide 

'fit-for-purpose statement' 

on Wyre Forest Transport 

Model to BDC and WFDC. 

This will be provided as 

part of the official response 

(May 2019) 

 

ACTION – WCC to clarify 

WFLP modelling and 

evidence base timescales, 

expected costs and liaison 

protocol between WFDC, 

WCC and Jacobs by 14th 

February.  

 

ACTION – WCC to ensure 

modelling reports MUST be 

fully quality assured and 

written in a way that it is 

easy to understand and 

interpret by Officers, 

Councillors and the Public.  

 

INFORMATION – WCC will 

undertake validatory check 

(model runs) to test the 

benefits of proposed 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5



mitigation measures set out 

in the IDP.   

 

ACTION - WCC to clarify 

how mitigation measures 

specified in the IDP will be 

costed.  

The need to provide 

reassurance of 

agreement to members 

(WFDC, WCC, BDC) to 

maintain plan 

development programme.  

 At Reg. 19 consultation, DtC 

/ Statement of Common 

Ground approach should be 

signed off by senior 

politicians / or approved at 

Cabinet. Given lead in times 

this may be difficult, so will 

need to agree a formal 

process which outlines that 

this will happen and 

provides the necessary 

narrative for signing off 

subsequently to tackle 

concerns and fit with 

proposed LDP preparation 

timescales. 

 

WFDC agreed to share sites 

etc. on a confidential basis 

with officers only from 

BDC/WCC.  

 

 

Next meeting: 

 

13th March 2019 at 13:00 

Worcester Room 

County Hall, Worcester, WR5 2NP  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



Duty to Cooperate Meeting – WFDC/WCC/BDC 

13th March, 2019 
 

Attendees: 

 

Helen Smith, Spatial Planning Manager – Wyre Forest DC 

Kate Bailey, Head of Strategic Growth – Wyre Forest DC 

Mike Dunphy, Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager – Bromsgrove DC 

Karen Hanchett, Devt. Mgmt. and Transport Planning – Worcestershire CC  

Martin Rowe, Transport Strategy – Worcestershire CC 

 

Apologies: 

 

Emily Barker, Planning Services Manager – Worcestershire CC 

 

ISSUES, DISCUSSION AND ACTIONS 

 

ISSUE DISCUSSION ACTIONS 

Duty to Cooperate with 

Other LPAs (Black 

Country, South Worcs 

etc.) 

Clarification that both Bromsgrove 

DC and Wyre Forest DC are 

engaging actively with 

neighbouring LPAs, and specifically 

the Black Country LPAs. 

 

Engagement with 

neighbouring LPAs to 

continue, and in particular 

with Black Country LPAs 

regarding transport issues 

around M5, Junction 4.  

Transport Evidence, 

including traffic 

modelling 

WCC confirmed that modelling of 

WFDC proposed growth includes a 

'with' and 'without' enhanced 

Blakedown Station scenario, and 

A450 and A456 strategic transport 

corridors.   

 

 

  

ACTION - WCC to prepare 

a WFLP-specific strategic 

transport evidence base. 

(June 2019) 

 

ACTION – WCC to provide 

'fit-for-purpose statement' 

on Wyre Forest Transport 

Model to BDC and WFDC. 

This will be provided as 

part of the official response 

(May 2019)  

 

ACTION - WCC to clarify 

how mitigation measures 

specified in the IDP will be 

costed.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5



 

The need to provide 

reassurance of 

agreement to members 

(WFDC, WCC, BDC) to 

maintain plan 

development programme.  

DtC / Statement of Common 

Ground approach should be 

signed off by senior politicians / 

or approved at Cabinet. Given 

lead in times this may be difficult, 

so will need to agree a formal 

process which outlines that this 

will happen and provides the 

necessary narrative for signing off 

subsequently to tackle concerns 

and fit with proposed LDP 

preparation timescales. 

 

Bromsgrove DC's current objection 

to WF Local Plan proposals is 

focussed on transport grounds 

aligned with site allocations. It is 

WFDC's aim to allocate all 

housing growth within the District, 

but if transport evidence should 

prove that this policy is 

unsustainable and Bromsgrove 

maintain their objection, WFDC will 

need to explore alternative 

locations to accommodate 

planned growth. In light of this, 

WFDC asked if Bromsgrove DC 

would be willing to take some of 

their housing growth need, for 

current and/or future WF Local 

Plan Reviews, given that Wyre 

Forest, like Bromsgrove is largely 

designated as Green Belt. 

 

 

ACTION - Statement of 

Common Ground to be 

prepared by WFDC, 

Bromsgrove DC and 

Worcestershire CC, to 

include response over 

willingness (or otherwise) to 

share growth.  

 

 
 
 

 

 

Next meeting: 

 

Mid-June 2019 – Date to be confirmed via e-mail and circulated.   

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



 

 

WFDC / BDC. WCC Duty to Co-operate Meeting  
30

th
 July 2019  

 
Present: 
 
Helen Smith  
Karen Hanchett  
Martin Rowe  
Mike Dunphy 
Emily Barker  
 
 
Progress of WFDC Local Plan  
 
Plan approved by Cabinet on 16

th
 July 2019 for pre-submission consultation 2

nd
 

September- 14
th
 October 2019. 

Expecting to submit to the Inspectorate in March 2020.  
 
Plan now includes the allocation of land at Blakedown Station for mixed use; car parking 
and housing development.  
 
Unless additional evidence is provided, based on the current evidence BDC is  
expecting to maintain its position that  the  WFDC local plan is unsound, primarily on 
transport grounds because of the potential impact on Hagley which is in BDC area.  
WCC are not currently proposing a further scheme at Hagley beyond that proposed in 
LTP4, as given the likely impact of plan revisions in both BDC and Black Country core 
strategy, would prefer to wait until there is more certainty before proposing any scheme 
which could offset wider issues given the strategic location of Hagley and potential 
impacts beyond Hayley and onto the M5 junctions 4 and 3.  
 
WCC preference to address this through Statement of Common Ground / Duty to 
Cooperate.  
 
BDC raised a potential additional policy requirement in the WFDC local plan which 
restricts either the quantum of growth or the sites which could come forward in advance 
of any further scheme at Hagley. WFDC do not support this. WCC do not believe that 
transport modelling evidence could be used to evidence a cut off figure or set of sites.  
 
 
Transport evidence base 
 
Discussion on the following aspects of the transport evidence base: 
 

Modelling evidence base  Discussion  Action  

   

Base line of modelling  Not evident in paper  Agreed to revise document 
to show the baseline  

Hagley    Impact of WFDC 
development, points of 
discussion:  

 

 1. VISSIM model for Hagley 
junctions currently testing 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5



 

 

NEST 6 proposals from 
LTP4 to address growth in 
adopted plans, In progress 
to complete by the end of 
August  

 2. Containment of WFDC 
growth within the district 

 

 3. Transit through WFDC 
from rural west / Shropshire 
towards M5 and 
conurbation  

 

 4. Role of expansion of 
Blakedown station car 
parking 

 

 Combine all the Hagley evidence  (1-4 above) and 
information into a single paper to be shared  

 Discussion and next steps 
for Hagley including 
scheme design  

Not fully resolved; to be 
discussed further at next 
meeting following 
completion of the paper  

A450 proposals  No further work identified   

Blakedown station No further work identified   

 
 
Date of next meeting 
Date to be confirmed  
Time to be confirmed 
Venue to be confirmed 
 
It was agreed at the meeting that a Statement of Common Ground would be prepared 
jointly between WFDC, WCC and BDC before the examination of the WFDC Local Plan 
commences 
 
Discussion subsequent to the meeting  
 
WFDC  
Following the meeting, WFDC reviewed the proposed meeting date for discussion of 
Hagley paper and next steps (29

th
 August). They concluded that as there was not time 

for them to review all the information in advance of the regulation 19 consultation, 
(commencing 2

nd
 September 2019) they would rather the meeting was postponed to 

allow more time for the Hagley paper to be prepared and  for WFDC to review. .  
 
BDC  
BDC must point out on the record that the reason for the timescale was to allow for all 
the documents to be available for the start of the representations period. We have 
reservations about this revised timescale for the publication of the work and the possible 
implication that BDC and other stakeholders will not have full access to the evidence for 
the full duration of the regulation 19 representation period. 
 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



Duty to Co-operate Meeting Minutes 

Date of Meeting:   1st October 2019 

Type:   Telephone Conference call 

Attendance 

Kate Bailey (KB) - Head of Strategic Growth, Wyre Forest District Council 

Helen Smith (HS) - Spatial Planning Manager, Wyre Forest District Council 

Martin Rowe (MR)-Transport Strategy Team Leader, Worcestershire County Council  

Emily Barker (EB) – Head of Planning and Regulation, Worcestershire County Council 

Ruth Bamford (RB) – Head of Planning and Regeneration, Bromsgrove District Council 

Mike Dunphy (MD) - Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager, Bromsgrove District Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



Record of meeting notes: 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
From: Kate Bailey 
Sent: 22 October 2019 17:12 
To: 'Michael Dunphy' 
Cc: 

Subject: 
 
Hi Mike 
I am not really sure what your point is. I included the basic description so we could distinguish it 
from other pieces of work the County may have done but weren’t discussed however if you want it 
removed then we can just keep a record of this strikethrough and email chain.  
I haven’t asked Jo Lange to arrange a date yet. 
Thanks 
Kate 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Hi Kate / Helen 
 
Are you able to confirm if you are happy with the amendment we have suggested, and also 
as yet we’ve not heard anything about the meeting for November, is this being progressed at 
your end? 
 
Thanks 
 
Mike 
 
Mike Dunphy 
Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager 
Bromsgrove District and Redditch Borough Councils 

Bromsgrove District Council                           Redditch Borough Council 
Parkside                                                          Town Hall 
Market Street,                                                 Walter Stranz Square 
Bromsgrove,                                                   Redditch 
Worcestershire                                                Worcestershire 
B61 8DA                                                         B98 8AH 
 
www.bromsgrove.gov.uk                               www.redditchbc.gov.uk 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/
http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/


From: Michael Dunphy  

Sent: 11 October 2019 10:44 

 
Hi Kate  
 
Slight revision to the comments below, rather than this being considered as the key points of 
what was discussed, we consider it as being the actions that were agreed, as there was 
more discussion than has been summarised below, to that end we suggest deleting the 
strikethrough text as it is only a very partial summary of what the work is, the key point being 
the WCC will share the work. 
 

         Martin Rowe outlined the piece of work the County Council had undertaken with regards to 
Hagley which highlighted  trip generations from beyond Wyre Forest District. Worcestershire 
County Council would share this document with us all once available 

         RB suggested we would need to extend the WFDC consultation period and KB agreed to 
seek legal advice regarding this. The Barrister and Solicitor have subsequently concluded the 
consultation doesn’t need to be extended. 

         In the circumstances that the document wouldn’t be available by close of play on 14th RB 
agreed BDC would have to do a holding response to the consultation and KB / HS felt it 
would then be reasonable to continue the discussions around this and other issues through 
the DTC meetings as WFDC were keen to have the statements of common ground in place 
(where possible) by February 

         KB would ask Jo Lange to arrange a DTC meeting for November with BDC / WCC and WFDC 
 
Thanks 
 
Mike 
 
Mike Dunphy 
Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager 
Bromsgrove District and Redditch Borough Councils 

Bromsgrove District Council                           Redditch Borough Council 
Parkside                                                          Town Hall 
Market Street,                                                 Walter Stranz Square 
Bromsgrove,                                                   Redditch 
Worcestershire                                                Worcestershire 
B61 8DA                                                         B98 8AH 
 
www.bromsgrove.gov.uk                               www.redditchbc.gov.uk 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
From: Ruth Bamford  
Sent: 10 October 2019 21:14 

To: Michael Dunphy 

Subject: FW: Duty to Co-operate meetings 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/
http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/


_______________________________________________________________________________ 

From: Kate Baile

Sent: 10 Oct 2019 17:31 

Hi Ruth 
I agreed during our conversation to write some brief notes and send them to you. Please send them 
on to Mike for me. 
  

         Martin Rowe outlined the piece of work the County Council had undertaken with regards to 
Hagley which highlighted  trip generations from beyond Wyre Forest District. Worcestershire 
County Council would share this document with us all once available 

         RB suggested we would need to extend the WFDC consultation period and KB agreed to 
seek legal advice regarding this. The Barrister and Solicitor have subsequently concluded the 
consultation doesn’t need to be extended. 

         In the circumstances that the document wouldn’t be available by close of play on 14th RB 
agreed BDC would have to do a holding response to the consultation and KB / HS felt it 
would then be reasonable to continue the discussions around this and other issues through 
the DTC meetings as WFDC were keen to have the statements of common ground in place 
(where possible) by February 

         KB would ask Jo Lange to arrange a DTC meeting for November with BDC / WCC and WFDC 
  
Please advise me if you don’t feel this is a summary of the key points discussed in the meeting. 
Thanks 
Kate 

Kate Bailey 
Head of Strategic Growth 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



DUTY TO CO-OPERATE MEETING 
 
14 November 2019 
 
BDC/RBC Ruth Bamford, Mike Dunphy, Gemma Hawkesford, Kevin Dicks (for 

last few minutes) 
WCC    Karen Hanchett, Emily Barker, Martin Rowe 
WFDC   Helen Smith 
 
Apologies:   Kate Bailey 
 
 
 Introduction and Apologies 
 
1. BDC’s reg 19 Representations 
 
 Ruth Bamford (RB) opened the meeting and explained due to weather conditions the 

meeting would be condensed to 30 mins but with the view to reconvening at a future 
date.  Two variations of the agenda had been submitted and the BDC agenda would be 
used for this meeting. 

 
 Mike Dunphy (MD) – MD advised that as WFDC do not respond as such to the 

representations made BDC are seeking clarity or whether there are issues that are 
fundamentally disagreed upon in the 2 different representations made.  

 
 Helen Smith (HS) – HS advised that this would be dealt with as part of the process of 

Statement of Common Ground and until the Hagley paper had been seen it was difficult 
to say.   

 
 Emily Barker (EB) – Clear as to what BDC were asking and believed it had been picked 

up in paper from both representations.  EB offered to send an email outlining what was 
outstanding.   

 
   ACTION: EB 

to send email 
 
2. WFDC’s Submission Timetable 
  
 Ruth Bamford (RB) asked HS about the timetable.  HS advised timetable was not 

changing.  It was also asked if it would be WCC submitting the additional work to the 
Inspectorate.  EB advised that WCC would submit any additional transport information  to 
Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC) and it was then WFDC to decide on the next steps.  
HS advised that permission would be sought from members only if it believes the work is 
relevant to the WFDC local plan.  MD stated that it had to be used one way or another by 
BDC and therefore would be part of the examination.  HS stated this could not be 
confirmed until papers read from a WFDC perspective.  MD reiterated that the work 
would need to be submitted as would be referenced in the Statement of Common 
Ground.  

 The Inspectorate is  aware of the timetable and submission from WFDC in which will be  
March/April next year.  

 
3. Additional Transport Work 
 

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



 MD queried the role of  Jacobs and work that there were undertaking. Clarified that they 
are completing further modelling of Hagley to support the study below.  .   

 Martin Rowe (MR) – MR gave a presentation on the study in two parts on the A456 
corridor.  The first part used census data and the second provided more detailed 
modelling on the A456.  Analysis used actual data from the 2011 Census.  The actual 
count of A456 was 31,852 vehicles.  Within the report the data had been provided in 
tables to enable analysis of travel patterns from relevant districts. .  Including  
Bromsgrove and Wyre Forest. 

 As part of the study, a series of discussions have been undertaken with other 
neighbouring authorities including South Staffs and Black Country/ Dudley.   It was 
advised that Dudley MBC were not looking at any highway improvement schemes but 
concentrating on public services i.e. bus service and metro.  (A456 is a major route with a 
combination of local and national trips. Interventions may need to reflect this).  MD asked 
if what was non-national could be identified to  establish impact of WFDC’s plan, and the 
response was yes and will be in the next phase of the report which would be issued as 
soon as possible.  Karen Hanchett (KH) stated that this may well be into December.   

 
 RB asked HS when the plan   would formally be submitted to Members and HS advised 

January/February when the Local Plan Review Panel with Members would be held 
together with O&S, Cabinet and Full Council.  It was agreed that MR was to produce a 
report by end-December but that the modelling may not be complete for then.   Important 
meetings at WFDC are scheduled in February.  MD asked if analysis of Hagley included 
any current Jacobs modelling and answer was no.  MD stated that if there was any 
previous work on other routes mention in BDC representations i.e. A441 BDC would 
need to see these as well.  MR agreed to look at data for this with particular attention to 
percentage of new trips.   

 
 RB stated that Hagley Parish Council would like to know if documentation would be put 

into the public arena and HS advised that the document would need to be released as 
part of O&S/Full Council normal process.  HS felt it was highly unlikely that Members 
would want Hagley Parish Council to see this work in advance of their considerations. 

         
 
 MD suggested a phone call next week to discuss through remaining items on agenda i.e. 

Statement of Common Ground.  Two meetings were required because items to Cabinet 
and Council.  RB stressed the importance of understanding everyone’s timetables and 
presentation to Cabinet etc for signature.  .  EB suggested discussing with Legal Counsel 
regarding  preparation of statements of common ground and how advanced these need 
to be before submission to the Planning Inspectorate,  MD stated that statements of 
common ground should be ready for start of examination ie: submission to the 
Inspectorate and it has to have full political endorsement.  HS said would have ability to 
update.  Email to be sent to HS regarding full Council dates on BDC calendar to enable 
adhering to acceptable timescales and understanding the process.   

 
        ACTION:  MD to 

provide committee timetable for Bromsgrove. 
 
 EB asked if it was worth doing an interim Statement of Common Ground.  MD/RB agreed 

it may help and what we can agree to progress this.   
 
 Kevin Dicks entered the room in order to attend the following meeting on transport 

matters 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



 Timetable for duty to co-operate meetings was briefly discussed and it was suggested 
that monthly meetings to be held until submission.   

 MD to email outline of the required discussions on the outstanding items 5, 6 and 
conclusion of 7 on the agenda.     

   
ACTION:  MD to send email outlining discussions 

 
 
 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



 

 

WFDC Duty to Cooperate Meeting 7th January 2020 

Wyre Forest House, Rock Room 11 am 

Attendance 

Kate Bailey (KB) - Head of Strategic Growth, Wyre Forest District Council 

Helen Smith (HS) - Spatial Planning Manager, Wyre Forest District Council 

Daniel Atiyah (DA) - Planning Policy Officer, Wyre Forest District Council 

Martin Rowe (MR)-Transport Strategy Team Leader, Worcestershire County Council  

Emily Barker (EB) – Head of Planning and Regulation, Worcestershire County Council 

Karen Hanchett (KH) – Transport Planning & Development Management Team Leader, 

Worcestershire County Council 

Ruth Bamford (RB) – Head of Planning and Regeneration, Bromsgrove District Council 

Mike Dunphy (MD) - Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager, Bromsgrove District Council 

Agenda 

1)  Introductions 

2) Local Plan review progress and timetables (all) 

3) Update on Hagley Paper (WCC) 

4) Questions on Hagley Paper (all) 

5) Statements of Common Ground 

6) Ongoing engagement with Duty to Cooperate partners 

7)  AOB 

 

The meeting opened with introductions. MD updated the group on the Bromsgrove Local Plan 

Review. Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) is currently looking at approx 300 sites and at present no 

updated Local Development Scheme (LDS) in place for the plan review. The timeframe is dependent 

on the strategic transport assessment.  HS updated the group on the Wyre Forest District Council 

(WFDC) Local Plan. The plan timeframe is on track and is due to be submitted for examination in 

March 2020, following Members meeting in February 2020. 

The draft Hagley Paper that has been produced by WCC was then discussed. MR reviewed the main 

sections of the paper.  Bromsgrove district has strong transport links to Birmingham.  Redditch was 

constructed as a new town and so is less dependent on Birmingham. Wyre Forest District is a more 

self contained area for transportation. The district experiences traffic travelling through the district 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



 

 

from locations outside the district to the west; this traffic is travelling to Birmingham for 

employment. The use of the car is due to poor train services to the west of the district. West 

Midlands Railways are to introduce car parking charges at railway stations in the Black Country due 

to the air quality pollution issues. They are also in support of Blakedown and Kidderminster station 

improvements. MR discussed that traffic modelling of the proposed Lea Castle development 

suggests that most of the site’s trip generation is focussed either southwards towards the Wyre 

Forest Towns, or northwards towards Stourbridge and the wider West Midlands Conurbation.  

Highways colleagues at County mentioned that an additional paper has been produced by Jacobs in 

regards to traffic at Hagley.  Some of the information from the additional paper would be included 

within the WCC Hagley Paper. WFDC said that they had not been made aware of this additional 

paper until today. KH said that an advanced draft of the additional paper can be sent out next week 

for comments. WFDC suggested that the necessary information from the additional paper should be 

added into the Hagley Paper. 

MD queried that the table on page 2 of the Hagley Paper in that the axis is incorrect and should be 

displayed the other way around.  This would affect the traffic data by location. MR will review this.  

MD commented that the proposals at Hagley have changed in the past two years from a bypass to 

no road improvements. MD queried whether there is evidence to show which roads within north 

Worcestershire need enhancement or not. 

MR will look at the table again. MR also commented that the 2011 census data does not use leisure 

transport data which may affect the transport data. MD asked if further information be added to the 

WFDC Infrastructure Delivery Plan in regards to Hagley. HS stated that the IDP is a live document and 

therefore can be updated if necessary.   

The Statement of Common Ground (SofCG) was discussed. This is to be completed by the time WFDC 

submit the Local Plan to the Planning Inspectorate in March 2020. It will be prepared jointly between 

WFDC, WCC and BDC. 

The timetable of the plan and SofCG was discussed. WFDC could receive an officer agreed SOCG 

from BDC for the March submission but it would not be signed off by BDC Members until April 2020, 

due to the lead-in times for Members meetings at BDC.  

MD queried the Duty to Cooperate process and believes that some issues have not been addressed, 

namely transport.  HS commented that WFDC has carried out the Duty to Cooperate process with 

BDC by holding numerous joint DtC meetings with them and WCC. WCC has also produced the 

Hagley Paper to add to the SofCG as a background paper, in an attempt to address BDC’s transport 

concerns. KB stated that areas that haven’t been agreed as well as those that have will be recorded 

within the SofCG that will be available to the public and the Inspector. 

RB then questioned if the Hagley Paper will be made public. HS stated that the Hagley Paper would 

become available to the public through the WFDC Members meetings, the first one being Overview 

& Scrutiny on 6th February 2020.  

MR hopes to update the Hagley Paper by the 17th January and will send out for comments. The 

discussion then went to finding available dates for the next meeting, which will require further 

review to find a suitable date. The meeting was then concluded. 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



 

WFDC Duty to Cooperate Meeting with WCC and BDC - 19th March 2020 

Wyre Forest House, 2pm – Telephone conference call 

Attendance: 

Kate Bailey (KB) - Head of Strategic Growth, Wyre Forest District Council 

Helen Smith (HS) - Spatial Planning Manager, Wyre Forest District Council 

Daniel Atiyah (DA) - Planning Policy Officer, Wyre Forest District Council 

Martin Rowe (MR)-Transport Strategy Team Leader, Worcestershire County Council  

Emily Barker (EB) – Head of Planning and Regulation, Worcestershire County Council 

Ruth Bamford (RB) – Head of Planning and Regeneration, Bromsgrove District Council 

Mike Dunphy (MD) - Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager, Bromsgrove District Council 

Apologies: 

Karen Hanchett (KH) – Transport Planning & Development Management Team Leader, 

Worcestershire County Council- Apologies sent 

Agenda 

1) Introductions 

 

2) Local Plan review progress and timetables  

 

3) Hagley Paper   www.worcestershire.gov.uk/LTP 

 

4) Draft Statement of Common Ground (see attached) 

 

5) Ongoing engagement with Duty to Cooperate partners 

 

Meeting Minutes 

1) This meeting was conducted via a conference call with WFDC, WCC and BDC officers due to the 

COVID-19 outbreak. The meeting opened with introductions. KH sent her apologies.  

 

2) HS updated the group on the WFDC local plan timetable.  The plan went through full council on 

20th February 2020.  The plan is to be submitted in April to the Planning Inspectorate for 

examination.  RB and MD updated the group on the BDC local plan progress.  BDC are currently 

reviewing the call for site responses. No further update could be provided on when the BDC 

Preferred Options consultation would take place. When BDC know the timetable arrangements 

for their transport evidence they will then publish the LDS timetable for the BDC Local Plan 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/LTP


 

Review. EB told the group that the county side transport modelling will be in an 18 to 24 month 

timeframe from procurement. 

 

3) The Hagley Paper was then discussed. MD thinks there are still some fundamental issues with 

the way the Hagley Paper has been presented but did not articulate what these issues are. BDC 

have asked Mott McDonald to review the Hagley Paper. MD stated that the Motts review should 

be addressed to WFDC rather than WCC as WFDC had commissioned the Hagley Paper. KB 

corrected MD on this point as the Hagley Paper had not been commissioned by WFDC; it is a 

technical paper produced by WCC for the purposes of the joint DtC discussions that have been 

taking place and the Hagley Paper is a background paper to the joint Statement of Common 

Ground.  It was concluded that the Mott McDonald review will be sent to both WCC and WFDC. 

EB said that WCC would need to consider the Mott’s review and if necessary prepare a rebuttal 

report, but legal advice would be sought first with WFDC as to whether this should be for the 

examination or outside of that process.  

 

4) The draft joint Statement of Common Ground was then discussed which had been circulated to 

the group in advance of the meeting on 13th March 2020 for comments.  MD did not provide any 

comments on the draft SofCG but stated that BDC would be unwilling to sign a joint SofCG with 

both WFDC and WCC, but did not articulate why. HS and KB were surprised at this comment 

from MD, as WFDC had undertaken numerous joint DtC meetings with both WCC and BDC and 

the joint Statement of Common Ground approach had been agreed at these DtC meetings and 

recorded in the DtC meeting minutes. HS reminded MD that BDC also has a duty to cooperate 

with WFDC and WCC and the duty to cooperate is not one sided. MD said he was aware of this. 

EB stated that WCC are satisfied to be included as a tripartite DtC joint Statement of Common 

Ground. KB asked when MD would be able to provide comments on the draft joint SofCG. MD 

said that comments could be provided by end of next week. KB therefore requested that 

comments be returned by 27th March 2020 - this was agreed by all at meeting. HS stated that 

once comments have been received back from BDC, the joint SofCG would be finalised for 

signing by BDC and WCC. It was agreed by the group that a telephone conference call should 

take place between the dates of 1st to 3rd April 2020 to discuss comments on the draft joint 

SofCG. HS stated that the joint SofCG will be submitted with the local plan in April 2020 and 

would therefore need to be finalised by officers in advance of submission. WFDC would 

appreciate cooperation by all parties to achieve this deadline. 

 

5) As WFDC will be submitting the local plan to the Planning Inspectorate in April 2020, the duty to 

cooperate meetings would come to a close as the examination commences.  

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



 

WFDC Duty to Cooperate Meeting with WCC and BDC – 2nd April 2020 

Wyre Forest House, 1pm – Telephone conference call 

Attendance: 

Kate Bailey (KB) - Head of Strategic Growth, Wyre Forest District Council 

Helen Smith (HS) - Spatial Planning Manager, Wyre Forest District Council 

Daniel Atiyah (DA) - Planning Policy Officer, Wyre Forest District Council 

Martin Rowe (MR) -Transport Strategy Team Leader, Worcestershire County Council  

Emily Barker (EB) - Head of Planning and Regulation, Worcestershire County Council 

Karen Hanchett (KH) - Transport Planning & Development Management Team Leader, 

Worcestershire County Council 

Ruth Bamford (RB) - Head of Planning and Regeneration, Bromsgrove District Council 

Mike Dunphy (MD) - Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager, Bromsgrove District Council 

1) This meeting was held via teleconference due to the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak. The meeting 

started with introductions and there were no apologies. 

2) HS invited MD to offer BDC comments on the draft Statement of Common Ground. MD 

commented on the term “numerous” DtC meetings being held between BDC and WFDC in the draft 

SofCG, and suggested this should be changed to ten.  HS commented that more than ten meetings 

had been undertaken with BDC and the term “numerous” encompassed all of these meetings. MD 

also recalled a meeting being held with the previous Planning Policy Manager at WFDC to discuss 

transport issues. KH believed this to be correct and said she was also present at this meeting. 

However, specific date and meeting minutes at present cannot be located. Action 1: KH to find date 

of meeting and check if meeting minutes are available. Action 2: HS to add this additional meeting to 

the SofCG. 

3) Section 5 of the SofCG-Strategic Matters Identified, was then discussed. On 27th March 2020 (prior 

to this DtC meeting), BDC sent WFDC and WCC a technical note prepared by Mott McDonald (MM) 

in response to the IDP and transport evidence (dated June 2019) prepared for the Wyre Forest Local 

Plan and the Hagley Paper (Jan 2020) prepared by WCC. BDC requested that this technical note 

should be included as an appendix to the SofCG. KB said that unfortunately WFDC would not be 

willing to include this as an appendix to the SofCG as it was not appropriate at this late stage; WFDC 

are about to submit their Local Plan and this information should therefore have been shared earlier 

in the process. KB also pointed out that the Hagley Paper had been prepared by WCC as a 

background paper to this SofCG and had already been finalised and published by WCC. HS pointed 

out that the technical note states: “The WCC report ’Transport Demand in the Hagley Area’ was not 

available during the first review and therefore has now been considered with some preliminary 

findings from MM set out in Section 3.” HS asked when the first review was undertaken by Mott 

McDonald and why it had not been shared with WFDC and WCC sooner than now. BDC confirmed 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



 

that the first review technical note was used to inform the BDC Reg 19 representation submitted to 

WFDC in 2019. HS asked why they had not attached the first review technical note to their Reg 19 

consultation response as surely this would have helped WFDC and WCC to better understand BDC’s 

concerns. In light of the joint DtC meetings that the group had been undertaking this did not make 

any sense as it could have helped with the joint DtC discussions. BDC reiterated the position that the 

MM work was used to inform BDC’s representation. It was agreed by all that the reference to the 

technical note should be removed from the SofCG and that BDC should instead use the technical 

note as part of their hearing statement for the examination.  

4) MD asked for additional text to be added to the potential modification for Policy 12 in the SofCG 

(shown in red text as follows): “Where appropriate, planning obligations will be required to fund 

infrastructure projects, including those outside the district, that are directly related to specific 

development, including but not limited to affordable housing, transport, green infrastructure, 

education, health and other social infrastructure.” KB said that this would not be appropriate as 

why would WFDC want to fund works outside the district when the WCC evidence is that our in-

district development will not need to rely on out-of-district infrastructure? MD said the different 

positions between WFDC, WCC and BDC in regards to the transport evidence will be discussed at the 

local plan examination stage. HS pointed out that planning obligations would be undertaken in 

accordance with the statutory text. 

5) MD queried a comment on page 14 of the draft SofCG which referred to the Hagley Paper being 

further refined. EB stated this is an out of date comment now that the Hagley document has been 

finalised and published on the WCC website. It was agreed to remove this comment on page 14 of 

the draft SofCG. 

6) Further to the previous meeting held on the 19th March 2020, MD confirmed that BDC is now 

satisfied that the SofCG is a tripartite agreement. MD therefore confirmed that BDC is willing to sign 

the joint SofCG with WFDC and WCC. However, MD said that the SofCG will need to be signed off by 

the Council Leader following consideration by the full council on 17th June 2020. KB asked where in 

the BDC constitution it said this, as the WFDC legal advisor had not been able to locate this. MD said 

that the justification for this is in a Cabinet report of theirs (rather than the constitution), that all 

SofCG have to be signed off by full council. KB asked MD to send WFDC a copy of the Cabinet report. 

Action 3: MD to send WFDC a copy of the Cabinet report. 

7) Subject to a few minor amendments, Officers agreed the SofCG at the meeting and that the final 

version would be sent by WFDC to request formal sign off.  

8) DA asked for any comments on the minutes for the previous DtC meeting to be sent to him no 

later than 3rd April 2020. 

9) No other matters were raised and the meeting was concluded.  

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



�

����������	
�

�

�� ��������	
���

����� ����
�
���� �!�� "�#
�
� $%&�'���
�������
�����	�� () "�*	'�����&*'����������
����	������� *����������&�����������) 
���(������%��+��������������
�
���� �!����,-�&��������

&�����������) 
���(������%��+��������������
�
���� �!����,

�����

���� .�����'������


/��%�������
�
0�����������������1�2�3�
�����������+
���+�����������
�������������������+��+�/�����������+���1��
��
����������3�������������������
�
4������
�
�����
�
�
�����	
���
�
�
0���������%�������������������������������������������
%������������&����������������������������������������
*����������	��������'�
�������������������������������
333����������������
�������
�
�������	�����������%�������������56���0�����7������
������(����
�8�
%������������&������������
&��������*���
���'�
�����
333����������������
���
���������������������������

�
�

������������	�
��
����

���	�����������������������

�

/��/�����
�
/����
�
�����3�������������������������3����3���������������) 
���(�����1�������������������������
�����������������%��+������	��+��'���
��������+���������*	'�����&*'1�2�����������������
��������������
������������
��2�3�������������
���������������
��������
�������
����3���;��������������������������������
������������+��������������+�����
��������2�3�
�����������+
���+�
�
���
������+����
�
�3�������������������������
����
����2�3�
��������3�����������������
���
����������������������
���������3����
�
�����������) ''�
����3�
���
�
2������+��3�������
�
������������
�
4������
�
�����

Page 69

Agenda Item 5

GillP_1
Typewritten text
Appendix 2



�

�
�
�
�����	
���
�
�
0���������%�������������������������������������������
%������������&����������������������������������������
*����������	��������'�
�������������������������������
333����������������
�������
�
�������	�����������%�������������56���0�����7������
������(����
�8�
%������������&������������
&��������*���
���'�
�����
333����������������
���
���������������������������

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



Bromsgrove District Council Response to Wyre Forest Local Plan Review Preferred option - August
2017

1 Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Wyre Forest Local Plan Review Preferred
option, the below comments at this stage represents an officer response. Due to the timescales for
consultation, there have not been any appropriate Council meetings for this response to be
considered formally. This process will take place in September and should any amendments be
required as a result of the formal consideration by Bromsgrove District Council we will advise you in
due course.

2 The Council supports the aims and objectives of the plan and think that it has the potential
to provide a strong base for planning in Wyre Forest once adopted, although a number of
reservations do exist where clarity needs to be provided in order to the Councils concerns to be
allayed. It must be stressed at this stage the Council wish to see all areas thrive and develop
sustainably, and do not have an in-principal objection to Wyre Forest District Council allocating land
for future growth, or developing policies to improve the quality of the environment across the
District for its residents and visitors.

3 Our comments are restricted to the elements of the plan where possible issues arise for
Bromsgrove as a result of the draft plan, whilst we have read and considered the remaining sections
we do not feel it is appropriate or necessary for the Council to comment on policies developed to
address local issues to Wyre Forest District only.

4 The Plan identifies a housing requirement of 5400 dwellings, 540 care home beds and 40
hectares of employment land, BDC has no reason to dispute those figures. The Council is also
pleased to see in para 6.8 that under the duty to cooperate WFDC will continue to liaise with all
adjoining authorities. It will be important for WFDC to continue this liaison as the plan progresses, it
is acknowledged that Wyre Forest District does not form part of the wider Birmingham Housing
Market Area (BHMA) and as such should not directly need to accommodate any additional growth
needs arising from the BHMA. The continued liaison will be important to ensure that if all the needs
of the BHMA cannot be met within the currently identified geographic area, then it could be that
those areas on the periphery may need to assist in meeting those needs if it can be done sustainably.
It is important the review of the Wyre Forest Local Plan has sufficient mechanisms in place to be able
to respond appropriately to any requests to meet the needs of the wider BHMA should a request be
forthcoming.

4 The main concern of the Council is the location of the larger core housing sites, the fact that
a preferred option is not specified, and that we are requested to make a choice of  option A or
option B in relation to significant development. The core housing sites, and also the majority of the
option A and B sites are all situated towards the eastern / north eastern extent of the urban area of
Kidderminster. As the principal town the logic of allocating significant levels of development to the
most sustainable settlement is understood and accepted.

5 Where the Council have concerns is the evidence which support these allocations, in
particular the transport evidence which is required to support allocations of this size. It is clear from
the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) that some consideration has been given to transport issues.
What is concerning is that a preference for a preferred option is being sought without all the

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



identified evidence i.e. the modelling through the Wyre Forest Transport Model (WFTM), and the
transport background paper being available.

The IDP states at 3.1.4

It should also be noted that local impacts of individual potential development sites
can be more easily identified; however, the cumulative impact of development on
both the local and wider strategic network is difficult to quantify without undertaking
modelling. As detailed above, the WFTM will be used to fully assess all development
sites, both individually and cumulatively, to ensure a robust assessment of the likely
transport related infrastructure is identified and all appropriate multimodal
infrastructure identified to support the preferred option.

6 Attempts have clearly been made to establish the infrastructure requirements for both the
core option, and also options A and B. A comparison of the different highways impacts of options A
and B has also been provided, unfortunately, this level of analysis does not allow for a sufficiently
informed decision on the merits of the various options to be reached at this stage. Similarly whilst it
is welcomed that a list of schemes has been developed to identify possible mitigation, what is not
clear is exactly what these schemes entail, when and how they will be delivered, and how much
impact their introduction will have on both mitigating the impacts of development or addressing
existing infrastructure concerns.

7 Option A appears to offer the prospect of an eastern relief road which amongst other things
could reduce the congestion and improve the air quality within Kidderminster town centre, both of
these results would undoubtedly be beneficial. What needs to be established is the impact of such a
significant piece of infrastructure on areas outside of the District. Of particular concern would be
what additional traffic as a result of significant development and improved infrastructure around the
eastern edge of Kidderminster would then permeate to areas further east into Bromsgrove. The
same point applies if option A does not become the preferred option, it is still likely that additional
traffic could use the infrastructure in Bromsgrove as a result of option B although without the
bypass, again this needs to be established for an informed decision to be made on the pros and cons
of the options.

8 The Council’s principal concerns in terms of specific locations which may be affected would
be, along the A456 through Hagley in order to access the Black Country / Birmingham conurbation,
and then further along this route to the M5 Junction 4 in order to access the motorway network or
the southern areas of Birmingham. Similarly the Council has concerns on the impacts on the A448 if
additional trips are made into and through Bromsgrove to access the motorway network south of
the town, or through the town to access Redditch beyond. As WFDC and WCC are aware both these
locations within Bromsgrove suffer from congestion and both have AQMAs, the impacts of the
various options on these key locations need to be established as well as any impacts in other areas
related to the development sites. This is particularly important to understand the impacts in more
rural areas where ‘rat running’ may occur in an attempt to avoid more congested routes, and also
the impact on the strategic motorway network which places pressure on all routes across the area.

9 The Council would have hoped that the transport evidence would have been further
developed, and made available to inform a preferred option, and not produced afterwards to

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



support / justify a preferred option chosen in isolation of the evidence. This is a position that the
Council through its officers has expressed a number of times in response to both the draft IDP, and
also in person at a meeting convened specifically to discuss the issue of transportation. Bearing this
in mind the Councils position expressed in this response should not be a surprise, but unfortunately
without this evidence being available the Council is not in a position to express a preference for
option A or B, or even support the core option at this stage. This concern also arises albeit to a lesser
extent on allocation of land for employment uses.

10 In order to address this concern and in line with the Councils response the recently
published Draft LPT4. We would like to continue to engage with both WFDC and WCC to develop a
wider transport strategy for north Worcestershire. The development of this strategy should help
inform the production of local and district plans which have fully evidenced and coordinated
transport information. The strategy alongside these local and district plans will then deliver the
infrastructure required to allow the authorities to continue to grow and thrive in a coordinated and
sustainable way.

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



Redditch Borough Council Response to Wyre Forest Local Plan Review Preferred option - August
2017

1 Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Wyre Forest Local Plan Review Preferred
option, the below comments at this stage represents an officer response. Due to the timescales for
consultation, there have not been any appropriate Council meetings for this response to be
considered formally. This process will take place in September and should any amendments be
required as a result of the formal consideration by Redditch Borough Council we will advise you in
due course.

2 The Council supports the aims and objectives of the plan and think that it has the potential
to provide a strong base for planning in Wyre Forest once adopted, although a number of
reservations do exist where clarity needs to be provided in order to the Councils concerns to be
allayed. It must be stressed at this stage the Council wish to see all areas thrive and develop
sustainably, and do not have an in-principal objection to Wyre Forest District Council allocating land
for future growth, or developing policies to improve the quality of the environment across the
District for its residents and visitors.

3 Our comments are restricted to the elements of the plan where possible issues may arise for
Redditch as a result of the draft plan, whilst we have read and considered the remaining sections we
do not feel it is appropriate or necessary for the Council to comment on policies developed to
address local issues to Wyre Forest District only.

4 The Plan identifies a housing requirement of 5400 dwellings, 540 care home beds and 40
hectares of employment land, RBC has no reason to dispute those figures. The Council is also
pleased to see in para 6.8 that under the duty to cooperate WFDC will continue to liaise with all
adjoining authorities. It will be important for WFDC to continue this liaison as the plan progresses, it
is acknowledged that Wyre Forest District does not form part of the wider Birmingham Housing
Market Area (BHMA) and as such should not directly need to accommodate any additional growth
needs arising from the BHMA. The continued liaison will be important to ensure that if all the needs
of the BHMA cannot be met within the currently identified geographic area, then it could be that
those areas on the periphery may need to assist in meeting those needs if it can be done sustainably.
It is important the review of the Wyre Forest Local Plan has sufficient mechanisms in place to be able
to respond appropriately to any requests to meet the needs of the wider BHMA should a request be
forthcoming.

5 The main concern of the Council is the location of the larger core housing sites, the fact that
a preferred option is not specified, and that we are requested to make a choice of  option A or
option B in relation to significant development. The core housing sites, and also the majority of the
option A and B sites are all situated towards the eastern / north eastern extent of the urban area of
Kidderminster. As the principal town the logic of allocating significant levels of development to the
most sustainable settlement is understood and accepted.

6 Where the Council have concerns is the evidence which support these allocations, in
particular the transport evidence which is required to support allocations of this size. It is clear from
the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) that some consideration has been given to transport issues.
What is concerning is that a preference for a preferred option is being sought without all the

Page 74

Agenda Item 5



identified evidence i.e. the modelling through the Wyre Forest Transport Model (WFTM), and the
transport background paper being available.

The IDP states at 3.1.4

It should also be noted that local impacts of individual potential development sites
can be more easily identified; however, the cumulative impact of development on
both the local and wider strategic network is difficult to quantify without undertaking
modelling. As detailed above, the WFTM will be used to fully assess all development
sites, both individually and cumulatively, to ensure a robust assessment of the likely
transport related infrastructure is identified and all appropriate multimodal
infrastructure identified to support the preferred option.

7 Attempts have clearly been made to establish the infrastructure requirements for both the
core option, and also options A and B. A comparison of the different highways impacts of options A
and B has also been provided, unfortunately, this level of analysis does not allow for a sufficiently
informed decision on the merits of the various options to be reached at this stage. Similarly whilst it
is welcomed that a list of schemes has been developed to identify possible mitigation, what is not
clear is exactly what these schemes entail, when and how they will be delivered, and how much
impact their introduction will have on both mitigating the impacts of development or addressing
existing infrastructure concerns.

8 Option A appears to offer the prospect of an eastern relief road which amongst other things
could reduce the congestion and improve the air quality within Kidderminster town centre, both of
these results would undoubtedly be beneficial. What needs to be established is the impact of such a
significant piece of infrastructure on areas outside of the District. Of particular concern would be
what additional traffic as a result of significant development and improved infrastructure around the
eastern edge of Kidderminster would then permeate to areas further east into Bromsgrove and then
onto Redditch and the strategic network. The same point applies if option A does not become the
preferred option, it is still likely that additional traffic could use the infrastructure in Bromsgrove and
beyond as a result of option B, although without the bypass, again this needs to be established for
an informed decision to be made on the pros and cons of the options.

9 The Council has concerns on the impacts on the A448 if additional trips are made into and
through Bromsgrove to access the motorway network, or through the town to access Redditch. In
order to address this concern and in line with the Councils response the recently published Draft
LPT4. We would like to continue to engage with both WFDC and WCC to develop a wider transport
strategy for north Worcestershire. The development of this strategy should help inform the
production of local and district plans which have fully evidenced and coordinated transport
information. The strategy alongside these local and district plans will then deliver the infrastructure
required to allow the authorities to continue to grow and thrive in a coordinated and sustainable
way.

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



1 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

Wyre Forest District Local Plan 
Pre-Submission Publication 2018 

 

Consultation Response Form 
1st November – 17th December 2018 

 

REF OFFICE USE ONLY: 

Representor number: 

Representation number: 

Plan reference: 

Tests of soundness:

 

This form has two parts: Part A Personal Details and Part B Your Representation 

To help present your comments in the best way for the inspector to consider them, the Planning Inspectorate has issued 
this standard comment form for you to complete and return. We ask that you use this form because it structures your 
response in the way in which the inspector will consider comments at the public examination. Using the form to submit 
your comments also means that you can register your interest in speaking at the examination. 
 

Please read the guidance notes carefully before completing the form. 

Please fill in a separate part B for each issue/representation you wish to make. 
Any additional sheets must be clearly referenced. This form can be submitted electronically. If hand writing, please write 
clearly in blue or black ink. 
Consultation response forms can be completed and submitted online at www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 

 
Representations must be received by 5:00pm on 17th December 2018. Representations received after this 

time will not be considered duly made. 

Part A 
(Please complete in full; in order for the Inspector to consider your representations you must provide your name and postal address). 
 

1. Personal Details 2. Agent’s Details (if applicable) 

Title Mr  

First Name Mike  

Last Name Dunphy  

Organisation 
(where relevant) 

Bromsgrove District Council 
 

Job title 
(where relevant) 

Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager 
 

Address – line 1 Parkside  

Address – line 2 Market Street  

Address – line 3 Bromsgrove   

Address – line 4   

Address – line 5   

Postcode B61 8DA  

E-mail Address  

Telephone Number  

Please Submit 
this form online 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5

http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=3UPfVZx4&id=2FF74A698CE08F672463A0AF06C953051EE3CAD9&thid=OIP.3UPfVZx46J0v1MEA-ebSOAHaCe&mediaurl=https://www.wgaplans.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/go_paperless_metaslider_tempalte.png&exph=400&expw=1200&q=go+paperless+logo&simid=608017490201022176&selectedIndex=21
GillP_2
Typewritten text
Appendix 3



2 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

Part B - Please use a separate sheet for each representation 
Your representation should cover all the information, evidence and supporting information necessary to support/justify 
the representation and the suggested change, as there will not normally be a subsequent opportunity to make further 
representations following this publication stage. 
 
After this stage, further submission will only be at the request of the Inspector, based on the matters and issues he/she 
identifies for examination. 
 

Name or Organisation 
 

 
3. To which part of the Local Plan does this representation relate? 

 
              Paragraph                                       Policy                                  
 
4. Do you consider the Local Plan is:  
 
4.1 Legally Compliant          Yes                 No 
 
 
 4.2 Sound       Yes     No 
 
 
4.3 Complies with the Duty to co-operate  Yes     No 
 
 
 

 

5. If you do not consider the Local Plan is sound, please specify on what grounds 
 

       Positively Prepared         Justified x            Effective x          Consistent with National Policy x 

      Please Tick as appropriate 

       
6. Please give details of why you consider the Local Plan is not legally compliant or is unsound or fails to 
comply with the Duty to co-operate. Please be as precise as possible. 
If you wish to support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its compliance with the Duty 
to co-operate, please also use this box to set out your comments.

 
6.1  It is the view of Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) that unfortunately The Wyre Forest 
Local Plan (WFLP) is unsound, BDC do not consider that the plan is Justified, Effective, or 
Consistent with National Policy. 
 
6.2  The objection focuses on Policy 12 - Strategic Infrastructure and Policy 13 - Transport 
and Accessibility in Wyre Forest and the evidence base which purports supports them, most 
notable the Infrastructure Delivery plan (IDP) and the Transport Modelling Report (TMR). 
 
6.3  Para 16 of the NPPF requires that plans should: 
 

b) be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable; 
d) contain policies that are clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a 
decision maker should react to development proposals; 
 

x
x 

12 and 13 
IDP / Modelling 
report 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

   

Bromsgrove District Council 

Other: e.g. Policies map, 
table, figure, key diagram 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



3 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

Policy 12 is a generic policy for the requirement of infrastructure to support the plan, and 
Policy 13 begins to provide more detail on what infrastructure is required. It is the view of BDC 
that policies 12 and 13 fail to satisfy b) and d) of the framework. For the reasons expanded on 
in the paragraphs 6.6 to 6.20 below concerning the evidence base, BDC fail to see how the 
infrastructure requirements are deliverable.  BDC also fails to see and how the policy is clear 
and unambiguous on what infrastructure is required, and when and how it is to be delivered. 
Of particular concern in relation to the clarity of the policy are the inconsistencies between the 
IDP requirements and the requirements in the policy. 
 
6.4  Para 20 of the NPPF states 
 

Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality of 
development, and make sufficient provision for: 
b) infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste management, water 
supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, and the provision of 
minerals and energy (including heat); 
 

It is BDCs view that the concerns expressed about the evidence at para’s 6.6 to 6.20 identifies 
that the WFLP and its evidence base does not at this stage clearly identify in a robust manner 
the infrastructure required or the impacts of the infrastructure, and therefore the plan is 
inconsistent with the requirements of para 20 of the NPPF. 
 

6.5  Para 104 of the NPPF states Planning policies should:  

b) be prepared with the active involvement of local highways authorities, other transport 
infrastructure providers and operators and neighbouring councils, so that strategies and 
investments for supporting sustainable transport and development patterns are aligned;  

c) identify and protect, where there is robust evidence, sites and routes which could be 
critical in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice and realise opportunities for 
large scale development;  

It is BDCs view that in relation to b) and c) above that issues identified with the evidence base 
at paras 6.6 to 6.20 below shows, that there is not robust evidence which has allowed for any 
routes to be identified and protected for the bypasses in relation to Hagley and Mustow Green. 
And that lack of robust evidence, which also include un-costed schemes in the IDP, does not 
allow for a sufficient strategy for investment in infrastructure to be developed and aligned, 
therefore the WFLP is not consistent with the requirements of para 104 of the NPPF. 
 
6.6  Paras 6.3 to 6.5 above show how the policies in the WFLP are inconsistent with the 
requirements of the NPPF, BDCs soundness concerns are also related to the ability of the 
WFLP to be judged as being justified and effective, this primary concern relates to the 
evidence base supporting Policies 12 and 13. 
 
6.7  It appears from the published evidence base the main supporting evidence for the 
transport and infrastructure policies in the WFLP are the IDP and the TMR. Reference is made 
in both May 2017 and October 2018 versions of the IDP to a transport evidence paper. It has 
been confirmed by Wyre Forest District Council (WFDC) that there is no transport evidence 
paper. The May 2017 IDP also states 
 

It should also be noted that local impacts of individual potential development sites can 
be more easily identified; however, the cumulative impact of development on both the 
local and wider strategic network is difficult to quantify without undertaking modelling. 
As detailed above, the WFTM will be used to fully assess all development sites, both 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5



4 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

individually and cumulatively, to ensure a robust assessment of the likely transport 
related infrastructure is identified and all appropriate multimodal infrastructure 
identified to support the preferred option. 
 

For the reasons expanded on below BDC, do not consider that this stated intention of the 
previous version of the IDP has been undertaken.  
 
6.8 The WFLP contains development allocations across the District, there are some 
significant allocations to the eastern and north eastern side of Kidderminster. These sites have 
been in the public domain for a considerable period of time, and were part of the preferred 
options presented by WFDC. BDC responded to the preferred option plan, expressing concern 
about the possible implications of development in these locations on transport infrastructure in 
Bromsgrove. At the time BDCs concern was the lack of evidence to allow BDC to make an 
informed decision on the implications for the district. Sadly little work appears to have been 
done to strengthen the evidence base and therefore BDCs concern remains. 
 
6.9 turning specifically to the Transport Modelling Report (TMR) BDC has concerns that 
  

a) The Wyre Forest Transport model is a multi-modal model but only the highway 
assignment model has been used.  

b) There is a mis-match between the development assumptions in the Wyre Forest 
Local Plan Review (2016-2036) – Transport Modelling Report and the Wyre 
Forest District Council IDP. 

c) A simplistic approach to trip generation has been adopted. A single rate 
assumed for all residential development and a single rate assumed for all job / 
employment types. 

d) It is not clear whether there has been any optimisation of the highway network 
in the future year network. 

e) There is no definition provided of “capacity” or “congestion”. 
f) In the Appendix, information on housing is not provided for mixed use 

development. Housing capacity is provided for residential areas, but the number 
of jobs assumed for employment is not provided. 

  

6.10 In relation to the Wyre Forest District Council IDP, the following observations are 
made. 

a) There is a mis-match between the development assumptions in the Wyre Forest 
Local Plan Review (2016-2036) – Transport Modelling Report and the Wyre 
Forest District Council IDP. 

b) No reference to modelling 5 years ahead, albeit the IDP refers to national 
guidance that states that the IDP should be clear for at least 5 years ahead 

c) There is reference to options consultation but no reference to modelling of 
options. 

d) The document states that where the deliverability of critical infrastructure is 
uncertain alternative strategies should be assessed. It is not clear if the testing 
of alternative strategies has been undertaken in the (highway) modelling. 

e) There is no definition provided of “capacity” or “congestion”, so it is not clear 
how infrastructure needs have been identified. 

f) Not clear how network capacity has been maximised albeit the document states 
that there is a need to demonstrate that capacity has been maximised. 

g) Not clear on how infrastructure needs have been identified as there is no 
reference provided to an appraisal or sifting process or definition of need.  

 

6.11 The reason why these elements are a concern and lead to a conclusion of 
unsoundness relates to the identification of additional congestion on the A456 through Hagley 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



5 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

in Bromsgrove. Also the identification of additional congestion on the A448 at Mustow Green 
which the main route between Bromsgrove and Kidderminster is a similar concern. Both these 
locations have now been identified as requiring bypasses. It must be stated that in principle 
BDC does not necessarily object to these bypass proposals, providing they are underpinned 
by robust evidence of need, and more importantly delivery. But for BDC to get to this position it 
needs to be clear that these proposals are the correct form of mitigation when considered 
against other options in these locations, and it needs to be clear what the wider cumulative 
impacts of these proposals are on transport infrastructure. This is important because once the 
need for them is robustly established; it needs to be clear how these and other proposals will 
be funded and delivered in a coordinated way.  The WFLP requires infrastructure to align with 
allocated development as they progress to provide the correct mitigation, although it does 
appear no actual phasing appears in the plan. BDC is unable to establish that a robust process 
has been undertaken in identifying these schemes as the correct schemes. BDC is also unable 
to form any view based on the evidence of the likelihood of these schemes being enabled or 
delivered by the WFLP 
 
6.12  In more detail BDC cannot understand the assessment process that has been 
undertaken to determine the bypass is needed. The adopted Local Transport Plan 4 LTP4 
highlights that a review of the junctions in Hagley should take place, to be funded by 
developers and the LTP. Notwithstanding the technical concerns highlighted at para 6.8 
above, the results of the TMR appears to show further congestion in Hagley. The LTP4 
junction review requirement appears to have now been superseded by a bypass, there 
appears to be no evidence to support the need other than the model report. The IDP states 
‘Using this information WCC have been able to undertake an assessment of the probable 
impact on the local and wider network and produce a list of the infrastructure required to 
support the level of growth. This assessment has been undertaken using the Wyre Forest 
Transport Model (WFTM).’ The TMR does not mention the mitigation required, it simply shows 
where the network is affected by development, there are no other published reports 
referencing the WFTM. Therefore trying to work out how all the schemes have been assessed 
as being the required, and appropriate mitigation for the level of impact is impossible to do 
based on the published evidence. The same applies to the Mustow green scenario where a 
junction enhancement scheme has been replaced with a bypass. Policy 13 of the WFLP still 
refers to a junction enhancement scheme, this is the inconsistency referred to at para 6.3 
above. 
 
6.13  It is a fact that the IDP schemes haven’t been modelled for their impact, as they are 
not referenced in the TMR. So it is unclear not only what impact a Hagley bypass will have in 
reducing congestion in Hagley but it is not clear what impact a Hagley bypass might have on 
other locations, these impacts maybe both positive and negative. The same can be said for the 
bypass around Mustow Green. For example the Mustow Green Scheme might have an impact 
on Bromsgrove Town if it increases the volumes which are able to use the A448. Similarly the 
enhancement scheme on the A450 corridor might have an impact on Hagley if it improves the 
attractiveness of this route, how would / has that then be factored into the bypass proposals at 
Hagley. It is accepted that transport planning / modelling is not an exact science, and there will 
always be impacts of schemes which will not be able to be quantified. In this instance again 
appears to be is no work which attempts to identify how all these transport schemes work 
together to mitigate the cumulative impacts of all the developments in Wyre Forest. For these 
reasons alone BDC does not feel that the WFLP is sound, as key proposals required both 
within the district but also outside are not robustly justified. 
 
6.14 It could be seen as strange that BDC are objecting to a plan which on the face of it is 
providing a solution to a known issue; congestion in Hagley. The robust justification for a 
scheme is directly related to the ability to implement the required scheme. Therefore BDC 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5



6 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

cannot support the plan if, the need for the scheme is not justified to the extent that its ability to 
be implemented becomes clear and deliverable. 
 
6.15 The Hagley bypass scheme as identified in the IDP does not have a cost associated 
with it, the Mustow Green bypass scheme has a £12 million cost associated with it. Neither 
scheme as far as BDC can ascertain has got a plan which shows the alignment of the road or 
any technical considerations.  Purely by looking at a map, a bypass around Mustow Green 
would appear to be a shorter piece of road than a bypass around Hagley. Therefore we can 
only assume that the Hagley scheme will be in excess of £12 million, this is a significant 
amount of funding which does not have any certainty at this stage. BDC acknowledge that this 
is a very crude assumption to make on cost, and there are many issues such as underground 
services etc which can significantly affect the final amount. It is also accepted that as the detail 
of schemes are worked up more detailed cost estimates can be made. It appears the costs 
that have been used to inform the viability work, which is part of the evidence base to the plan, 
are not reflective of or have been informed by these schemes. The approach in the viability 
work is to use a typical infrastructure cost. However in this instance this typical cost cannot 
account for all the typical or abnormal costs, as so many of them are yet to be identified.  
 
6.16 It is noted at para 12.3 of the WFLP that 
 

The Council will consider wider infrastructure funding streams as part of the Local 
Plan Review process and in due course will consider the introduction of a 
Community Infrastructure Levy in conjunction with the latest Planning Obligations 
SPD, as adopted by the Council in September 2016. 
 

6.17 BDC do not understand why the consideration of infrastructure funding streams would 
be left for a plan review to decide. This wording appears verbatim in the preferred option 
version of the plan and therefore maybe a drafting error. If this is the case then it would 
suggest that this plan should have considered the funding streams. BDC cannot see where 
this has been done with any rigour. If a CIL is the mechanism to fund the plans infrastructure, 
then it would need to be clearly timetabled, and then progressed in line with that timetable to 
ensure the benefits of having a CIL are realised from all the development in the plan. This 
would appear to be key for WFDC so many infrastructure schemes have been identified. The 
Local Development Scheme states that the position on a CIL will be considered alongside the 
preparation of the pre-submission plan. There is no timetable for the production of a CIL and 
the WFLP does not clarify the position on CIL. The inconsistent costing information and 
complete lack of costing in relation to the Hagley bypass, and an uncertain policy regime about 
infrastructure delivery casts doubt on the funding of a bypass for Hagley. 
 
6.18 The IDP has a lot of high cost schemes in it, and a lot of possibly expensive schemes 
which have yet to be costed, including the Hagley bypass. If the evidence isn’t robust to 
support the specific requirement for these schemes as a result of development, the likelihood 
of them being funded by developers or other mechanisms such as Central Government or LEP 
money is uncertain. Where there are lots of competing schemes it is expected that funding 
normally will be directed at those which provide the greatest direct benefit, such as enabling 
housing development or providing for economic activity. From the information provided BDC 
has no way of understanding how much development from specific allocations  impacts on 
Hagley to justify the bypass. This lack of information then makes it impossible to understand 
the likely level of developer contribution, and therefore if not fully developer funded the likely 
amount of other funding required. Without being able to understand how much housing and 
economic development proposals such as the bypass enable, it is impossible to form a view 
on the likely applicability to the funding streams that are available to infrastructure providers.  
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



7 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

6.19 It is accepted that funding regimes are not fixed, and change as government policy is 
amended, meaning different levels of finance become available. With that in mind BDC 
accepts that it is not possible to have complete certainty on these issues at this stage in the 
planning process. But without being able to quantify the impact of individual developments on 
the scheme being tabled as mitigation, and then being able to quantify the impact of the 
mitigation even at a basic level BDC fails to see how the plan can be seen as justified, and 
therefore also effective if the required funding for the mitigation remains such an unresolved 
issue.  
 
6.20 In Conclusion it is regrettable that BDC has to object to the plan, but unless the 
mitigation required supporting the plan cannot be robustly evidenced, which in turn secures the 
ability for it to be delivered, it is the view of BDC that the plan is unsound as it is not justified, 
effective, and consistent with national policy.  

 

 
7. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 

Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the Matter you have identified at 6 above where this 

relates to soundness. (NB Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to co-operate is incapable of 
modification at examination). You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan 

legally compliant or sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggested revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as precise as possible. 

 
 

7.1 BDC consider that the wording of policies 12 and 13 could be amended to strengthen 
them and provide more clarity in relation to the mitigation required. But as the fundamental 
issue is with the evidence which underpins these policies, without a more robust evidence 
base BDC do not consider this plan can be made sound with simple policy wording changes. 

 
 

Please note your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence and supporting information 
necessary to support/justify the representation and the suggested modification, as there will not normally be a 
subsequent opportunity to make further representations based on the original representation at publication stage. 

After this stage, further submissions will be only at the request of the Inspector, based on the matters and issues 
he/she identifies for examination. 

 

8. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to participate at the oral 
part of the examination? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the examination, please outline why you consider this to be 
necessary: 
 

To hopefully aid the inspectors understanding of the particular local circumstances specific to 
the objections raised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No I do not wish to 
participate at the 
oral examination. 

Yes I would like to 
participate at the 
oral examination. 

 

X 

Page 82

Agenda Item 5



8 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 

 

Please note the Inspector will determine the most appropriate procedure to adopt to hear those who have indicated that 
they wish to participate at the oral part of the examination. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Signature            Mike Dunphy                                                                                        Date      12th December 2018 
 
 
 
 
 

Please return the completed form by no later than 5:00pm on 17 December 2018 to:  

Email: LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk 

Or post to: Planning Policy Team, Wyre Forest District Council, Wyre Forest House, Finepoint Way, Kidderminster, DY11 7WF 

 

Consultation response forms can be completed and submitted online at: www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Data Protection 
The information you provide on the form will be stored on a database used solely in connection with the Local Plan. 
Representations will be available to view on the council’s website, but address, signature and contact details will 
not be included. However, as copies of representations must be made available for public inspection, they cannot be 
treated as confidential and will be available for inspection in full. Copies of all representations will also be provided to 
the Planning Inspectorate as part of the submission of the Wyre Forest District Local Plan.  By submitting this form you are 
agreeing to these conditions. 
 Please see the Councils Data Protection and Privacy statement: 
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy.aspx 
 
 

Please submit 
this form online 

X If you are submitting this form electronically you will need to agree to our data protection 
policy. Please tick here if you agree. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5

mailto:LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy.aspx
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=3UPfVZx4&id=2FF74A698CE08F672463A0AF06C953051EE3CAD9&thid=OIP.3UPfVZx46J0v1MEA-ebSOAHaCe&mediaurl=https://www.wgaplans.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/go_paperless_metaslider_tempalte.png&exph=400&expw=1200&q=go+paperless+logo&simid=608017490201022176&selectedIndex=21
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/


1 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

Wyre Forest District Local Plan 
Pre-Submission Publication 2019 

 

Consultation Response Form 
2 September – 14 October 2019 

 

REF OFFICE USE ONLY: 

Representor number: 

Representation number: 

Plan reference: 

Tests of soundness:

 

This form has two parts: Part A Personal Details and Part B Your Comments 

To help present your comments in the best way for the inspector to consider them, the Planning Inspectorate has issued 
this standard comment form for you to complete and return. We ask that you use this form because it structures your 
response in the way in which the inspector will consider comments at the public examination. Using the form to submit 
your comments also means that you can register your interest in speaking at the examination. 
 

Please read the guidance notes carefully before completing the form. If you responded to the last Pre-Submission 
consultation held in 2018, you do not have to respond again unless you want to add to them, withdraw them or make 
completely new comments. 

Please fill in a separate part B for each issue/comments you wish to make. 
Any additional sheets must be clearly referenced. This form can be submitted electronically. If hand writing, please write 
clearly in blue or black ink. 
Consultation response forms can be completed and submitted online at www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 

 
Comments must be received by 5:00pm on 14 October 2019. Comments received after this time will not be 
considered. 

Part A 
(Please complete in full; in order for the Inspector to consider your representations you must provide your name and postal address). 
 

1. Personal Details 2. Agent’s Details (if applicable) 

Title Mr  

First Name Mike  

Last Name Dunphy  

Organisation 
(where relevant) 

Bromsgrove District Council  

Job title 
(where relevant) 

Strategic Planning and Conservation Manager  

Address – line 1 Parkside  

Address – line 2 Market Street  

Address – line 3 Bromsgrove   

Postcode B61 8DA  

E-mail Address  

Telephone Number  

Please submit 
this form online 

Page 84

Agenda Item 5

http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=3UPfVZx4&id=2FF74A698CE08F672463A0AF06C953051EE3CAD9&thid=OIP.3UPfVZx46J0v1MEA-ebSOAHaCe&mediaurl=https://www.wgaplans.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/go_paperless_metaslider_tempalte.png&exph=400&expw=1200&q=go+paperless+logo&simid=608017490201022176&selectedIndex=21
GillP_3
Typewritten text
Appendix 4



2 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

Part B - Please use a separate sheet for each comment 
Your representation should cover all the information, evidence and supporting information necessary to support/justify 
the representation and the suggested change, as there will not normally be a subsequent opportunity to make further 
representations following this publication stage. 
 
After this stage, further submission will only be at the request of the Inspector, based on the matters and issues he/she 
identifies for examination. 
 

Name or Organisation 
 

 
3. Did you submit a consultation response form to the last Pre-Submission consultation held in 2018? 

 

 Yes    No     

 

a) If yes, would you like to withdraw any/all of your previous comments? 

 

 Yes, all          Yes, specific comments     

 

b) If specific comments only, please specify which ones? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. To which document of the Local Plan does this representation relate? 

 

 Amendments to Pre-Submission Local Plan (July 2019 version)  Yes   No 

 

 

Pre-Submission Local Plan (October 2018 version)  Yes   No 

    

 

5. Please specify which part of the Local Plan you are commenting on (e.g. paragraph, policy, map, table or 
figure reference)? 

 
       Paragraph                                Policy                                  
 
 

12 and 13 
 

IDP / Modelling 
report / transport 
evidence base 

 

 

Bromsgrove District Council 

Other: e.g. Policies map, 
table, figure, key diagram 

X 

X 

 

 

X  

N/A See below N/A See below 

 

BDC made comments to the 2018 pre submission. Previous comments still stand and 
BDC would like to add to them, as per section 9 below. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Expand Box / Continue on a separate sheet if necessary 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5



3 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 
 
6. Do you want to support/object/comment on this part of the Local Plan?:  
 
 Support   Comment    Object   
 
 
7. Do you consider the Local Plan is:  
 

a) Legally Compliant          Yes                 No 
 
 

b) Sound      Yes     No 
 
 

c) Complies with the Duty to co-operate  Yes     No 
 
 
 

8. If you answered ‘No’ to Question 7b, please specify on what grounds you consider the Local Plan to be 
unsound? (see guidance notes part 3 for explaining of terms) 

 
       Positively Prepared         Justified             Effective          Consistent with National Policy  

      Please Tick as appropriate 

       
9. Please give details of why you consider the Local Plan is not legally compliant or is unsound or fails to 
comply with the Duty to co-operate. Please be as precise as possible. 
If you wish to support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its compliance with the Duty 
to co-operate, please also use this box to set out your comments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

X X X 

X 
 

 

See section 9 
comments 

 

X 

See section 9 
comments 
 

 

 

See separate document  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Expand Box / Continue on a separate sheet if necessary 
 

  X 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5



4 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 
 

10. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 

Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the Matter you have identified at 9 above where this 

relates to soundness. (NB Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to co-operate is incapable of 
modification at examination). You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan 

legally compliant or sound. It would be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggested revised 
wording of any policy or text. Please be as precise as possible. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Please note your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence and supporting information 
necessary to support/justify the representation and the suggested modification, as there will not normally be a 
subsequent opportunity to make further representations based on the original representation at publication stage. 

After this stage, further submissions will be only at the request of the Inspector, based on the matters and issues 
he/she identifies for examination. 

 
 

11. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to speak at the 
examination? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12. If you wish to speak at the examination, please outline why you consider this to be necessary: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please note the Inspector will determine the most appropriate procedure to adopt to hear those who have indicated that 
they wish to speak at the examination. 

 

 

BDC considers that the wording of policies 12 and 13 could be amended to strengthen 
them and provide more clarity in relation to the mitigation required.  However, as the 
fundamental issue is with the evidence which underpins these policies, without more 
robust evidence base BDC still does not consider this plan can be made sound with 
simple policy wording changes. 
 

 

If it can be demonstrated clearly what the impacts of development are on infrastructure in 
Bromsgrove, then a clear policy requirement for the delivery of cross boundary 
infrastructure will need to be included in the plan. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Expand box / continue on a separate sheet if necessary 
 

No I do not wish to 
speak at the 
examination. 

Yes I would like to 
speak at the 
examination. 

To hopefully aid the inspector’s understanding of the particular local circumstances 
specific to the objections raised. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Expand box / continue on a separate sheet if necessary 
 

 X 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



5 
www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 

 
 
13. Are there any other comments you would like to make?: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Signature              Mike Dunphy                                                                        Date      14th October 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please return the completed form by no later than 5:00pm on 14 October 2019 to:  

Email: LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk 

Or post to: Planning Policy Team, Wyre Forest District Council, Wyre Forest House, Finepoint Way, Kidderminster, DY11 7WF 

 

Consultation response forms can be completed and submitted online at: www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview 
 
 
 

Data Protection 
The information you provide on the form will be stored on a database used solely in connection with the Local Plan. 
Representations will be available to view on the council’s website, but address, signature and contact details will 
not be included. However, as copies of representations must be made available for public inspection, they cannot be 
treated as confidential and will be available for inspection in full. Copies of all representations will also be provided to 
the Planning Inspectorate as part of the submission of the Wyre Forest District Local Plan. By submitting this form you are 
agreeing to these conditions. 
 Please see the Councils Data Protection and Privacy statement: 
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy.aspx 
 
 

Please submit 
this form online 

By signing this form you are agreeing to The Council’s Data Protection Policy above and the storage of 
your information. 

 

All our comments have been made in the relation to section 9 above.  
 

Expand box / continue on a separate sheet if necessary 
 

Page 88

Agenda Item 5

mailto:LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/localplanreview
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy.aspx
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=3UPfVZx4&id=2FF74A698CE08F672463A0AF06C953051EE3CAD9&thid=OIP.3UPfVZx46J0v1MEA-ebSOAHaCe&mediaurl=https://www.wgaplans.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/go_paperless_metaslider_tempalte.png&exph=400&expw=1200&q=go+paperless+logo&simid=608017490201022176&selectedIndex=21
http://www.wyreforestdc.gov.uk/


 Introduction 
 

1. The previous comments submitted by Bromsgrove District Council BDC in relation to 
this plan still stand, the comments below expand on those submitted previously. At 
the time of submission they are submitted as officer comments, they will be 
presented to BDC members in due course for their consideration.  

 
2. It remains the view of BDC that unfortunately The Wyre Forest Local Plan (WFLP) is 

unsound, BDC do not consider that the plan is Justified, Effective, or Consistent with 
National Policy. It is also unfortunate that BDC also now raises concerns about 
whether the requirements of the Duty to Co-operate to have been met.  
 
Evidence concerns  
 

3. Without repeating the previous concerns verbatim the issue that BDC has is that it is 
still unclear as to what the transport impacts are, of the WFLP on Bromsgrove 
District. Concerns were expressed previously on the clarity of the work provided to 
support the 2018 publication version of the plan. Although efforts have been made to 
address these concerns, the fact remains that from the published information it is, in 
the view of BDC, not possible to clearly see what the impacts of the developments 
sites are, and then clearly understand the mitigation strategy.  
 

4. The need for a more robust transport evidence base has been something that BDC 
has been raising throughout the development of the WFLP. In response to BDCs 
November 2018 objection, further discussions took place in February and March 
2019 where BDC continued to express its position, with WCC officers in attendance. 
It is BDCs understanding that these discussion in part led to the additional document 
that has been published, Wyre Forest Local Plan Review, Transport Evidence June 
2019. It had been hoped that the content of this document would have addressed the 
previous concerns BDC raised but unfortunately it does not do this. The position of 
BDC is, and has always been, that the Council would like to be able to understand 
the impacts of the plan on the infrastructure within Bromsgrove District, and then to 
clearly understand how the proposed mitigation and its delivery has been arrived at.  
 

5. Unfortunately the Wyre Forest Local Plan Review, Transport Evidence June 2019 
does not satisfy this information gap. It is the view of BDC that the document has 
flaws. The document at section 4 attempts to suggest that an assessment has been 
done to confirm that the model is fit for purpose. BDC does not see how any actual 
assessment has been done, and consider that it is not possible to make the 
conclusion at para 4.6 based on the information in the preceding section. 
 

6. A more significant concern is that although there is new information in this report, it is 
still not possible to ascertain from the information provided what the actual impact of 
development would be. The document shows that flows and journey times will 
increase in many locations, but without a base year, or updated base year to 
compare against, all that can be concluded is that there will be more trips on the 
network. Without being able to compare a scenario where WFLP developments are 
not present, and where WFLP developments are present, understanding what the 
actual impacts of development are, is impossible.  
 

7. Another concern with this piece of evidence is that there is no modelling with any 
mitigation included. Therefore from the evidence available it is not possible to 
understand if the suggested mitigation in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 
actually mitigates both individual development sites and also the cumulative impacts 
of the WFLP.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan  
 

8. Turning to the IDP the BDC position remains the same as previously expressed. The 
Council’s previous concerns centered on the untested and in some cases un-costed 
schemes and proposals in the IDP. Whilst it is acknowledged that changes have 
been made to the IDP it is still unclear what the links are between the impact of 
development and the mitigation that is specified. This is a particular concern for the 
A456 through Hagley, where previous proposals for a bypass have been softened 
and the need for a wider review working with other councils seems to have replaced 
this proposal. BDC has no objection in principle to a wider review of transport 
infrastructure; indeed it would expect this consideration to come to the fore as the 
review of the Bromsgrove District Plan gathers momentum.  However it is not 
considered appropriate at this stage to leave it to a wider infrastructure review to 
mitigate the specific impacts of the WFLP, should they ever be clearly identified, it 
maybe that the impacts are not significant to warrant such a review or if the impacts 
are proved to be significant, it is something which may be too late to address via plan 
making.  
 

9. It is also considered that the Duty to Cooperate and Statements of Common ground 
that BDC will prepare to support its plan are not the place to decide what 
infrastructure is required to support the developments in Wyre Forest,  as para 3.1.21 
of the IDP seems to be suggesting. It is the view of BDC that the infrastructure needs 
of the WFLP need to be clearly identified in the evidence that supports that plan, and 
mechanisms put in place to allow for any cross border infrastructure to be delivered. 
BDC has a strong track record of such an approach both working with Birmingham 
City Council on the Longbridge Area Action plan, and more recently in working with 
Redditch Borough Council in providing cross boundary allocations in Bromsgrove 
District to meet the needs of Redditch Borough. 
 

10. Para 3.1.24 of the IDP discusses the rail enhancement taking place at Blakedown 
station. BDC does not have an objection in principle to this enhancement. However 
there are concerns  with the following statement: 
 

‘Enhancements to parking facilities at Blakedown Station will also help to 
mitigate the impact of growth on Hagley within Bromsgrove District. 
Hagley currently suffers from congestion at peak times and this is 
considered to be a first step in reducing congestion before wider 
strategic improvements can be considered and implemented.  

 

It is not clear how the addition or parking at this station combined with other 
strategies such as improving of the A450 corridor work together to reduce congestion 
in Hagley. It could be argued that improving the A450 corridor without 
complementary improvements on the Hagley area just allows the congestion to get to 
Hagley quicker. It is of interest to BDC to understand the amount of congestion that 
improvements at Blakedown will relieve in Hagley, and also the process which has 
been undertaken to identify this reduction. 
 
Duty to Co-operate  

 
11. The above paragraphs largely reiterate the concerns that BDC has over the 

robustness of evidence base to support the plan. BDC considers it has engaged fully 
in the attempts to ensure that the DTC has been met. As highlighted above these 
evidence related issues are longstanding concerns that BDC has expressed many 
times. It had been hoped that early engagement initiated by BDC in May 2018, where 

Page 90

Agenda Item 5



concerns were expressed about the evidence base that was being worked on to 
support the previous publication version on the WFLP, would have ensured that no 
objection needed to be submitted at that time; unfortunately that was not the case, 
and the Councils previous objection was submitted.  
 

12. As referred to above in an attempt to ensure constructive engagement, meetings 
took place in February and March 2019, where a set of actions were agreed by all 
parties which it had hoped would result in a robust evidence base which addresses 
the concerns of BDC. The work which was prepared as a result of these discussions 
was only seen by BDC in June 2019. 
 

13. In June 2019 WFDC published the local plan documents as part of its Overview and 
scrutiny agenda for the meeting of 4th July 2019. On initial review of these documents 
BDC again expressed concerns that this evidence still does not address the 
longstanding issue of clarity of the development impacts. It was agreed that a DTC 
meeting needed to take place. This meeting took place on the 30th July 2019, at this 
meeting a set of actions were agreed which would provide BDC the information it 
sought, in particular the impacts of development on the Hagley area. It was agreed 
that this information should be provided for the 29th August 2019, prior to the 
representation period on the publication version of the plan opening. A meeting was 
penciled in to discuss this additional work on the 29th August. Subsequent to this 
meeting it is understood that WFDC contacted WCC separately to request that the 
work is not provided for the 29th August as agreed, minutes of that meeting confirm 
this; 
 

Following on from this meeting WFDC reviewed the proposed meeting date for 
discussion of Hagley paper and next steps (29

th
 August). They concluded 

that as there was not time for them to review all the information in advance of 
the regulation 19 consultation, they would rather the meeting was postponed 
until late September to allow more time for the paper to be prepared and 
reviewed and the consultation to commence.  

 
14. On receiving notification on the minute above BDC requested a further 

amendment was made to the minutes as below, 
 

BDC must point out on the record that the reason for the timescale was to 
allow for all the documents to be available for the start of the representations 
period. We have reservations about this revised timescale for the publication 
of the work and the possible implication that BDC and other stakeholders will 
not have full access to the evidence for the full duration of the regulation 19 
representation period. 

 
15. At the time of writing this representation the information which was agreed on the 

meeting of the 29
th
 July has still not been provided, and therefore this objection 

has had to be drafted.  
 

Concluding Comments 
 
16. BDC continues to raise concerns about the lack of a robust evidence base and, 

also unfortunately raises potential concerns about the ability of WFDC to meet 
the DTC. It is hoped that working within the relevant regulations which dictate the 
plan making process from this point forward, and by continuing to engage with Wyre 
Forest District Council and Worcestershire County Council, that a solution to the 
issues  above can be found in advance of the submission of the Wyre Forest Local 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



Plan. The outcomes of this ongoing engagement can then be reported in the 
Statement of Common ground which we understand will accompany the submission. 

 
 

 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Helen Smith 
Spatial Planning Manager 

tel: 01562 732928 
fax: 01562 732556 

your ref:   
17th September 2019 

 

 
  

 
 
 
                                           

 
Mike Parker, Corporate Director: Economic Prosperity and Place 
 
  
 

 

 

 
Economic Prosperity and Place Directorate 

Wyre Forest House 
Finepoint Way 
Kidderminster 

Worcestershire DY11 7WF 

 

 
Dear Mrs Bamford, 
 
Re: Wyre Forest Local Plan Pre-Submission Publication Consultation 
 
Thank you for your recent letter dated 10th September 2019. It is disappointing to hear that 
you still have concerns about our Local Plan. We have now undertaken a number of Duty 
to Cooperate meetings with Mike Dunphy (BDC) and also colleagues from Worcestershire 
County Council to discuss the highways concerns that BDC have, in particular with regard 
to traffic congestion in Hagley. 
 
In the current Pre-Submission consultation, the Council, working with the County improved 
the clarity of the transport evidence and updated the report and produced further technical 
evidence to support the IDP. This approach had been discussed with Mike Dunphy during 
the numerous Duty to Cooperate meetings we have held with BDC since the 
November/December 2018 consultation. It is therefore surprising that BDC have only now 
requested further technical work to be undertaken; it would have been more helpful to 
have identified any concerns during those meetings. I note in your letter dated 10th 
September you do not specify what this additional technical work should consist of.  
 
The technical evidence base documents that are being consulted on as part of our 
September/October 2019 consultation were agreed by WFDC Cabinet at a meeting on 16th 
July 2019. As I am sure you can appreciate, we cannot now add further technical evidence 
to our consultation. It was agreed at the last Duty to Cooperate meeting that a Statement 
of Common Ground would be prepared jointly between WFDC, WCC and BDC to 
hopefully resolve any issues still outstanding before the examination of the Local Plan 
commences. As a neighbouring local authority, it is hoped that we can work together in a 
professional, collaborative and positive manner to find solutions and a possible 
compromise that is agreeable to all parties involved. If you could clarify in writing the 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5

GillP_4
Typewritten text
Appendix 5



nature of the additional technical work that you refer to, I suggest that we pick that up in 
the continued Duty to Cooperate dialogue. 
 
As the Local Plan Pre-Submission consultation has re-opened, you have another 
opportunity to respond in writing to our consultation setting out clearly any concerns you 
may still have with our Local Plan. We will then hold a further Duty to Cooperate meeting 
with BDC and WCC to discuss any issues you may raise in a consultation response and 
prepare a Statement of Common Ground (as agreed at our last DtC meeting). Please note 
that the closing date for the consultation is 5pm on 14th October 2019. 
 
We look forward to continuing to work with BDC in a positive manner as part of the ‘Duty to 
Cooperate’ that each Local Authority has a responsibility to adhere to. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 

Helen Smith 
Spatial Planning Manager 

Page 94

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

Planning Policy Team,  
Wyre Forest District Council,  
Wyre Forest House,  
Finepoint Way,  
Kidderminster,  
DY11 7WF 
By email LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk 

 

strategicplanning@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 

10th September 2019 

Dear Planning Policy Team 

Wyre Forest Local Plan Pre-Submission Publication Consultation 

I write in connection to the above, on Monday 2nd September 2019 WFDC published its Local Plan 

Review (LPR) pre submission version for the second time; BDC officers have concerns about the 

processes surrounding this representations period. 

As you will be aware BDC officers have met with WFDC a number of times to discuss its plan review, 

a consistent theme of these discussions has been infrastructure provision, particularly transport 

infrastructure provision. The need to provide a clear set of transport proposals to support and 

enable the growth in the WFDC LPR formed part of this Council’s response to the preferred option 

version of the plan in August 2017. At that point there was very little transport evidence to support 

the plan, although BDC was assured by WFDC/WCC that fuller/more complete evidence would be 

provided in due course.  

By the time of the November 2018 version of the WFDC plan, some additional work had been done 

in relation to transport evidence/information. Unfortunately in BDCs view this work did not provide 

clarity on the likely impacts, and required mitigation of the WFDC LPR development sites on 

infrastructure within Bromsgrove District, as a result an objection to the LPR was submitted to that 

effect.   BDC officers have since met with WFDC and WCC to discuss these concerns. 

In July 2019 further documents were published by WFDC. BDC officers met with WFDC and WCC 

officers in late July where officers again outlined possible concerns with the level of evidence 

provided. As a result a set of tasks was agreed which it was hoped would help solve the issue. It was 

agreed the tasks would be completed by the end of August, to allow for this additional work to form 

part of the pre-submission representation period. 

 A follow-on meeting, to again include officers from WCC, BDC and WFDC was scheduled for the 29th 

of August to discuss the outcomes of this work. Separately from the meeting WFDC advised WCC 

that the meeting should be cancelled, and the additional work would not be needed for the 

beginning of the reps period, WFDC asked that the work is done for later in September.  

As a result of this BDC officers are now in a position whereby we consider the evidence base which 

has been published to support the 2019 Wyre Forest Local Plan Pre-Submission Publication 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5

mailto:LPR@wyreforestdc.gov.uk
mailto:strategicplanning@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


 

 

document is currently incomplete. Therefore the ability of the Council to respond fully in this 

representation period is severely hampered by all the relevant evidence not being available to 

inform our response for the full 6 weeks of available time. This position is one which will also affect 

other stakeholders in the LPR process such as the Parish Councils within Bromsgrove. 

We would be grateful if WFDC could confirm that further documents are to be published in relation 

to this representations period, and what actions will be taken to allow BDC and other stakeholders 

to make fully informed representation on the LPR. 

 

We would be grateful if you could respond by the 17th September 2019 

 

Yours sincerely  

 
Ruth Bamford  
Head of Planning and Regeneration  
Bromsgrove District Council  
 

CC Bromsgrove District Parish Councils  

Page 96

Agenda Item 5



Worcestershire County Council 

Find out more online: 
www.worcestershire.gov.uk/LTP 

Transport Demand in the 
Hagley Area  
January 2020

Page 97

Agenda Item 5

GillP_5
Typewritten text
Appendix 6



 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Census 2011 Travel Demand Analysis for the A456 Corridor.................................................................................... 2 

3. Duty to Cooperate Meetings ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. Strategic Highway Capacity Enhancement Proposals ................................................................................................ 7 

5. Modelling of the Transport Demand Impacts of Proposed Growth in Wyre Forest District .................... 7 

6. Worcestershire County Council’s Demand Management Approach for the A456 Corridor .................... 12 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98

Agenda Item 5



1 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The village of Hagley is in the Bromsgrove District of Worcestershire, in the very north of the 

County, close to the boundary with the West Midlands Conurbation (specifically Dudley 
Metropolitan Borough Council area).  

 
1.2 The A456 passes through Hagley village, linking the Wyre Forest and a wide, dispersed rural 

population to the west with the West Midlands Conurbation and the motorway network (M5, 
Junction 3) to the east, with connections to the M6 and the rest of the national motorway 
network. The A491 intersects this corridor from north to south, connecting Dudley to the north 
with M5 Junction 4 to the south, with onward connections to the M42 (for Birmingham 
Airport/NEC), London and the South East (via the M40) and Bristol and the South West (via the 
M5 south)  

 
1.3 A map of the local highway network in the Hagley area is provided below in Figure 1.  
 

 
FIGURE 1 – MAP OF HAGLEY VILLAGE AND THE LOCAL HIGHWAY NETWORK 

 
1.4 As such, Hagley village’s highway network is at the crossroads of two nationally significant 

transport corridors. It is perhaps unsurprising that both routes have been proposed for 
inclusion in the Government’s proposed Major Roads Network, which is aimed to complement 
the Strategic Road Network as roads which carry a high proportion of traffic with a national 
economic significance.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

2. Census 2011 Travel Demand Analysis for the A456 Corridor 
 
2.1 Evidence suggests that the A456 is the principal route between the Wyre Forest Towns and the 

M5 (either northbound via Junction 3/A456) or southbound via Junction 4/A491), which is 
logical, given the access opportunities that this route provides to the Birmingham Box 
(M5/M6/M42), Birmingham Airport, the NEC and wider UK destinations.  

 
2.2 Alternative access routes to the motorway network from the Wyre Forest Towns include the 

A449 (southbound for M5 Junction 6), A448 (eastbound via Bromsgrove for M42, Junction 1) and 
A442 (south bound for M5 Junction 5). Some traffic also rat-runs through Belbroughton using 
the B4188 to bypass Hagley, although as this report focuses specifically on the A456, these 
routes will not be considered in any further detail in this report.  

 
2.3 In 2011, the A456 through Hagley carried 31,852 vehicles per day1 (Annual Average Daily Traffic or 

AADT), of which: 
 

• 25,495 were cars and taxis (80%) 

• 6,090 were LGVs/HGVs (19%) 

• 319 were buses, coaches, motorcycles and cycles (1%) 

 
2.4 The Census of 2011, being the most recent data source from which to assess travel demand, 

identifies that the Wyre Forest was a relatively ‘contained’ economy. Specifically, a significant 
proportion of residents live and work within the District (see Tables 1 and 2, below). 

 

 
TABLE 1 – NUMBERS OF WYRE FOREST EMPLOYMENT TRIPS BY ORIGIN AND DESTINATION (CENSUS 2011)  

                                                           
1 https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/manualcountpoints/47847 
 

DISTRICT OF 
RESIDENCE (ORIGIN) 

DISTRICT OF WORK 
(DESTINATION)

Bromsgrove 679 2% Bromsgrove 1,186 3%

Redditch 221 1% Redditch 478 1%

Wychavon 1,043 4% Wychavon 3,377 9%

Wyre Forest 20,165 71% Wyre Forest 20,165 56%

Worcester 774 3% Worcester 2,387 7%

Malvern Hills 635 2% Malvern Hills 717 2%

Birmingham 472 2% Birmingham 2,318 6%

Dudley 1,924 7% Dudley 2,473 7%

Solihull 98 0% Solihull 277 1%

Sandwell 321 1% Sandwell 902 2%

Stratford-on-Avon 38 0% Stratford-on-Avon 104 0%

Walsall 118 0% Walsall 138 0%

Coventry 23 0% Coventry 93 0%

Wolverhampton 194 1% Wolverhampton 395 1%

Warwick 18 0% Warwick 116 0%

South Staffordshire 298 1% South Staffordshire 221 1%

Shropshire 1,037 4% Shropshire 638 2%

Herefordshire 114 0% Herefordshire 120 0%

Tewkesbury 20 0% Tewkesbury 80 0%

Cheltenham 23 0% Cheltenham 48 0%

Gloucester 9 0% Gloucester 37 0%

Rest of GB and NI 573 2% Rest of GB and NI 1,415 4%

TOTALS 28,237 TOTALS 36,270

Commuting from Wyre 
Forest District

Commuting to Wyre 
Forest District

Page 100

Agenda Item 5



3 
 

 
TABLE 2 – NUMBERS OF EMPLOYMENT JOURNEYS TO AND FROM WYRE FOREST ORIGINS AND DESTINATIONS 

BY TRANSPORT CORRIDOR (CENSUS 2011)  

2.5 The data contained in Table 2 above includes a number of assumptions about transport 
corridors used by employment trips to and from the Wyre Forest District. Included in the table 
above is the known mode share for rail (drawn from Census 2011 data). 

 
2.6 From the information set out in Tables 1 and 2, when rail journeys are accounted for, it is 

estimated that the Wyre Forest generates between 5,500 and 6,000 employment trips which 
will route via the A456 through Hagley; or approximately 18% of total traffic flow.  

 
2.7 Since 2011, the Wyre Forest has seen an uplift in regeneration of former derelict employment 

and residential sites, particularly around the former British Sugar site at Hoobrook and at 
Churchfields, but travel flows appear to have remained largely static since that time.  

 
2.8 As identified earlier, the area immediately to the west of the Wyre Forest Towns and beyond is 

‘deep rural’ in nature, with sparsely distributed settlements. For residents of this (geographically 
significant) area, the A456 is the natural corridor of choice to access the West Midlands and the 
Motorway network. Figure 2 below attempts to illustrate this concept of the (much) wider 
catchment of the A456, beyond the Wyre Forest District.  

 
 

TWO WAY FLOWS
Commuter Routes to/from Wyre Forest District and Direction of 

Travel

Bromsgrove 1,865 3% A448 (East), A456 (North East)
Redditch 699 1% A456 (North East), A448 (East)
Wychavon 4,420 7% A449 (South), A442 (South East), Rail (South - 1% of trips)
Wyre Forest 40,330 61% Internal
Worcester 3,161 5% A449 (South), Rail (South - 5% of trips)
Malvern Hills 1,352 2% A451 (South West), A456 (West), A449 (South), Rail (South - 2% of trips)
Birmingham 2,790 4% A456 (North East), Rail (North East - 22% of trips)
Dudley 4,397 7% A451 (North East), A449 (North East), A456 (North East)
Solihull 375 1% A456 (North East), Rail (North East - 10% of trips)
Sandwell 1,223 2% A456 (North East), A449 (North), Rail (North East - 5% of trips)
Stratford-on-Avon 142 0% A456 (North East)
Walsall 256 0% A456 (North East)
Coventry 116 0% A456 (North East)
Wolverhampton 589 1% A449 (North), A456 (North East)
Warwick 134 0% A456 (North East)
South Staffordshire 519 1% A449 (North) 
Shropshire 1,675 3% A442 (North), A449 (North)
Herefordshire 234 0% A456 (West), A451 (South West)
Tewkesbury 100 0% A449 (South)
Cheltenham 71 0% A449 (South)
Gloucester 46 0% A449 (South)
Rest of GB and NI 1,988 3% Various

TOTALS 66,482

Commuting to or from 
the Wyre Forest District

Page 101

Agenda Item 5



4 
 

 
FIGURE 2 – MAP OF ASSUMED WIDER CATCHMENT OF THE A456 TRANSPORT CORRIDOR 

2.9 The loss of much of the rural rail network in the Marches as part of the Beeching cuts means 
that for many residents of the area identified in Figure 2 above, driving represents the only 
realistic option for accessing the West Midlands Conurbation from this area. For residents of 
this area, the nearest rail heads offering direct access into the West Midlands Conurbation are 
Shrewsbury to the north, or Hereford/Ledbury to the south. To access these, a train must be 
taken from Ludlow (nearest railhead) to either Hereford or Shrewsbury, or users must drive to 
access this mode. The trip attraction of this area for employment purposes is low (particularly 
for higher paid professional work) so it is reasonable to assume that any growth in demand in 
this wider area with destinations in the West Midlands Conurbation will disproportionately 
affect demand to travel experienced on the A456 passing through Hagley. There is 
comparatively little development growth proposed in South Shropshire/North Herefordshire 
area, but the lure of higher paid employment in the West Midlands Conurbation may continue 
to stimulate increased demand to travel over time. Census data suggests that over 1,450 trips 
are made each day, by car, from this wider area to destinations in the West Midlands 
Conurbation to access employment alone. It is reasonable to assume that a significant 
additional volume of traffic will also be using this corridor for other purposes, including tourist 
traffic and business-related journeys.  

 
2.10 The recently adopted West Midlands Rail Investment Strategy (2018 – 2047) proposes a new 

railway station to be opened at the West Midlands Safari Park, making use of the Severn Valley 
Railway heritage railway line. Should a suitably positive business case be identified, this could 
offer an opportunity to pursue significant modal transfer from road to rail for strategic trips 
into the West Midlands Conurbation and beyond for the rural areas to the west of the Wyre 
Forest District.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 5



5 
 

3. Duty to Cooperate Meetings  
 

3.1 Worcestershire County Council has held formal Duty to Cooperate Meetings with Dudley 
Metropolitan Borough Council and South Staffordshire District Council, to understand the 
likely impacts that forecast growth in these areas may have on Worcestershire.  

 
South Staffordshire District Council  

 
3.2 Negligible growth is proposed in the southern part of South Staffordshire (which adjoins 

Worcestershire). As such, no impacts are expected on Worcestershire’s transport networks.  
 

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council  
 

3.3 It was identified that significant growth is proposed in the Black Country area, as set out in the 
Black Country Core Strategy. There are two significant housing growth corridors which have 
relevance: the Dudley / Brierley Hill/ Stourbridge corridor and the Brierley Hill / Stourbridge 
corridor. This growth is expected to place further demand on the A456 east of Hagley (within 
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council’s boundary) which may impact upon Worcestershire’s 
transport networks.  

 
3.4 A highway improvement scheme is due to be implemented in the near future at the Grange 

Roundabout (junction of A456, A459 and B4551), although this improvement scheme has been 
designed to cater exclusively for existing demand. It will not cater for forecast demand growth. 

 
3.5 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council’s adopted transport strategy focusses investment on 

significant improvement of local public transport networks, to mitigate demand generated by 
development growth.  

 
3.6 Station car parks within the West Midlands Conurbation are currently free to use, but the West 

Midlands Combined Authority are proposing to implement a charging regime in the near future, 
to discourage car-based access to rail services in line with adopted policy. It is expected that 
this will result in car parking charges becoming consistent across the local area. Further, it is 
suggested that this could displace demand currently travelling into the conurbation from 
Worcestershire and further afield which currently takes advantage of this. This would have the 
effect of making car park charges levied at Blakedown and Kidderminster Stations consistent 
with those in the West Midlands Conurbation.   

 
3.7 Colleagues at Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council were strongly supportive of 

Worcestershire County Council’s proposal to build a large ‘rail and ride’ facility at Blakedown, as 
this will complement their adopted transport strategy to pursue modal shift to passenger 
transport, before trips enter the Conurbation.  

 
Shropshire Council  

 
3.8 The Shropshire Development Plan (2015), places development focus on existing urban areas. In 

the context of this plan, the settlement of Bridgnorth is the closest to Worcestershire, with 
only 1,400 dwellings proposed for development within the plan period. There are no significant 
transport infrastructure or service investments proposed in the local area.  

 
3.9 A Preferred Options Consultation for Strategic Sites (2019) proposes four strategic sites for 

major development:  
 

• An area of search in land to the north of M54, Junction 3;  

• Market Drayton (the former Clive Barracks) 750 new dwellings beyond 2026; 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



6 
 

• Iron Bridge (the former power stations) 1000 new dwellings beyond 2022/3;  

• RAF Cosford, with a focus on further military, tourist and defence industry 
redevelopment.  

3.10 As all of these sites are remote from Worcestershire, it was decided that a Duty to Cooperate 
meeting was not required with Shropshire Council, as proposed development growth would 
have no significant impact on Worcestershire’s transport networks.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 5



7 
 

4. Strategic Highway Capacity Enhancement Proposals 
 

4.1 Midlands Connect published the Midlands Connect Strategy in March 2017. This document 
proposed the need for a Western Strategic Route, completing the motorway ring around the 
West Midlands Conurbation. Following this, Midlands Connect published a Long-Term Midlands 
Motorway Hub Study in partnership with Highways England, which promotes the need for this 
route. 
 

4.2 If constructed, this route would provide a de facto bypass of Hagley, however, it should be 
noted that development of business cases to construct new motorways is notoriously complex, 
resulting in long lead-in times. Subject to a suitable business case being developed, it could be 
decades before any scheme is delivered and benefits realised. For this reason, it is suggested 
that the Western Strategic Route should not be considered within this context until such a 
point that a suitable, funded business case has been identified, together with an agreed 
programme for delivery.  

 
 

5. Modelling of the Transport Demand Impacts of Proposed Growth in 
Wyre Forest District  

 
5.1 The Wyre Forest Transport Model (WFTM), developed in VISUM, was used to test the likely 

impacts of forecast development growth in the Wyre Forest, in terms of its distribution across 
transport networks, and in particular on the A456 corridor in the Hagley area, for a 2036 
forecast year.  

 
5.2 The 2036 WFTM was run both with Wyre Forest Local Plan allocations traffic (WithLP) and 

without local plan traffic (WithoutLP). Figure 3 to Figure 6 show difference plots between the 
WithLP and WithoutLP scenarios for the 2036 AM and PM peaks. The flow differences depict 
the impact of increased demand due to the local plan allocations as well as the re-routing 
effects across the modelled transport networks; with significant changes around the Wyre 
Forest as traffic redistributes along various routes to avoid more congested parts of the 
network. 

 
5.3 Similarly, traffic that passes through Hagley also re-routes due to Wyre Forest Local Plan 

associated traffic passing through the town. The net impact of change in traffic in Hagley from 
various directions (A450, A456 west and east, A491 north and south, B4187 etc) is an increase of 
43 vehicles inbound and 25 vehicles outbound in the 2036 AM peak hour. The corresponding 
values for the 2036 PM peak hour are an increase of 52 vehicles in the inbound direction and a 
decrease of 37 vehicles in the outbound direction. These changes are relatively low due to 
capacity constraints at junctions in Hagley leading to vehicles choosing alternative routes. 

 
5.4 Further analysis was undertaken of the demand from the Wyre Forest Local Plan allocations 

that pass through Hagley. In the 2036 AM peak, the local plan developments in Wyre Forest 
generate 2,808 trips in total. It was calculated that 234 (8.3%) of these trips interact with the 
Hagley network either passing through to other destinations or with one trip end in Hagley. 

 
5.5 Similarly, in the 2036 PM peak, the Wyre Forest Local Plan developments in Wyre Forest 

generate 2,408 trips in total of which 191 (7.9%) trips interact with the Hagley network either 
passing through or with one trip end in Hagley. 

 
5.6 Base total highway demand with origins or destinations in the Wyre Forest District accounts for 

5.6% (AM) and 6.3% (PM) of trips passing through Hagley.  
 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5



 

8 
 

FIGURE 3: GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF THE IMPACT OF LOCAL PLAN DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC– 2036 AM (WITH LOCAL PLAN MINUS WITHOUT LOCAL PLAN) 

 

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 5



 

9 
 

 

FIGURE 4:  GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF THE IMPACT OF WYRE FOREST LOCAL PLAN DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC IN HAGLEY – 2036 AM (WITH LOCAL PLAN MINUS WITHOUT LOCAL PLAN) 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 3 

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 5



 

10 
 

FIGURE 5: GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF THE IMPACT OF LOCAL PLAN DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC– 2036 PM (WITH LOCAL PLAN MINUS WITHOUT LOCAL PLAN) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 4 

P
age 108

A
genda Item

 5



 

11 
 

 

FIGURE 6: GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF THE IMPACT OF WYRE FOREST LOCAL PLAN DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC IN HAGLEY – 2036 PM (WITH LOCAL PLAN MINUS WITHOUT LOCAL PLAN) 

 

 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 5



 

12 
 

5.7 Table 3 shows the total number of trips generated by proposed Wyre Forest Local Plan 
developments in the Wyre Forest area in the 2036 AM and PM peaks, together with the number 
of trips that are forecast to route through Hagley.   

 

 

 

 

 

TABLE 3: LOCAL PLAN TRIPS SUMMARY 

5.8 In the AM peak, 234 of the 2,808 Wyre Forest Local Plan trips travel through Hagley which is 
equivalent to just 8.3%. In the PM peak, 191 of the 2,408 local plan trips pass through Hagley, 
accounting for 7.9% of Wyre Forest Local Plan trips. 

 

6. Worcestershire County Council’s Demand Management Approach for 
the A456 Corridor 

 
6.1 The significant peak time congestion which is experienced in both Kidderminster Town Centre 

(northern ring road) and Hagley village is likely to be acting to suppress demand on the A456 
corridor. Some journeys that might have otherwise been made by car on this route may take 
too long or be too unreliable because of peak time congestion, which may force some people 
to use other routes, other modes or avoid travelling altogether.  

 
6.2 The evidence included within this report suggests that forecast travel demand on the A456 

arising from the Wyre Forest Local Plan will be limited. As long as proposed investment is 
prioritised to enhance rail infrastructure, services and facilities within the Wyre Forest District, it 
is reasonable to assume that this will mitigate this forecast growth in demand. In turn, it would 
be unreasonable to expect the Wyre Forest Local Plan to contribute to more strategic highway 
capacity improvements on the A456 corridor beyond the District’s administrative boundary.  

 
6.3 It is also important to recognise that national mobility trends are anticipated to undergo 

significant change. This, together with continued growth in home and flexible working patterns 
is forecast to result in a gradual decline in travel demand, as transport networks become 
increasingly efficient and telecommunications access and speed improves.  

 
6.4 In the wider area, the draft Birmingham Transport Plan (January 2020) 

www.birmingham.gov.uk/info/20013/roads_travel_and_parking/2032/draft_birmingham_transp
ort_plan represents a marked change in local approach to transport planning, with a strong 
focus on demand management to discourage single-occupancy car use. Undoubtedly, this will, 
impact on commuting patterns into the conurbation from the Wyre Forest if adopted, and if 
other Local Authorities follow suit.  

 
6.5 Any proposal to tackle congestion by providing additional highway capacity on this corridor 

(such as a bypass of Hagley) would make driving on this corridor much more attractive by 
improving journey times and journey time reliability. In turn, this would act to release 
suppressed demand, resulting in an overall uplift in traffic using the corridor, which would result 

 Total Wyre Forest Local Plan 
Trips 

Wyre Forest Local Plan Trips using 
A456 through Hagley 

2036 AM Peak 2,808 234 (8.3%) 

2036 PM Peak 2,408 191 (7.9%) 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5

https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/info/20013/roads_travel_and_parking/2032/draft_birmingham_transport_plan
https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/info/20013/roads_travel_and_parking/2032/draft_birmingham_transport_plan


 

13 
 

in either maintaining the current status quo, or worse, a net deterioration in corridor efficiency, 
with linked increases in local emissions of carbon and nitrogen dioxide and deteriorated air 
quality.  

 
6.6 In recognition of this, Worcestershire County Council’s demand mitigation strategy for the A456 

corridor centres on focussing investment at Blakedown Station expansion to provide strategic 
rail-based park and ride facilities and investing in improvements at Kidderminster station and 
station travel plans to support growth, in line with the sustainable development principles of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. Together, these stations will provide genuinely 
attractive travel alternatives for a significant percentage of trips using this corridor, mitigating 
the impacts of demand growth on the busy A456. When station car park charges come forward 
at stations within the West Midlands Conurbation in future, this is expected to result in a net 
uplift in demand to use stations in Worcestershire.  

 
6.7 This approach is widely supported by National and Local Policy and best practice, including the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), balancing demand and making best use of existing 
transport infrastructure to accommodate travel demand generated by planned development 
growth. In line with the guidance set out in the NPPF, a bypass for Hagley will be considered 
only after investment has been made to exhaust alternative travel options. In the specific case 
of the A456, this means investment in rail infrastructure and services to enable this mode to 
accommodate a much greater mode share of generated trips.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the above-captioned project only. 

It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose. 

We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used for any other 

purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by other parties. 

This document contains confidential information and proprietary intellectual property. It should not be shown to other parties without 

consent from us and from the party which commissioned it. 
 

  

Project: Bromsgrove District Council – Transport Planning Advice 

Our reference: 378295/085/A Draft Your reference: - 

Prepared by: Fred Jones Date: 18 March 2020 

Approved by: Tony Sheach Checked by: Phil Old/Oliver Hague 

Subject: Wyre Forest Local Plan Review – Transport Evidence 

 

1 Introduction 

Mott MacDonald (MM) have been commissioned by Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) to undertake a high-

level review of a series of documents in support of the Wyre Forest Local Plan Review, presented initially in 

the form of the “Wyre Forest Local Plan Review – Transport Evidence” dated June 2019.  

Since this initial set of documents, MM has now additionally reviewed the following documents which have 

been supplied in order to ascertain whether any of the previous comments have been addressed by 

additional work: 

 Worcestershire County Council (WCC) Transport Demand in the Hagley Area (TDHA) (January 

2020); 

 WFDC Infrastructure Delivery Plan (June 2019); 

 A450 Corridor Enhancement Report (June 2019); and 

 Blakedown Station Car Park Options (June 2019). 

Comments from MM’s review of these 5 documents in response to questions from BDC is set out below in 

Section 2.  

The WCC report “Transport Demand in the Hagley Area” was not available during the first review and 

therefore has now been considered with some preliminary findings from MM set out in Section 3. 

  

Technical Note 

Page 113

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

2 

2 BDC Questions and Observations 

BDC set out a series of observations in the form of questions to MM, initially on the Wyre Forest Local Plan 

Review – Transport Evidence” dated June 2019 and subsequently on the four documents noted in bullet 

point above. This section provides commentary based on both our initial response to BDC and as updated by 

the consideration of the four documents noted above.  

 

1. Is it possible to tell from the information provided if the WFTM is fit for purpose it is being used 

for ie, supporting the WFDC plan review? 

The information provided to date does not give any comfort on the models fitness for purpose to be used in 

support of the WFTM Local Plan Review and therefore, in the absence of the usual suite of documentation 

MM cannot consider the model suitable for this use.  

The ‘Wyre Forest Local Plan Review – Transport Evidence’ report does consider WebTAG (without stating 

what this is) and Present Year Validation but essentially concludes that, as this is an early assessment, the 

model does not need to be WebTAG compliant. MM would argue that whilst WebTAG compliance is not 

necessary at this stage in order that assessments are proportionate, some form of robust validation exercise 

should have been undertaken even at this early stage so as to give some degree of confidence that the 

WFTM is broadly representative of current conditions. In most circumstances if a reasonable validation can 

be demonstrated then for early and proportionate assessments a model can be considered ‘fit for purpose’ 

and therefore that the results can be relied upon. 

In order to determine if the model is fit for purpose, we recommend a review of the WFTM Model Validation 

Report (MVR) and any details on a present year validation if this was undertaken and any data collection 

report for all data used in the WFTM. With this additional information, it should be possible to make a 

reasonable assessment as to model suitability for the task, based on government guidance (with sources 

from ‘Transport evidence bases in plan making and decision making’, ‘Travel Plans, Transport Assessments 

and Statements’ and TAG). 

It is also worth noting that in Section 4.3 of the “Wyre Forest Local Plan Review – Transport Evidence” 

document, it is stated that the WFTM can be used for non-major schemes. Therefore, it should be 

acknowledged that no major schemes should be evaluated using the WFTM. TAG Unit M2 states “Schemes 

with a capital cost of less than £5 million can generally be considered as modest”, ie that schemes with a 

capital cost in excess of £5million can be considered as major. The purpose to which the WFTM is applied 

should be considered against this guidance. 

 In addition, it is difficult to determine from the documentation received at what stages a Variable Demand 

Model was run. It would be beneficial to know if a VDM was run for the 2036 ‘with’ and ‘without’ scenarios to 

assess if there are any shifts towards public transport, which would have the effect of reducing the number of 

highway trips and therefore the have any bearing on the case for a highway scheme. 

Finally, and on fitness for purpose, the “Transport Demand in the Hagley Area” (TDHA) report does not go 

into any detail about how the model was developed and, only figures based on the outputs from the model 

are provided. Therefore, the TDHA report does nothing to address concerns with the WFTM being fit for 

purpose. 

 

2. Whilst the model appears to demonstrate that there is a forecast increase in traffic in Hagley area 

by 2036 is it possible to understand what that increase will be relative to today’s levels, the same 

goes for flows into Bromsgrove? 

Page 114

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

3 

From the information provided there is no way to see what the quanta of increase would be over the current 

‘baseline’ level. In addition, the model has not been validated against current traffic conditions so any change 

in flow shown is unlikely to be accurate.  

The TDHA report also does not provide a comparison between the 2011 and 2036 models. It does provide 

2011 data, but this is observed data from the 2011 census and not from the WFTM and therefore has a 

completely different basis. There is therefore no credible baseline for comparative purposes. The THDA 

report does provide flow differences between the ‘with’ and ‘without’ Local Plan scenarios, but again this is 

just for the 2036 scenario and not for any other model years and therefore the magnitude of change over the 

baseline is unknown.  

Without knowing that the 2011 base model is ‘fit for purpose’ and can be demonstrated to represent current 

travel patterns and therefore demand at even an ‘in principle’ level, MM cannot have confidence in the 

forecasts provided by the future year models and none of the other reports reviewed offered any information 

on the increases forecast by the model between 2011 and 2036. 

The MVR and details on a present year validation would be beneficial in determining the order of change 

between the base and forecast years and if the routing in the model reflects actual travel patterns.  

Additionally, an uncertainty log and Model Forecasting Report should be provided to determine how the 2036 

model was created and so that significant assumptions and risks can be understood. 

3. It’s not possible to understand which sites have an impact on which locations  

Forecast Scenarios that clearly show the true impact of the local plan allocation sites should to be 

developed. If so, this would enable you to clearly see what the impacts are and why particular mitigation has 

been developed and whether it is suitable to mitigate the impacts of the Local Plan. 

If the local plan allocations have been input to WFTM correctly each site would have one or more zones 

within the model. The major developments could then be selected, and numeric/graphical outputs could be 

provided to show the quanta associated with each development and allow some sort of sense checking and 

an initial assessment of the impact of individual development sites on the transport network. As a minimum, 

this should be done for major sites however smaller sites adjacent to known hotspots where a smaller impact 

could have a significant effect should also be considered.  

Within the TDHA report, flow difference plots are provided between the ‘with’ and ‘without’ Local Plan 

scenarios. However according to the legend, these plots show the flow difference in HGVs and not all 

vehicles, this should be clarified.  

The report also provides figures on the amount of local plan traffic passing through Hagley. However, this 

does not indicate which developments are the cause of this increase in traffic. Additionally, the amount of 

local plan traffic that is forecast appears to be significantly different to the forecast increases in traffic flow. 

Therefore, further information is required to determine the level and individual causes of traffic re-routing and 

if the routes to Hagley are well represented within the WFTM. 

MM recommend that information is provided individually for the larger development sites, so the distribution 

of trips and subsequent routing is transparent and in order that the impacts of the traffic generated by 

development sites, on highway network performance, are visible. We recommend obtaining Select Zone 

Analysis for each of the development zones, with a list of which developments are within that zone and how 

many trips they are producing. This should be provided alongside flow difference plots showing all vehicles 

and not just HGVs. 

It should be noted that Figures 3 to 6 in the TDHA report show some significant increases in HGV levels, 

which we believe requires further investigation. To understand this better, the number of HGV trips being 

generated by each of the developments should be clearly identified.  

Page 115

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

4 

The ‘A450 Corridor Enhancement’ report provides some information about the Stone Hill North Development 

traffic, but it is minimal and is only for this one site. None of the other reports reviewed included information 

about development site impacts. 

4. Some of the routes which are modelled do not extend far enough to Bromsgrove or Hagley so we 

can only assume journey time increases to these locations  

Figure 1 shows the model area. The model area is split into two sectors: Worcestershire and Wyre Forest. It 

is not clear from the report how detailed the Worcestershire sector is within the model, but the link flow 

diagrams shown in Figure’s 5 and 6 do show traffic flows within Hagley and Bromsgrove on the major 

highway links. Based on BDCs concerns with the Wyre Forest Local Plan, it is recommended that the report 

should clearly show the impacts of the site allocations through Bromsgrove. 

The TDHA report does not provide any information about journey times in the WFTM, nor do the other 

reports reviewed and reported in this note. In order to determine journey time impacts, more information than 

is provided in any of the reports is required.  

The Transport Evidence document provides 2036 journey times for selected routes but does not provide a 

comparison with the ‘without local plan’ scenario, the 2011 model or observed journey times. Data for each 

of these scenarios should be provided. 

Journey time graphs are provided in the appendices, but these show ‘Obs Base’, ‘Mod Base’ and ‘SC6’. It is 

unclear what year these journey time routes are for and what ‘SC6’ represents.  

Clearer journey time analysis is required before any credible conclusions can be drawn, with time against 

distance graphs showing journey times for: 

 

 Observed 2011/revalidated year;  

 Base model/revalidated model;  

 2036 without local plan; and 

 2036 with local plan.  

 

5. There appears to be no mitigation modelled at any stage so we don’t know if individually or 

cumulatively the mitigation will have any chance of solving the issues identified or whether it 

creates more problems than it solves.  

From the information supplied MM concur with this view and the extent of any mitigation is not clear. 

The assessment should be undertaken with a number of assessment scenarios, which could include: 

 2011 Base Year (validated to current traffic conditions) 

 2036 Reference Case (committed development only) 

 2036 Do Minimum (with land allocations and immediate access onto the highway network) 

 2036 Do Something with mitigation (or even a number of cumulative assessments for the larger 

development sites) 

 

These scenarios would provide a much clearer picture of changes in traffic flows and congestion and would 

allow mitigation measures to be evidenced appropriately and provide some confidence that solutions are 

available.  

Page 116

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

5 

Further testing on deliverability of major improvements is needed in order to give confidence that significant 

improvement schemes identified as mitigation have a good chance of realisation.  

The TDHA report does not provide evidence of any mitigation being modelled within the WFTM. Whilst it 

does provide a ‘2036 Reference Case’ and ‘2036 Do Minimum’ as suggested above, there is still no ‘2036 

Do Something with mitigation’ option. 

The TDHA does state that “a bypass for Hagley will be considered only after investment has been made to 

exhaust alternative travel options. In the specific case of the A456, this means investment in rail 

infrastructure and services to enable this mode to accommodate a much greater mode share of generated 

trips”. This implies that measures to reduce highway demand before assessing mitigation are to be 

considered, however these measures are not identified.    

 

Our overall conclusion is that the “Wyre Forest Local Plan Review – Transport Evidence” report dated June 

2019 is short on evidence and contains several inconsistencies regarding the justification of the use of 

WebTAG principles. 

There are a number of issues identified in the report, including: 

1. Lack of validation of the 2011 base year to current traffic conditions. The report mentions Present 

Year Validation but does not undertake this assessment to determine the suitability of the WFTM. 

2. Only one forecast scenario year. Changes in traffic flows cannot be determined. 

3. Lack of analysis on the impacts on key routes within Bromsgrove. 

4. Does not clearly state how the mitigation measures have been developed and on what basis. 

5. There is data presented in the report that is either incomplete or does not provide a clear purpose 

(see Table 5) 

After a review of the TDHA report and other reports listed above, we further conclude that: 

6. There is still a lack of evidence of the validation of the 2011 base year to current traffic conditions 

and there is no further detail about the suitability of the WFTM to assess the Wyre Forest Local Plan. 

7. Whilst information on forecast year scenarios ‘with’ and’ without’ the Local Plan is provided, changes 

in traffic flows relative to the base year cannot be determined.  

8. There is no further analysis on the impacts on key routes within Bromsgrove.  

9. The analysis within the TDHA report for Hagley is sparse. 

10. No further clarity has been provided on how the proposed mitigation measures have been developed 

and there is no WFTM scenario in which they are included. 

In order to better assess the WFTM and therefore the implications of the modelled results, we recommend 

obtaining and reviewing the following information from or related to the WFTM: 

 Model Validation Report; 

 Details on a present year validation, if this was undertaken (and if not initiate this exercise); 

 Data Collection Report; 

 Evidence to show at which stages a VDM run was undertaken; 

 Uncertainty Log; 

 Model Forecasting Report; 

 Select Zone Analysis with details about which developments correspond to model zones and the 

number of trips generated for each development; 

 Flow difference plots between the ‘with’ and ‘without’ local plan scenarios that show total traffic flow; 

and 

 Journey time analysis. 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

6 

Following consideration of the above MM will be able to give a properly informed view on the suitability of the 

WFTM for the purpose of the assessments required and an opinion on any analysis prepared to support the 

Local Plan Review in the context of issues raised by BDC.  

Page 118

Agenda Item 5



Mott MacDonald 
  
 

  
 

7 

3 Review of the Transport Demand in the Hagley Area Report 

Section 5 of the ‘Transport Demand in the Hagley Area’ (TDHA) report focusses on the modelled impacts of 

the Wyre Forest Local Plan in Hagley. It sets out that work has been undertaken to analyse the forecast 

change in traffic flow in Hagley (in 2036) through ‘with’ and ‘without’ Local Plan scenarios in the WFTM. 

The report does not set out the differences between the ‘with’ and ‘without’ scenarios. Therefore, it is not 

possible to determine where growth has been assumed and the extent to which growth is constrained to 

NTEM. This applies to both the ‘Without Local Plan’ and ‘With Local Plan’ scenarios. The report should be 

clear on how development trips have been dealt with both generally and in relation to NTEM growth, i.e. is 

growth constrained to NTEM forecasts at all? 

A very small increase in trips through Hagley, 68 in the AM and 69 in the PM, is reported. In both peaks, the 

increase in inbound trips (inbound to Hagley) is higher than outbound, but it is not clear how ‘inbound’ has 

been defined, so we are not sure what the significance of this is. The flow increases shown in Figures 3 to 6 

show values for HGVs and therefore the flow differences for all vehicles cannot be sense checked or 

compared to the stated flow increases (i.e. the numbers in the text of the report). 

Even though there is a small forecast increase in traffic flow, there are 234 trips, from the development 

assumed in the local plan, in the AM and 191 in the PM that ‘passes through Hagley’ according to the report. 

It is not clear in the report how these 234 and 191 trips were calculated. These numbers are significantly 

different to the flow increases stated in Section 5.3. The report states that this is because of capacity 

constraints at junctions in Hagley, causing re-routing to alternative routes. Again, it is not clear what ‘capacity 

constraints at junctions in Hagley’ means.   

Due to the extent of the network provided and that only HGV values are illustrated in Figures 3 and 5, it is 

difficult to determine where the re-routing away from Hagley is forecast. Further information is required about 

the nature of the forecast re-routing. Additionally, there appears to be ‘model noise’ in Kidderminster, I.e. 

some parts of the model may not be converging. It is therefore recommended to obtain information about 

levels of model convergence for each year, time period and scenario. 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT  COUNCIL 

 
CABINET   8TH JULY 2020 
     
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT – CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Geoff Denaro , Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Enabling Services 

Relevant Head of Service Jayne Pickering, Executive Director Finance and 
Corporate Resources 

Non-Key Decision  

 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 This report aims to provide a briefing for members on the potential impact 

of the current Coronavirus Pandemic on the Council’s financial 
performance for the first quarter of 2020-21 and beyond.   
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.2  That the projected budgetary impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic 

outlined on this report and related actions both taken so far and 
planned for the future be noted.  

 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 
 Financial Implications    

 
  
3.1 In terms of the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the council has 

seen a significant loss of income from fees and charges and can also 
expect losses on business rates and council tax collection.  The overall 
impact is difficult to predict and will to a large extent depend on how quickly 
the economy returns to normal levels of activity.  
 

3.2 If the Government does not provide full funding to mitigate the financial 
losses, the Council’s reserves will be used at a faster rate than predicted in 
the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), the Funding Gap will increase 
and a more radical approach will be necessary to accelerate the Savings 
plans after the most significant period of the pandemic has passed and 
movement restrictions have been significantly relaxed.  
 

3.3 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
have undertaken a data collection exercise using the Delta system to 
gauge the degree of impact of the ongoing pandemic on public sector 
finances. A submission was made by this Council to meet the deadline of 
the 15th May; similar data collection exercises are continuing on a monthly 
basis with the next return due date being 19th June. It is hoped these data Page 121

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT  COUNCIL 

 
CABINET   8TH JULY 2020 
     
 

collection exercises will result in additional funding. The Local Government 
Association, Societies of District and County Council Treasurers and 
District Councils’ Network continue to lobby hard on the sector’s behalf. 

 
3.4 The estimated losses to the Council in 2020/21 based on a 4 months 

restriction of movement (lockdown) and the a slow recovery (3 months 
partial impact) is as follows: 
 

 

Service 

Estimated 
loss impact 
(April–July) 

Estimated  
loss impact 
(Aug-Oct) 

Total 
estimated  
2020/21 

shortfalls in 
income 

   
 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Off-street car parking 380 150 530 

Planning 30 20 50 

Building control 50 20 70 

Contractual Costs /  
Leisure losses of 
income 

200 400 600 

Bereavement/Cemetries 30 20 50 

Bulky Waste 50 20 70 

Development 
Management 

50 20 70 

Land Charges 20 10 30 

Licensing - General 40 20 60 

Licensing - Taxi 30 10 40 

Trade waste 150 50 200 

Markets 30 10 40 

Lifeline 40 10 50 

Other Income 20 10 30 

Council Tax ( BDC 
Share)  

150 40 190 

TOTAL 1,224 743 2,080 

 
3.5 It is important to stress that these estimates are based on the assumptions 

set out at 3.4. and have been calculated on a number of accounts across 
the Council taking into account trends of when income may be received. 
These were the agreed assumptions for data collected across the County Page 122

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT  COUNCIL 

 
CABINET   8TH JULY 2020 
     
 

and within the Government returns to enable a consistent review.  However, 
it is quite conceivable that actual Council losses could be considerably more 
than this and potentially double the amounts shown above.  The return for 
June will enable a more informed projection to be made on the income 
losses for the Council and this will be reported to Members in July. 
 

3.6 As can be seen in the table above the main areas of estimated losses are 
car parking income, Trade Waste and Council Tax losses. Officers are 
currently in negotiation with our Leisure providers to address the financial 
impact of the forced closure of the leisure centre and this will be reported to 
members once the position is clearer in terms of reopening. No impact of 
Business Rate loss has been factored into the position as it is hoped that 
the allocation of grants has provided much needed financial support to 
businesses during this period. 

 
3.7 In addition to the income losses there has been additional expenditure by 

the Council to enable services to be continued during the pandemic. 
Estimates are included in the Government return to ensure that this cost is 
offset by funding received. To date the additional spend of approximately 
£50k has been incurred on home working kit, homelessness support and 
agency staff to cover staff absence. 

 
3.8 As Members are aware funding has been received from Central 

Government to support the Council in addressing additional pressures 
resulting from the pandemic. From the initial funding of £1.6bn the Council 
received £30k which was seen to be inadequate in terms of the potential 
pressures the Council faced. This was increased to £993k in the second 
tranche of funding received resulting in a total allocation of just over £1m. It 
is anticipated that a further funding round will be allocated in early July 
which may aim to fund the current gap between funding received and the 
losses expected. 

 
3.9 Officers will continue to review the accounts and cash flow of the Council to 

ensure that the income losses are reported to ensure that any impact on 
future budget projections is mitigated. The review of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan will commence in late July and the impact of the pandemic 
will clearly be a significant pressure to address in this review. 

 
3.10 We have also received £461k from the government to provide hardship 

payments of up to £150 to all working age council tax support claimants.  
Based on current and expected caseloads 

 
3.11 Funding has also been allocated by the Government for opening of the High 

Streets safely. The Fund will provide councils with additional funding to 
support their business communities with measures that enable safe trading 
in public places. Bromsgrove has been allocated £88k to spend on specific 
costs that will enable safe high streets across the District. This is currently 
under review as to the most appropriate items to fund and to date signage 
and hand sanitisers have been purchased. 

 Page 123

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT  COUNCIL 

 
CABINET   8TH JULY 2020 
     
 

 
3.12 It is unlikely that the Government will provide full funding to mitigate the 

financial losses arising as a result of the pandemic. The Council’s focus has 
to remain at present on sustaining essential services and playing its part in 
responding to the pandemic through the Local Resilience Forum, but 
attention needs to be now given to Council recovery. This will include  
ensuring support to our communities, potentially with an increase in 
unemployment and providing support and advice to businesses to help them 
increase trade in the new environment. In addition, if additional funding from 
the Government does not cover all the lost income and extra costs faced by 
the District Council, and the gap between the two is significant, the Council’s 
own recovery will focus on where savings have to be made and  over what 
timespan in order to bring the position into line with the MTFP. It is stressed 
that it is impossible at this stage to know the scale of the issue to be 
addressed, as there is no certain knowledge about the totality of 
Government funding or about the Council’s loss of income and extra costs. 
It is therefore impossible to predict what steps might be required but it is 
right that the Council should be candid with local residents and others about 
what might have to happen. Over the next few months the following actions 
will be undertaken and reported to members were appropriate; 

 
a) development and presentation to members of the Councils 

recovery plan to demonstrate how the strategic purposes will 
be delivered over the next few months 

b) full review of the Council Plan to ensure that key elements 
can be delivered and identifying where there are areas that 
may be deferred to future years 

c) embedding digital and other methods of service delivery that 
have worked perfectly satisfactorily during the pandemic, 
particularly if these would reduce operational costs for the 
District Council; 

 
4 Legal Implications 

 
 
4.1 Under section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the chief 

financial officer in consultation with the monitoring officer has the power to 
issue a report if there is, or is likely to be an imbalanced budget. A full 
council meeting must then take place within 21 days to consider the notice. 
In the meantime, no new agreements involving spending can be entered 
into. The impact of this would effectively be to “freeze” the financial activity 
of the council in terms on any new/non-essential expenditure. There is no 
plan to do so at present and it is understood that MHCLG are considering 
further measures, in addition to the funding and other changes mentioned 
above, to minimise the risk of any council being the subject of a section 
114 notice. 

 
 
 
 Page 124

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT  COUNCIL 

 
CABINET   8TH JULY 2020 
     
 

5 Service / Operational Implications  
 

5.1 During the pandemic a number of services had been reduced to enable 
teams to focus on the delivery of the core services to the communities. 
These services are now being reintroduced and a recovery plan is under 
development by officers to present to members in August. 
 

6 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 

6.1 .Vulnerable members of the community have been supported by the 
Council and other partners during this period and this will continue to 
ensure all support is given where needed. 
 

7 RISK MANAGEMENT    
 

7.1 There is a risk that the lockdown is longer or that the recovery is slower 
than assumed resulting in a more severe financial impact for the Council.  
Projections will therefore be kept under review as circumstances develop.  
In the meantime we will plan for total losses of up to £5m before 
government support. 

 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Jayne Pickering – Exec Director Finance and Resources   
e-mail: j.pickering@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel:  01527-881400 
 
 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 6

mailto:j.pickering@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 3rd June 2020
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 2nd June 2020
	5 Wyre Forest Local Plan Statement of Common Ground
	02 Appendix A contents
	03 Appendix A 20200519 - SD10b Duty to Co-operate SOCG WCC and Bromsgrov...
	20200519 - Statement of Common Ground between WFDC WCC and Bromsgrove - FINAL - v2_no track changes.pdf (p.1-24)
	Appendices.pdf (p.25-91)
	1 - May 18.pdf (p.25-28)
	1 - Feb 19 Duty to Cooperate Meeting_06022019_FINAL.pdf (p.29-31)
	1 - March 19 Duty to Cooperate Meeting_13032019_FINAL.pdf (p.32-33)
	1 - July 19 DtC WFDC WCC BDC 30.7.19 final.pdf (p.34-35)
	1 - Oct 19 Duty to Co-operate Meeting - 1st October 2019.pdf (p.36-39)
	1 - Nov 19 DUTY TO CO-OPERATE MEETING - 14.11.19 AGREED FINAL.pdf (p.40-42)
	Jan 2020.pdf (p.43-44)
	1 - march 2020 20200604 - WFDC Duty to Cooperate Meeting 19th March 2020 Final.pdf (p.45-46)
	1 - April 202020200418 - WFDC DtC Meeting with WCC and BDC 2nd April 2020.pdf (p.47-48)
	2 -Bromsgove & Redditch DC.pdf (p.49-55)
	Bromsgove & Redditch DC.pdf
	Bromsgrove Response to Wyre Forest Preferred option August 2017.pdf
	Redditch Response to Wyre Forest Preferred option August 2017.pdf

	3 - Bromsgrove District Council (Mike Dunphy).pdf (p.56-63)
	4 - Bromsgrove statement.pdf (p.64-72)
	1. Pre-Submission-Consultation-Response-Form-Sept-2019 BDC.pdf (p.1-5)
	2. BDC substantive representation.pdf (p.6-9)

	5 - 20190917WFDC - Bromsgrove DC letter.pdf (p.73-74)
	5 - Wyre Forest Local Plan Review Letter dated 10.09.19.pdf (p.75-76)
	6 - Transport_Demand_in_the_Hagley_Area.pdf (p.77-91)


	04 Appendix B MM WDLP

	6 Financial Impact - Covid-19 Pandemic



